Fundamental Symmetries, Neutrons, and Neutrinos (FSNN): Whitepaper for the 2023 NSAC Long Range Plan

B. Acharya,¹ C. Adams,² A. A. Aleksandrova,³ K. Alfonso,⁴ P. An,⁵ S. Baeßler,^{6,1} A. B. Balantekin,⁷ P. S. Barbeau,^{5,8} F. Bellini,^{9,*} V. Bellini,⁹ R. S. Beminiwattha,¹⁰ J. C. Bernauer,^{11,12,13} T. Bhattacharya,^{14,15} M. Bishof,² A. E. Bolotnikov,¹⁶ P. A. Breur,¹⁷ M. Brodeur,¹⁸ J. P. Brodsky,¹⁹ L. J. Broussard,¹ T. Brunner,^{20,21} D. P. Burdette,² J. Caylor,²² M. Chiu,¹⁶ V. Cirigliano,²³ J. A. Clark,² S. M. Clayton,¹⁴ T. V. Daniels,²⁴ L. Darroch,²⁰ Z. Davoudi,^{25, 26, 27} A. de Gouvêa,²³ W. Dekens,²³ M. Demarteau,¹ D. DeMille,^{28,2} A. Deshpande,^{11,16,13} J. A. Detwiler,²⁹ G. W. Dodson,^{30,1} M. J. Dolinski,³¹ S. R. Elliott,¹⁴ J. Engel,³² J. Erler,³³ B. W. Filippone,^{3,1} N. Fomin,³⁴ J. A. Formaggio,³⁰ F. Q. L. Friesen,^{5,8} J. Fry,³⁵ B. K. Fujikawa,³⁶ G. Fuller,³⁷ K. Fuyuto,¹⁴ A. T. Gallant,¹⁹ G. Gallina,²¹ A. Garcia Ruiz,²⁹ R. F. Garcia Ruiz,³⁰ S. Gardner,³⁸ F. M. Gonzalez,¹ G. Gratta,³⁹ J. Gruszko,^{32,8} V. Gudkov,⁴⁰ V. E. Guiseppe,¹ T. D. Gutierrez,⁴¹ E. V. Hansen,⁴² C. A. Hardy,³⁹ W. C. Haxton,^{42,36} L. Hayen,^{43,8} S. Hedges,¹⁹ K. M. Heeger,⁴⁴ M. Heffner,¹⁹ J. Heise,⁴⁵ R. Henning,^{32,8} H. Hergert,^{46,47} D. W. Hertzog,²⁹ D. Hervas Aguilar,^{32,8} J. D. Holt,²¹ S. F. Hoogerheide,⁴⁸ E. W. Hoppe,⁴⁹ M. Horoi,⁵⁰ C. R. Howell,^{5,8} M. Huang,⁵¹ N. R. Hutzler,⁵² K. Imam,³⁴ T. M. Ito,¹⁴ A. Jamil,⁵³ R. V. Janssens,^{32,8} A. M. Jayich,⁵⁴ B. J. P. Jones,⁵⁵ P. Kammel,²⁹ K. F. Liu,^{38,36} V. Khachatryan,^{5,56} P. M. King,⁵⁷ J. R. Klein,⁵⁸ J. P. Kneller,⁴³ Yu. G. Kolomensky,^{42, 36} W. Korsch,³⁸ R. Krücken,³⁶ K. S. Kumar,⁵⁹ K. D. Launey,⁶⁰ D. Lawrence,⁶¹ K. G. Leach,^{62,46} B. Lehnert,³⁶ B. G. Lenardo,¹⁷ Z. Li,³⁷ H.-W. Lin,⁴⁷ B. Longfellow,¹⁹ S. Lopez-Caceres,⁶⁰ C. Lunardini,⁶³ R. MacLellan,³⁸ D. M. Markoff,^{64,8} R. H. Maruyama,⁴⁴ D. G. Mathews,¹ D. Melconian,⁶⁵ E. Mereghetti,¹⁴ P. Mohanmurthy,³⁰ D. C. Moore,⁴⁴ P. E. Mueller,¹ H. P. Mumm,⁴⁸ W. Nazarewicz,^{46,47} J. Newby,¹ A. N. Nicholson,^{32,36} E. Novitski,²⁹ J. C. Nzobadila Ondze,⁶⁶ T. O'Donnell,⁴ G. D. Orebi Gann,^{42, 36} J. L. Orrell,⁴⁹ J. L. Ouellet,³⁰ D. S. Parno,⁶⁷ K. D. Paschke,⁶⁸ S. Pastore,^{69,70} R. W. Pattie Jr,⁷¹ A. A. Petrov,⁴⁰ M. L. Pitt,⁴ B. Plaster,^{38,1} D. Pocanic,⁶ A. Pocar,⁵⁹ A. W. P. Poon,³⁶ D. C. Radford,¹ H. Rahangdale,³⁴ B. C. Rasco,¹ H. Rasiwala,²⁰ R. P. Redwine,³⁰ A. Ritz,⁷² L. Rogers,² G. Ron,⁷³ R. Saldanha,⁴⁹ S. Sangiorgio,¹⁹ G. H. Sargsyan,¹⁹ A. Saunders,¹ G. Savard,^{2,28} D. C. Schaper,¹⁴ K. Scholberg,⁵ N. D. Scielzo,¹⁹ C.-Y. Seng,^{46,29} A. Shindler,^{46,74} J. T. Singh,^{46,47} M. Singh,¹⁴ V. Singh,⁴² W. M. Snow,⁵⁶ A. K. Soma,³¹ P. A. Souder,²² D. H. Speller,⁶¹ J. Stachurska,³⁰ P. T. Surukuchi,⁴⁴ B. Tapia Oregui,⁶¹ O. Tomalak,¹⁴ J. A. Torres,⁴⁴ O. A. Tyuka,⁶⁶ B. A. VanDevender,^{49,29} L. Varriano,^{28,2} R. Vogt,^{19,75} A. Walker-Loud,³⁶ K. Wamba,^{76,17} S. L. Watkins,¹⁴ F. E. Wietfeldt,⁷⁷ W. D. Williams,⁷⁸ J. T. Wilson,⁶¹ L. Winslow,³⁰ X. L. Yan,⁷⁹ L. Yang,³⁷ A. R. Young,^{43,8} X. Zheng,⁶⁸ and Y. Zhou⁸⁰ ¹Oak Ridge National Laboratory, Oak Ridge, TN, USA ²Physics Division, Argonne National Laboratory, Lemont, IL, USA ³Kellogg Radiation Laboratory, California Institute of Technology, Pasadena, CA, USA ⁴Department of Physics, Virginia Tech, Blacksburg, VA, USA ⁵Department of Physics, Duke University, Durham, NC, USA ⁶University of Virginia, Charlottesville, Virginia, USA ⁷University of Wisconsin, Madison, Madison, WI USA ⁸Triangle Universities Nuclear Laboratory, Durham, NC, USA ⁹National Institute of Nuclear Physics - Sezione di Catania, Catania, Italy ¹⁰Louisiana Tech University, Ruston, LA, USA ¹¹Department of Physics and Astronomy, Stony Brook University, Stony Brook, NY, USA ¹²RIKEN BNL Research Center, Upton, NY, USA

¹³Center for Frontiers in Nuclear Science, Stony Brook University

/ Brookhaven National Laboratory, Stony Brook, NY, USA

¹⁴Los Alamos National Laboratory, Los Alamos, NM, USA

¹⁵Santa Fe Institute, Santa Fe, NM, USA

¹⁶Brookhaven National Laboratory, Upton, NY, USA

¹⁷SLAC National Accelerator Laboratory, Menlo Park, CA, USA

¹⁸Department of Physics & Astronomy, University of Notre Dame, Notre Dame, IN, USA

¹⁹Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory, Livermore, CA, USA

²⁰McGill University, Montreal, QC, Canada

²¹TRIUMF, Vancouver, BC, Canada

²²Syracuse University, Syracuse, NY USA

²³Institute for Nuclear Theory, University of Washington, Seattle, WA, USA

²⁴University of North Carolina Wilmington, Wilmington, NC, USA

²⁵Maryland Center for Fundamental Physics, College Park, MD, USA

²⁶NSF Institute for Robust Quantum Simulation, College Park, MD, USA

²⁷Department of Physics, University of Maryland, College Park, MD, USA

²⁸Department of Physics, University of Chicago, Chicago, IL, USA

²⁹Department of Physics, University of Washington, Seattle, WA, USA

³⁰Laboratory for Nuclear Science, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, MA, USA

³¹Drexel University, Philadelphia, PA, USA

³²University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, Chapel Hill, NC, USA

³³Johannes Gutenberg University, Mainz, Germany

³⁴University of Tennessee, Knoxville, Knoxville, TN, USA

³⁵Eastern Kentucky University, Richmond, KY, USA

³⁶Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, Berkeley, CA, USA

³⁷University of California, San Diego, San Diego, CA, USA

³⁸University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY, USA

³⁹Physics Department, Stanford University, Stanford, CA, USA

⁴⁰University of South Carolina, Columbia, SC, USA

⁴¹California Polytechnic State University, San Luis Obispo, San Luis Obispo, CA, USA

⁴²University of California, Berkeley, Berkeley, CA, USA

⁴³Department of Physics, NC State University, Raleigh, NC, USA

⁴⁴Yale University, New Haven, CT, USA

⁴⁵Sanford Underground Research Facility, Lead, SD, USA

⁴⁶Facility for Rare Isotope Beams, Michigan State University, East Lansing, MI, USA

⁴⁷Department of Physics & Astronomy, Michigan State University, East Lansing, MI, USA

⁴⁸National Institute of Standards and Technology, Gaithersburg, MD, USA

⁴⁹Pacific Northwest National Laboratory, Richland, WA, USA

⁵⁰Central Michigan University, Mount Pleasant, MI, USA

⁵¹Iowa State University, Ames, IA, USA

⁵²California Institute of Technology, Pasadena, CA, USA

⁵³Princeton University, Princeton, NJ, USA

⁵⁴University of California Santa Barbara, Santa Barbara, California, USA

⁵⁵University of Texas at Arlington, Arlington, TX, USA

⁵⁶Department of Physics, Indiana University, Bloomington, IN, USA

⁵⁷Ohio University, Athens, OH, UA

⁵⁸University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, PA USA

⁵⁹University of Masschusetts, Amherst, Amherst, MA, USA

⁶⁰Louisiana State University, Baton Rouge, LA, USA

⁶¹ Johns Hopkins University Applied Physics Laboratory, Laurel, MD, USA

⁶²Colorado School of Mines, Golden, CO, USA

⁶³Arizona State University, Tempe, AZ, USA

⁶⁴North Carolina Central University, Durham, NC, USA

⁶⁵Texas A&M University, College Station, TX, USA

⁶⁶University of the Western Cape, Bellville, Cape Town, South Africa

⁶⁷Department of Physics, Carnegie Mellon University, Pittsburgh, PA, USA

⁶⁸Department of Physics, University of Virginia, Charlottesville, VA, USA

⁶⁹Washington University in St Louis, St Louis, MO, USA

⁷⁰McDonnell Center for the Space Sciences, St Louis, MO, USA

⁷¹East Tennessee State University, Johnson City, TN, USA

⁷²University of Victoria, Victoria, BC, Canada

⁷³Hebrew University of Jerusalem, Jerusalem, Israel

⁷⁴*RWTH Aachen University, Aachen, Germany*

⁷⁵Department of Physics and Astronomy, University of California Davis, Davis, CA, USA

⁷⁶Skyline College, San Bruno, CA, USA

⁷⁷Tulane University, New Orleans, LA, USA

⁷⁸Smith College, Northampton, MA, USA

⁷⁹Institute of Modern Physics, Chinese Academy of Sciences, Lanzhou, China

⁸⁰University of Nevada, Las Vegas, Las Vegas, NV, USA

^{*}INFN Sezione di Roma, Sapienza University of Rome

Contents

I. Executive Summary	6
II. Introduction & scientific questions driving the field	8
III. Progress since the last Long Range Plan	9
A. Searches for neutrinoless double beta decay	9
B. Searches for electric dipole moments	11
C. Parity-violating electron scattering	12
D. Precision beta decay with nuclei	12
E. Precision beta decay with neutrons	12
F. Precision Measurements with muons and mesons	13
G. Hadronic Parity and Time-Reversal Violation	13
H. Searches for neutron oscillations	13
I. Neutrino mass and sterile neutrinos	14
J. Neutrino interactions	14
K. Neutrinos in astrophysics and cosmology	14
L. Other precision measurements	15
IV. Synopsis of current and future projects	15
V. Recommendation I: Lepton Number Violation and Neutrinoless Double Beta Decay	17
A. Significance of Research	18
B. Relationship with other probes of neutrino mass and lepton number violation	19
C. Introduction to $0\nu\beta\beta$ experiments	21
D. Ton-scale experimental program	21
E. Beyond ton-scale	23
F. Summary	23
VI. Recommendation II: Targeted Program	24
A. CP-violation: Electric Dipole Moments and other observables	25
1. Significance of Research	25
2. Neutron EDM experiments	26
3. Atomic and molecular EDM experiments	29
B. Precision tests of the Standard Model as probes of new physics	31
1. Parity Violating Electron Scattering	31
2. Precision beta decays	35
Nuclear Decays	37
Neutron Decays	40
3. Precision muon and meson experiments	43
4. Hadronic Parity and Time-Reversal Violation	46
5. Baryon Number Violation: neutron oscillations	48
C. Properties of neutrinos and hypothetical light particles	50
1. Absolute neutrino mass measurements and sterile neutrinos	50
2. Neutrino scattering	53
3. Solar Neutrino Measurements	56
4. Neutrinos in astrophysics and cosmology	57
5. Connections to dark matter	60

VII. Recommendation III: Theory	62
A. Progress and prospects	62
1. Neutrinoless double-beta decay and LNV	62
2. CP violation and EDMs	64
3. Precision measurements	66
B. Challenges	67
C. Recommended actions	67
VIII. Recommendation IV: DEI, outreach, workforce development	68
IX. Cross-cutting initiatives and needs for FSNN	70
A. Initiatives and applications	70
1. Computing	70
2. AI / ML	72
3. Quantum computing, quantum sensing and R&D for the future	73
4. Isotope Science and Accelerator Science	74
5. Nuclear Data	75
B. Facilities and Infrastructure	76
1. Overview	76
2. Underground Facilities in the U.S.	77
3. Parity-Violating Electron Scattering at Jefferson Laboratory	77
4. Fundamental Symmetries at FRIB	77
5. Neutron Sources for Fundamental Neutron Physics	78
6. Small Scale Experiments	78
C. Connections with High Energy Physics & Atomic and Molecular Physics	79
References	81

I. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Through the exploration of fundamental symmetries, and by using nuclei, neutrons, and neutrinos, nuclear physics addresses some of the most profound questions in science. Why does the universe contain so much more matter than antimatter? Are neutrinos their own antiparticles and where do their masses come from? What objects make up the dark matter that is responsible for most of the universe's mass? Does nature contain more forces than the four we know about? Our Standard Model of nature's particles and forces is incomplete because it does not answer these questions; new physics, from beyond the Standard Model (BSM) is needed. With that physics not appearing at the high energy frontier, it has become imperative to realize the potential of the burgeoning program of precision nuclear-physics measurements.

Since the last long-range plan, research in fundamental symmetries, neutrons, and neutrinos has put us on a path toward answering some of these supremely important questions. To ensure US leadership in the enterprise and to increase the diversity of its workforce the community has come to a consensus on its priorities and made the following recommendations:

1) We recommend the timely construction of ton-scale neutrinoless double beta decay experiments, each using a different isotope, and continued support of the broader research program.

- The US-led ton-scale program of discovery science could elucidate the nature of neutrinos, the origin of neutrino mass, and the mechanism for generating matter in the Early Universe. The 2021 portfolio review affirmed the readiness of CUPID, LEGEND, and nEXO experiments to proceed to construction. Full realization of this program will require international partnerships.
- A robust research program that includes ongoing efforts in theory and experiment as well as a diverse R&D program into multiple promising isotopes and technologies is required both to support the ton-scale program and to prepare for experiments with sensitivity beyond the inverted mass ordering.

2) We recommend a suite of targeted experiments aimed at challenging the Standard Model and uncovering new phenomena.

Nuclear physics provides unique opportunities to probe the fundamental structure of the electroweak interaction, search for electric dipole moments with unprecedented sensitivity, and investigate neutrino masses and interactions. Realizing these compelling scientific opportunities requires that we

- Expeditiously complete high-impact, larger-scale experimental campaigns: nEDM@SNS, the world's most ambitious search for the neutron electric dipole moment (EDM), and MOLLER@JLab, soon to provide the most precise low energy measurement of a purely leptonic weak neutral current interaction.
- Strengthen small and mid-scale university and laboratory programs, so that we fully profit from the BSM discovery potential of the precision frontier. Investigations of non-unitarity in the quark-mixing matrix through neutron and nuclear beta decay and of new sources of time reversal violation through EDMs are high priorities.
- Pursue emerging ideas, technologies and programs. Innovative but still not fully realized projects include next-generation measurements of the absolute neutrino mass (Project 8), lepton flavor universality tests in the weak interactions (PIONEER), a search for new neutral current interactions (SoLID), and BSM searches enabled by FRIB and quantum sensing.

The success of this program demands robust research support commensurate with the tremendous discovery potential. FSNN science is broad and diverse, with unique needs. The community strongly

leverages facilities managed by other programs, offering an exceptional return on investment. Without a central managing facility, however, deliberate efforts and measures must be taken to protect the level of research support and other resources, such as beamtime, devoted to mid- and small-scale FSNN projects. Erosion of research support delays science, which threatens US leadership, and reduces the ability of the FSNN community both to respond to new ideas and to develop the capabilities (such as brighter UCN sources and isotope harvesting at FRIB) needed to push the precision frontier beyond this Long Range Plan.

3) We recommend new investments aimed at enlarging and supporting the nuclear theory efforts in FSNN.

Theory plays a central role in assessing the discovery potential of FSNN experiments, extracting their implications for fundamental physics, and developing new experimental directions. FSNN experiments require multi-scale theoretical analyses at energies that range from very small nuclear level splittings to the electroweak scale and beyond. Such analyses require theoretical expertise in phenomenology, effective field theory, lattice QCD, and nuclear many-body physics. An enhanced theoretical research program is thus essential for taking full advantage of the exciting physics opportunities discussed in Recommendations 1) and 2).

The following investments will have the highest impact on the health of the entire FSNN community:

- Increased support of collaborative efforts such as Theory Hubs, Topical Collaborations, and Physics Frontier Centers, to tackle the multi-scale problems that pervade FSNN science.
- The creation of a faculty bridge program administered by a national consortium to develop a diverse community of FSNN theorists, with procedures that create and sustain an equitable, welcoming, and inclusive culture.

4) We recommend enhanced investment in the growth and development of a diverse workforce to maximize our opportunities for scientific discovery and increase its impact in society.

Recruiting and maintaining a diverse workforce requires treating all community members with respect and dignity. Diversity leads to stronger teams. The nuclear-physics research program plays an important role in developing a diverse STEM workforce for the critical needs of the nation. FSNN science is a particularly strong training ground that allows students to take part in many kinds of experimental and theoretical work. A more diverse base can help us communicate the importance and excitement of nuclear research to the broader public. Creating and maintaining an inclusive, equitable, productive working environment for all members of the community is a necessary part of this development.

- We recommend more resources and training programs to help the community recognize and reduce bias and establish enforceable conduct standards, supporting the recent initiatives by the APS and DNP. The enforcement of such standards is the combined responsibility of all universities and laboratories, theoretical and experimental collaborations, conference organizers, and individual investigators supported by the nuclear physics research program.
- We recommend the development and expansion of programs that enable participation in research by students from under-represented communities and cultures, and by faculty from minority-serving institutions at national labs and/or research universities.
- We recommend the development and expansion of programs to recruit and retain diverse junior faculty and staff at universities and national laboratories through bridge positions, fellowships, traineeships, and other incentives.

- We recommend that federal grants include resources to support living wages for graduate research assistants and postdocs.
- We recommend increased resources for collecting data, which will include the membership in our community and the career trajectories of our students and postdocs. With these data, we can monitor progress and learn to attract a more diverse group of young researchers.

In addition to making the recommendations above, the FSNN community has endorsed cross-cutting initiatives related to computational nuclear physics (see Section IX A 1), nuclear data (see Section IX A 5), and quantum computing/quantum sensing (see Section IX A 3).

The rest of this white paper provides context for our recommendations.

II. INTRODUCTION & SCIENTIFIC QUESTIONS DRIVING THE FIELD

The Standard Model (SM) of strong and electroweak interactions, while extremely successful, leaves a number of questions about the observed universe without answers. These include: Why are there more baryons than anti-baryons? What is the origin and nature of neutrino masses? What is dark matter (and dark energy)? The SM also does not address theory-driven questions related to the large gap between the weak and the Planck scales, the absence of Charge-Parity (CP) violation in the strong interactions, the origin of quark and lepton generations, and the possible unification of forces. The solutions to both observational and theoretical puzzles almost certainly require new particles and undiscovered interactions, a fact that motivates searches for new fundamental physics across many energy scales. As the 2015 NSAC Long Range Plan [1] recognizes, nuclear physics plays a prominent role in this enterprise through a "targeted program of fundamental symmetries and neutrino research that opens new doors to physics beyond the Standard Model (BSM)".

BSM physics has escaped detection so far because the new particles are either very heavy, or light and weakly coupled. There are two traditional routes in the search for new physics in laboratory experiments. One is to increase the energy of particle accelerators to directly produce new particles – working at what is known as the "energy frontier". The other route is to perform very precise and sensitive measurements in low-energy systems, working at the "precision/intensity frontier" to indirectly access the virtual exchange of heavy particles or directly excite light and weakly coupled particles. Searches at both frontiers are needed to discover and unravel the underlying new dynamics. An example: current high-energy colliders are the most powerful direct probe of new particles with masses near the TeV scale, possibly associated with the electroweak symmetry breaking mechanism, but precision frontier experiments can indirectly access even higher mass scales and provide the strongest probes of lepton (L) and baryon (B) number violation, CP violation, flavor violation in the quark and lepton sectors, neutrino properties, and dark sectors.

Nuclear-science research in fundamental symmetries, neutrons, and neutrinos (FSNN) plays a prominent role at the precision/intensity frontier. The research involves many probes that naturally fall into three classes, with each pushing the boundary of BSM sensitivity in a qualitatively different way and at a different mass scale:

• Searches for rare or SM-forbidden processes that break approximate or exact symmetries of the SM. These include neutrinoless double beta $(0\nu\beta\beta)$ decay; permanent electric dipole moments (EDMs) of the neutron, atoms, and molecules; $\mu \rightarrow e$ conversion in nuclei; neutron-antineutron oscillations; and searches of time-reversal (T) violation in neutron processes. Typically, these experiments probe very high mass scales (for example EDMs probe physics up to 10^3 TeV and $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay reaches 10^{12} TeV) and also have sensitivity to dark sectors. A discovery in any of these searches would be paradigm-shifting.

- High precision measurements of SM-allowed processes, for example β-decay (of mesons, the neutron, and nuclei), parity-violating electron scattering, and the muon lifetime and anomalous magnetic moment. Measurements of these processes probe both new physics at 10–100 TeV and light masses, and they become powerful discovery tools when sufficiently precise predictions of the SM are available.
- *Experiments that explore properties of known and hypothetical light weakly-coupled particles* such as active neutrinos (through absolute mass measurements and neutrino scattering), sterile neutrinos, axions, dark photons, etc. These experiments provide powerful ways to explore BSM dark sectors.

In summary, then, FSNN experiments and the theory required to interpret them are a crucial part of the drive to find new physics and explain the universe we inhabit. Our field has great discovery potential; in some cases, e.g. in the effort to understand the symmetry breaking needed for baryogenesis and in the search for ultralight and dark particles, FSSN experiments allow us to explore physics that is beyond the reach of colliders. And by combining experiments we can increase their power. Together, for example, experiments on the EDMs of the neutron and a variety of atoms and molecules tell us much more about CP violation than any of the experiments would alone. Figure 1 illustrates the enormous scientific questions that our field seeks to address and the experimental programs that connect them. The importance of the questions and the proven ability of our community to creatively address them make it vital that this enterprise be supported.

One of the key strengths of the FSNN program is its interdisciplinary nature and strong connections to other fields in science, in particular in high energy physics and atomic and molecular physics in both theory and experiment. The FSNN field will continue to rely on and contribute to advances in exascale computing as well as Artificial Intelligence and Machine Learning techniques, cutting edge quantum information science and sensing technologies, the production of isotopes at nuclear accelerators, and support for the availability of nuclear data. This field broadly makes excellent use of facilities built for other purposes, including underground facilities, accelerators for other fields in nuclear physics, and neutron sources. While this approach is very economical, support is needed to ensure FSSN research is a priority and can be successfully executed at these facilities. Finally, the field of FSNN is an exceptional training ground for the next generation of scientists due to the broad skillsets needed for exploratory research, and there are real opportunities to expand and diversify the pool and ensure equity in opportunities for every member of the community.

Next we summarize the achievements of the FSNN community in the previous LRP period, and overview the research opportunities that have been identified for the coming decade. Subsequent sections of this white paper will describe the various components of the FSNN research portfolio in more detail, highlighting the discovery potential of the experimental probes, their power in combination, and the theoretical input needed to maximize their impact. Discussion of cross-cutting initiatives and needs to support this research and its community follow.

III. PROGRESS SINCE THE LAST LONG RANGE PLAN

Since the last Long Range Plan, the Fundamental Symmetries community has improved our understanding of the Standard Model and laid the groundwork for discovery in the next decade. These accomplishments, which span the full extent of our diverse field, are summarized below.

A. Searches for neutrinoless double beta decay

The discovery of neutrinoless double beta decay would result in a fundamental shift in our understanding of neutrinos and of the creation of matter in the Universe. Experimental groups in many countries are



FIG. 1: The Nuclear Science "targeted program" of research in Fundamental Symmetries, Neutrons, and Neutrinos addresses four interconnected questions about fundamental interactions and the observed universe.

looking for the decay. Following the release of the 2015 LRP, a subcommittee report to NSAC [2] listed recommendations related to R&D for some of the key US experimental programs and indicated goals they should accomplish. These goals and others have now been achieved.

- Half life limits now exceed 10^{26} yr, ten times longer than those existing in 2015. The constraints on $m_{\beta\beta}$ now reach near the top of the inverted-ordering mass region and, for some isotopes and nuclear matrix element calculations, even extend a bit into that region.
- The CUORE [3], EXO-200 [4], GERDA [5], KamLAND-Zen [6], MAJORANA DEMONSTRATOR [7], and NEXT [8] projects have established experimental programs demonstrating that experiments at the ton scale are feasible.
- LEGEND-200 [9] is taking data at LNGS.
- CUPID-Mo [10, 11] and CUPID-0 [12] demonstrated energy resolution, radio-purity, and alpha rejection of scintillating bolometers.
- SNO+ has measured all of its detector-related backgrounds [13, 14] and shown in bench top studies that it can load up to 3% Te by mass in its scintillator with an acceptable light yield[15].
- SuperNEMO [16] has operated its demonstrator.
- Both the nEXO [17] and NEXT [18, 19] collaborations made substantial progress in isolating and detecting a lone Ba ion within a dense Xe environment.

The DBD Topical Theory Collaboration [20] led to concerted theoretical effort in $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay, involving theorists with expertise in phenomenology, effective field theory (EFT), lattice QCD, and nuclear structure. Much of the US-led progress in *ab-initio* matrix elements is linked to this Topical Collaboration:

- EFT methods for lepton number violation (LNV) beyond the Standard Model [21] and nuclear operators [22, 23], lattice QCD computations of pion-level matrix elements from TeV-scale LNV [24–27], and *ab initio* $0\nu\beta\beta$ nuclear-matrix-element calculations [28–32] all progressed tremendously.
- There was great progress in the theory and phenomenology of leptogenesis mechanisms and in the simultaneous analysis of cosmological data, collider data, and $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay [33–37].

B. Searches for electric dipole moments

A permanent electric dipole moment of a particle or system would imply the presence of a new source of CP violation, which could explain the matter-antimatter asymmetry in the Universe.

- The nEDM@SNS experiment, which will use unique cryogenic techniques to make the most precise search for the neutron's EDM, moved from R&D to construction of the apparatus, starting with the cryostats and the magnetic field system. Assembly and testing has now begun at ORNL's SNS [38].
- The LANL nEDM experiment achieved the polarized UCN density required for goal sensitivity [39, 40]. A magnetically shielded room was installed and the magnetic fields characterized. Precession chambers, electrodes, and UCN valves are ready and magnetometers are under development.
- Numerous atomic EDM experiments, using methods ranging from vapor cells to optical lattices, improved sensitivity to hadronic CP-violation via nuclear Schiff moments in atoms such as ¹⁹⁹Hg [41], ²²⁵Ra [42, 43], and ¹²⁹Xe [44, 45], and a new experiment reported a limit on the ¹⁷¹Yb EDM [46].
- Work with radioactive pear-shaped nuclei, which are extremely sensitive to hadronic CP violation, has made major progress [47]: the Ra EDM work mentioned above, the first spectroscopy on a radioactive molecule, RaF [48], and the first control of radium-containing molecular ions [49, 50].
- Limits on the electron EDM were improved by an order of magnitude by the ACME [51] and JILA [52, 53] experiments, which leverage internal molecular electric fields. The YbF [54] and NL-EDM eEDM [55] experiments made major improvements in laser-cooling [56] and trapping [57].
- Atomic electron-EDM experiments with Cs [58] and Fr [59] continued their push to leverage quantum science methods. Several new molecular approaches are under development, including laser-cooled polyatomics [60, 61] and matrix-isolated diatomics [62].
- Molecular eEDM methods are being expanded to search for hadronic CP violation, both through nuclear Schiff moments and magnetic quadrupole moments, in several active experiments, including CeNTREX [63], YbOH [60, 64], and YbF [65] and several others in initial stages of development.
- The phenomenology of EDMs was connected with physics at the energy frontier [66–69]. The ways in which the EDM program and LHC complement each other in exploring the origin of CP violation and the Universe's matter-antimatter asymmetry are now much better understood [70–72].
- Lattice QCD calculations of the nucleon EDM have appeared [73–81], paving the way for results with quantified uncertainties. At the nuclear level, we have new Schiff moment computations [82–84]. Progress in *ab initio* techniques promises *ab initio* calculations of Schiff moments soon [85].

C. Parity-violating electron scattering

Parity violation in electron-nucleon scattering is a powerful tool for both for uncovering BSM physics and for examining nuclei.

- Qweak at Jefferson Lab (JLab) carried out a high-precision elastic electron-proton scattering parityviolating (PV) asymmetry measurement [86], providing the most precise low-energy determination of the weak mixing angle and setting constraints on new semi-leptonic multi-TeV scale PV physics.
- Also at JLab, elastic electron-nucleus PV asymmetry measurements (PREX (Pb-208) [87] and CREX (Ca-48) [88]) provided the most accurate constraints on neutron skins, challenging models of neutron-rich matter and facilitating the next-generation experiments MOLLER and SoLID.

D. Precision beta decay with nuclei

Nuclear beta decay provides precision tests of the Standard Model and probes BSM physics.

- The 0⁺ → 0⁺ superallowed-beta-decay data set was refined. Updated theoretical corrections revealed some tension in CKM unitarity and tightened constraints on exotic scalar currents [89].
- There was progress in tests of CKM unitarity in mirror nuclei, in half-lives (³⁷K [90] and ²¹Na [91] at TAMUTRAP, ²⁵Al [92], ¹¹C [93], ¹³N [94], ¹⁵O [95], and ²⁹P [96] at Notre Dame); Q_{EC} -values (¹¹C [97], ²¹Na, and ²⁹P [98] at NSCL); and β -asymmetries (³⁷K [99] with TRINAT).
- Cyclotron Radiation Emission Spectroscopy (CRES), which promises dramatic improvements in sensitivity to exotic couplings through precision spectroscopy, was demonstrated in ⁶He and ¹⁹Ne [100].
- High-precision angular-correlation measurements to improve limits on exotic scalar and tensor currents were performed in ⁸Li [101, 102] and ⁸B at the BPT at Argonne's ATLAS facility [103], in ⁶He at Washington [104], and in ³⁷K at TRINAT [99].
- A new dispersion-theoretical calculation of the inner radiative corrections in neutron and nuclear beta decay reduced the associated theoretical uncertainty [105]. New nuclear-structure-dependent effects were discovered [106].

E. Precision beta decay with neutrons

The neutron is the simplest nucleus that undergoes beta decay and provides a particularly clean laboratory for BSM searches.

- The UCNτ collaboration performed the most precise measurement of the free neutron lifetime at LANL [107] and set new limits on neutron dark decay [108], leveraging improvements at what is now one of the world's brightest UCN sources [39].
- The UCNA collaboration published its final results for the neutron β -asymmetry, measured with UCN, thereby resolving tension among previous measurements [109]. It also extracted first and improved limits on the BSM Fierz term [110, 111] and set new limits on dark neutron decay [112].
- The aCORN experiment at NIST completed two runs and published a new measurement of the electron-antineutrino angular correlation (*a* coefficient) in free neutron β -decay with final uncertainty 1.7% [113, 114].

- The RDK II experiment completed a second run, following the first observation of radiative neutron decay with improved measurements of the branching ratio and a first precision measurement of the photon energy spectrum [115].
- A new beam-based measurement of the neutron lifetime, the beam lifetime (BL2) experiment at NIST, has begun data-taking, with a sensitivity sufficient to provide critical input with respect to the current discrepancy between beam and bottle measurements.
- The Nab experiment has begun commissioning at the Spallation Neutron Source [116].
- Lattice QCD calculations of the axial-to-vector coupling ratio reached percent-level precision [117, 118] and new radiative corrections to this ratio were identified [119]. At about the same time, the origin of the so-called quenching of the axial coupling in nuclei was found [120, 121].

F. Precision Measurements with muons and mesons

Precision muon and pion experiments are used to search for charged lepton flavor violation, test lepton flavor universality, and search for BSM corrections to muon properties.

• The Muon g-2 Experiment is completing its 6th year of data taking. First results [122–125] have confirmed the previous measurement from BNL [126]; when the two are combined they are in tension with the Standard Model at 4.2σ . The experiment will meet its final precision goal of 140 ppb.

G. Hadronic Parity and Time-Reversal Violation

Hadronic parity violation provides a unique probe of the weak interaction. Searches for time-reversal violation complement EDM experiments on CP violation.

- NPDGamma has reported the first observation of the parity violating correlation between the neutron spin and the γ ray emitted from proton capture [127]. The n-³He collaboration has performed precision measurements of the parity-odd asymmetry in neutron capture on ³He [128].
- The Neutron Spin Rotation experiment completed the most sensitive search for parity violating neutron spin rotation in ⁴He [129]. At its current level of sensitivity the null result is consistent with theory, but paves the way for a new measurement that will yield the first non-zero observation.
- The ZOMBIES experiment has performed a proof-of-principle demonstration of a measurement of anapole moments in Z~40 nuclei [130].
- A new theoretical paradigm, based on the $1/N_c$ expansion, has emerged for hadronic parity nonconservation and the interpretation of experiments in the field [131–133].

H. Searches for neutron oscillations

Neutron oscillations violate baryon number, and their discovery would provide a mechanism for matter, but not antimatter, to evolve in the early universe.

• A search for baryon number violation (BNV) via neutron oscillations into mirror neutrons has ruled out an exotic explanation for the neutron lifetime discrepancy [134]. This is the first step in a staged program toward a high sensitivity search for neutron-antineutron oscillations in NNBAR [135].

We still don't know the masses of the three flavors of neutrinos. Sterile neutrinos could be the source of anomalies in neutrino-oscillation experiments and provide a component of the universe's dark matter.

- The KATRIN experiment has produced the world-leading limit on the neutrino mass scale [136] and is continuing data-taking toward a mass sensitivity goal of ~0.2 eV, and has set competitive limits on eV-scale sterile neutrinos [137, 138].
- The Project 8 collaboration extracted a first limit on the neutrino-mass scale by using the promising CRES technique [139].
- The BeEST experiment currently sets the most stringent laboratory limits on sub-MeV sterile neutrinos leveraging superconducting tunnel junction sensors [140].
- A program of Penning-trap measurements has either ruled out or tentatively confirmed more than a dozen candidates for ultra-low-Q-value nuclear decays of possible interest for neutrino-mass measurements [141].
- HUNTER has been fully simulated and major components are being fabricated and assembled including vessel, extreme ultrahigh vacuum pump system, loading magneto-optical trap (MOT), orthotropic oven, x-ray detector, spectrometers, and MOT and electron spectrometer coils [142].

J. Neutrino interactions

Studies of neutrino scattering from nuclei provides important input relevant to studies of neutrino oscillations, astrophysical neutrinos, and BSM searches.

- The COHERENT experiment has measured coherent elastic neutrino-nucleus scattering (CEvNS) in CsI [143] and Ar [144], and established a program of ongoing CEvNS and inelastic measurements on multiple targets.
- There was significant improvement in the *ab-initio* calculation of neutrino-nucleus scattering on a variety of light nuclei [145].

K. Neutrinos in astrophysics and cosmology

While not strictly nuclear physics, studies of neutrinos produced in the sun or from the cosmos provide relevant input.

- Cosmological probes have constrained the sum of the neutrino mass with an uncertainty approaching the 0.1 eV scale (see, e.g., [146] for a review), and the number of effective neutrino species with an uncertainty of 10% or less [147–149].
- High-energy extragalactic neutrinos observed at IceCube have provided many new constraints on neutrino properties, most notably through a measurement of the neutrino-nucleon cross section at ~0.1-1 TeV of center-of-mass-frame energy [150, 151].

L. Other precision measurements

Beyond these targeted searches, the field of FSNN includes a broad program to look for BSM physics using low energy precision techniques.

• Neutron Pendellösung interferometry was used for the first time to make a new measurement of the neutron charge radius, measure lattice dynamics, and place new limits on fifth forces [152].

IV. SYNOPSIS OF CURRENT AND FUTURE PROJECTS

The next LRP period promises exciting opportunities to address some of the most compelling questions in physics, and additional support is needed to maximize the impact of the US FSNN program. In Table I we summarize the projects and initiatives advanced for consideration at the FSNN Town Meeting. More detail on the motivation and opportunities that form the basis of our recommendations follow in subsequent sections.

Each project corresponds to one of various stages as of January 1, 2023:

- Concept (a general idea exists and is being investigated with theory and simulations),
- R&D (specific aspects are being explored in hardware and/or design is underway),
- Planning (a design has been settled on and prepared for a proposal),
- Preliminary Design (project officially started, in design phase before construction),
- Construction (funding and building), and
- Data Taking (commissioning included).

For projects in the DOE Critical Decision (CD) process, the current phase and phase being prepared for are indicated. The Comment column can include sources of funding already received or where funding is being requested. The Request column indicates the funding category:

- Project funding for projects in a DOE CD phase,
- Operations for projects undergoing/completed construction and needing an operations budget (including new or anticipated normal operating budgets),
- Research funding for base DOE/NSF funds, or
- R&D to capture requests for bigger equipment/demonstrators/large scale R&D.

The location indicates where the experiment will ultimately be staged or multiple sites if not yet determined.

¹ Multiple possible locations including LNGS, SURF, CJPL, and SNOLAB

Project/Initiative	Status	CD Phase	Comment	Request	Location		
i roject initiative	(Ian 1, 2023)	current: prep	Comment	Request	Location		
TON SCALE NEUTDINOLESS DOUBLE BETA DECAY							
CUDID	Prelim design	$CD \oplus CD 1$	DOF	Project funding	LNGS		
LEGEND-1000	Prelim design	CD-0; CD-1	DOE + NSE	Project funding	SNOLAB		
LEGEND-1000	i tenni design	CD-0,	DOL + NSI	i toject funding	or I NGS		
"EVO	Dualing design	CD-1/3A	DOE	Ducient funding	OI LINUS		
IIEAU DEVOND TON SC/		CD-0; CD-1	DUE		SNULAD		
DETOND TON SCA		ESS DOUBLE D					
CUPID-11	R&D		DOE+NSF	R&D	Multiple ²		
EOS@SNS	Planning		DOE-NNSA-	R&D	SNS		
			DNN/DOE-SC				
NEXT	R&D,	- ; CD-0	DOE	R&D, Project	SURF/LSC/		
~ .	Construction		(demonstrator)	funding	SNOLAB		
Selena	R&D		DOE + NSF	R&D	LSC		
SNO+ 3%	Planning		DOE/NP	Research funding	SNOLAB		
Theia	R&D		NSF + DOE	R&D	SURF		
ELECTRIC DIPOLE	E MOMENTS						
nEDM at LANL	Construction		LDRD + NSF	Research funding	LANSCE		
			+ DOE				
nEDM@SNS	Construction		DOE + NSF	Research funding	SNS		
Ra EDM	R&D		DOE NP	Operations	ANL		
SLAM/Pear	R&D,		U.S-led	Research funding	FRIB		
Factory	Planning						
PARITY VIOLATIN	G ELECTRON SO	CATTERING					
MOLLER	Construction	CD-1;	DOE MIE +	Operations	JLab		
		CD-2/CD-3	NSF MidScale	1			
			+ CFI				
SoLID	Planning	- ; CD-0		Project funding	JLab		
SoLID PRECISION BETA	Planning DECAY WITH NU	- ; CD-0 JCLEI		Project funding	JLab		
SoLID PRECISION BETA BPT	Planning DECAY WITH NU Data Taking	- ; CD-0 JCLEI	DOE	Project funding Operations	JLab ANL		
SoLID PRECISION BETA BPT He6-CRES	Planning DECAY WITH NU Data Taking R&D	- ; CD-0 JCLEI	DOE DOE	Project funding Operations Operations	JLab ANL UW		
SoLID PRECISION BETA BPT He6-CRES SALER	Planning DECAY WITH NU Data Taking R&D Construction	- ; CD-0 JCLEI	DOE DOE DOE	Project funding Operations Operations Operations	JLab ANL UW FRIB		
SoLID PRECISION BETA BPT He6-CRES SALER St. Benedict	Planning DECAY WITH NU Data Taking R&D Construction Construction	- ; CD-0 JCLEI	DOE DOE DOE NSF	Project funding Operations Operations Operations Operations	JLab ANL UW FRIB UND		
SoLID PRECISION BETA BPT He6-CRES SALER St. Benedict TAMUTRAP/	Planning DECAY WITH NU Data Taking R&D Construction Construction Data Taking:	- ; CD-0 JCLEI	DOE DOE DOE NSF DOE	Project funding Operations Operations Operations Operations Operations	JLab ANL UW FRIB UND TAMU		
SoLID PRECISION BETA BPT He6-CRES SALER St. Benedict TAMUTRAP/ L.STAR	Planning DECAY WITH NU Data Taking R&D Construction Construction Data Taking; Construction	- ; CD-0 JCLEI	DOE DOE DOE NSF DOE	Project funding Operations Operations Operations Operations Operations	JLab ANL UW FRIB UND TAMU		
SoLID PRECISION BETA BPT He6-CRES SALER St. Benedict TAMUTRAP/ LSTAR PRECISION BETA	Planning DECAY WITH NU Data Taking R&D Construction Construction Data Taking; Construction	- ; CD-0 JCLEI	DOE DOE DOE NSF DOE	Project funding Operations Operations Operations Operations Operations	JLab ANL UW FRIB UND TAMU		
SoLID PRECISION BETA BPT He6-CRES SALER St. Benedict TAMUTRAP/ LSTAR PRECISION BETA BL 2	Planning DECAY WITH NU Data Taking R&D Construction Data Taking; Construction DECAY WITH NH Data Taking	- ; CD-0 JCLEI EUTRONS	DOE DOE DOE NSF DOE	Project funding Operations Operations Operations Operations	JLab ANL UW FRIB UND TAMU		
SoLID PRECISION BETA BPT He6-CRES SALER St. Benedict TAMUTRAP/ LSTAR PRECISION BETA BL2	Planning DECAY WITH NU Data Taking R&D Construction Data Taking; Construction DECAY WITH NE Data Taking	- ; CD-0 JCLEI EUTRONS	DOE DOE DOE NSF DOE DOE + DOC +	Project funding Operations Operations Operations Operations Operations	JLab ANL UW FRIB UND TAMU NIST		
SoLID PRECISION BETA BPT He6-CRES SALER St. Benedict TAMUTRAP/ LSTAR PRECISION BETA BL2 BL3	Planning DECAY WITH NU Data Taking R&D Construction Data Taking; Construction DECAY WITH NH Data Taking	- ; CD-0 JCLEI	DOE DOE DOE NSF DOE DOE + DOC + NSF NSF	Project funding Operations Operations Operations Operations Operations	JLab ANL UW FRIB UND TAMU NIST		
SoLID PRECISION BETA BPT He6-CRES SALER St. Benedict TAMUTRAP/ LSTAR PRECISION BETA BL2 BL3 Nab / pNab	Planning DECAY WITH NU Data Taking R&D Construction Data Taking; Construction DECAY WITH NH Data Taking Construction Data Taking	- ; CD-0 JCLEI EUTRONS	DOE DOE DOE NSF DOE DOE + DOC + NSF NSF DOE + NSE	Project funding Operations Operations Operations Operations Operations Operations Operations Operations Operations	JLab ANL UW FRIB UND TAMU NIST NIST SNS		
SoLID PRECISION BETA BPT He6-CRES SALER St. Benedict TAMUTRAP/ LSTAR PRECISION BETA BL2 BL3 Nab / pNab Space based	Planning DECAY WITH NU Data Taking R&D Construction Data Taking; Construction DECAY WITH NH Data Taking Construction Data Taking R & D	- ; CD-0 JCLEI EUTRONS	DOE DOE DOE NSF DOE DOE + DOC + NSF NSF DOE + NSF NASA + DOE	Project funding Operations Operations Operations Operations Operations Operations Operations Operations Operations P & D	JLab ANL UW FRIB UND TAMU NIST NIST SNS API		
SoLID PRECISION BETA BPT He6-CRES SALER St. Benedict TAMUTRAP/ LSTAR PRECISION BETA BL2 BL3 Nab / pNab Space-based lifatima	Planning DECAY WITH NU Data Taking R&D Construction Data Taking; Construction DECAY WITH NH Data Taking Construction Data Taking R&D	- ; CD-0 JCLEI EUTRONS	DOE DOE DOE NSF DOE DOE + DOC + NSF NSF DOE + NSF NASA + DOE	Project funding Operations Operations Operations Operations Operations Operations Operations R&D	JLab ANL UW FRIB UND TAMU NIST NIST SNS APL		
SoLID PRECISION BETA BPT He6-CRES SALER St. Benedict TAMUTRAP/ LSTAR PRECISION BETA BL2 BL3 Nab / pNab Space-based lifetime LICNA (Planning DECAY WITH NU Data Taking R&D Construction Data Taking; Construction DECAY WITH NE Data Taking Construction Data Taking R&D	- ; CD-0 JCLEI EUTRONS	DOE DOE DOE NSF DOE DOE + DOC + NSF NSF DOE + NSF NASA + DOE	Project funding Operations Operations Operations Operations Operations Operations Operations Operations R&D Racearch funding	JLab ANL UW FRIB UND TAMU NIST NIST SNS APL		
SoLID PRECISION BETA BPT He6-CRES SALER St. Benedict TAMUTRAP/ LSTAR PRECISION BETA BL2 BL3 Nab / pNab Space-based lifetime UCNA+ UCNProBo	Planning DECAY WITH NU Data Taking R&D Construction Data Taking; Construction DECAY WITH NE Data Taking Construction Data Taking R&D R&D	- ; CD-0 JCLEI EUTRONS	DOE DOE DOE NSF DOE DOE + DOC + NSF NSF DOE + NSF NASA + DOE LDRD	Project funding Operations Operations Operations Operations Operations Operations Operations Operations R&D Research funding Bacacrab funding	JLab ANL UW FRIB UND TAMU NIST NIST SNS APL LANSCE		
SoLID PRECISION BETA BPT He6-CRES SALER St. Benedict TAMUTRAP/ LSTAR PRECISION BETA BL2 BL3 Nab / pNab Space-based lifetime UCNA+ UCNProBe UCNT	Planning DECAY WITH NU Data Taking R&D Construction Data Taking; Construction DECAY WITH NE Data Taking Construction Data Taking R&D R&D R&D R&D R&D	- ; CD-0 JCLEI	DOE DOE DOE NSF DOE DOE + DOC + NSF NSF DOE + NSF NASA + DOE LDRD LDRD+DOE	Project funding Operations Operations Operations Operations Operations Operations Operations Operations R&D Research funding Research funding	JLab ANL UW FRIB UND TAMU NIST NIST NIST SNS APL LANSCE LANSCE		
SoLID PRECISION BETA BPT He6-CRES SALER St. Benedict TAMUTRAP/ LSTAR PRECISION BETA BL2 BL3 Nab / pNab Space-based lifetime UCNA+ UCNProBe UCN7+ PRECISION MEAS	Planning DECAY WITH NU Data Taking R&D Construction Data Taking; Construction DECAY WITH NH Data Taking Construction Data Taking R&D R&D R&D R&D	- ; CD-0 JCLEI EUTRONS	DOE DOE DOE NSF DOE DOE + DOC + NSF NSF DOE + NSF NASA + DOE LDRD LDRD LDRD+DOE LDRD	Project fundingOperationsOperationsOperationsOperationsOperationsOperationsOperationsResearch fundingResearch fundingResearch fundingResearch fundingResearch fundingResearch fundingResearch fundingResearch fundingResearch fundingResearch funding	JLab ANL UW FRIB UND TAMU NIST NIST SNS APL LANSCE LANSCE LANSCE		
SoLID PRECISION BETA BPT He6-CRES SALER St. Benedict TAMUTRAP/ LSTAR PRECISION BETA BL2 BL3 Nab / pNab Space-based lifetime UCNA+ UCNProBe UCN7+ PRECISION MEAS Muse 2 2	Planning DECAY WITH NU Data Taking R&D Construction Data Taking; Construction DECAY WITH NH Data Taking Construction Data Taking R&D R&D R&D R&D R&D R&D R&D R&D	- ; CD-0 JCLEI EUTRONS	DOE DOE DOE NSF DOE DOE + DOC + NSF NSF DOE + NSF NASA + DOE LDRD LDRD LDRD+DOE LDRD LDRD	Project funding Operations Operations Operations Operations Operations Operations Operations Operations R&D Research funding Research funding	JLab ANL UW FRIB UND TAMU NIST NIST SNS APL LANSCE LANSCE LANSCE		
SoLID PRECISION BETA BPT He6-CRES SALER St. Benedict TAMUTRAP/ LSTAR PRECISION BETA BL2 BL3 Nab / pNab Space-based lifetime UCNA+ UCNProBe UCN τ + PRECISION MEAS Muon g-2	Planning DECAY WITH NU Data Taking R&D Construction Data Taking; Construction DECAY WITH NH Data Taking Construction Data Taking R&D R&D R&D R&D R&D R&D R&D R&D R&D	- ; CD-0 JCLEI EUTRONS	DOE DOE DOE NSF DOE DOE + DOC + NSF NSF DOE + NSF NASA + DOE LDRD LDRD+DOE LDRD LDRD+DOE LDRD NBSONS DOE-HEP	Project fundingOperations Operations Operations OperationsOperations OperationsOperationsOperations Operations R&DResearch funding Research funding Research funding Research funding Research fundingResearch funding Research funding Research funding	JLab ANL UW FRIB UND TAMU NIST NIST SNS APL LANSCE LANSCE LANSCE LANSCE		
SoLID PRECISION BETA BPT He6-CRES SALER St. Benedict TAMUTRAP/ LSTAR PRECISION BETA BL2 BL3 Nab / pNab Space-based lifetime UCNA+ UCNProBe UCN7+ PRECISION MEAS Muon g-2 PIONEED	Planning DECAY WITH NU Data Taking R&D Construction Data Taking; Construction DECAY WITH NE Data Taking Construction Data Taking R&D R&D R&D R&D R&D R&D R&D R&D R&D	- ; CD-0 JCLEI EUTRONS	DOE DOE DOE NSF DOE DOE + DOC + NSF NSF DOE + NSF NASA + DOE LDRD LDRD+DOE LDRD LDRD+DOE LDRD MESONS DOE-HEP NP/NSF	Project funding Operations Research funding	JLab ANL UW FRIB UND TAMU NIST NIST SNS APL LANSCE LANSCE LANSCE LANSCE		
SoLID PRECISION BETA BPT He6-CRES SALER St. Benedict TAMUTRAP/ LSTAR PRECISION BETA BL2 BL3 Nab / pNab Space-based lifetime UCNA+ UCNProBe UCN7+ PRECISION MEAS Muon g-2 PIONEER	Planning DECAY WITH NU Data Taking R&D Construction Data Taking; Construction DECAY WITH NE Data Taking Construction Data Taking R&D R&D R&D R&D R&D R&D R&D R&D	- ; CD-0 JCLEI EUTRONS	DOE DOE DOE NSF DOE DOE + DOC + NSF NSF DOE + NSF NASA + DOE LDRD LDRD+DOE LDRD LDRD+DOE LDRD NESONS DOE-HEP NP/NSF DOE-HEP	Project fundingOperations Operations Operations Operations OperationsOperations OperationsOperations Operations R&DResearch funding Research funding Research funding Research funding Research funding R&DResearch funding Research funding Research funding Research fundingResearch funding Research funding Research fundingResearch funding Research fundingResearch funding Research fundingResearch funding Research fundingResearch funding R&D	JLab ANL UW FRIB UND TAMU NIST NIST SNS APL LANSCE LANSCE LANSCE LANSCE Fermilab		
SoLID PRECISION BETA BPT He6-CRES SALER St. Benedict TAMUTRAP/ LSTAR PRECISION BETA BL2 BL3 Nab / pNab Space-based lifetime UCNA+ UCNProBe UCNτ+ PRECISION MEAS Muon g-2 PIONEER	Planning DECAY WITH NU Data Taking R&D Construction Data Taking; Construction DECAY WITH NE Data Taking Construction Data Taking R&D R&D R&D R&D R&D R&D UREMENTS WIT Data Analysis R&D	- ; CD-0 JCLEI EUTRONS	DOE DOE DOE NSF DOE DOE + DOC + NSF NSF DOE + NSF NASA + DOE LDRD LDRD+DOE LDRD LDRD+DOE LDRD MESONS DOE-HEP NP/NSF DOE-HEP	Project fundingOperations Operations Operations OperationsOperations OperationsOperations Operations R&DResearch funding Research funding Research funding Research funding R&DResearch funding Research funding Research funding R&D	JLab ANL UW FRIB UND TAMU NIST NIST SNS APL LANSCE LANSCE LANSCE Fermilab PSI		
SoLID PRECISION BETA BPT He6-CRES SALER St. Benedict TAMUTRAP/ LSTAR PRECISION BETA BL2 BL3 Nab / pNab Space-based lifetime UCNA+ UCNProBe UCN7+ PRECISION MEAS Muon g-2 PIONEER HADRONIC PARIT	Planning DECAY WITH NU Data Taking R&D Construction Data Taking; Construction DECAY WITH NE Data Taking Construction Data Taking R&D R&D R&D R&D R&D R&D R&D R&D R&D R&D	- ; CD-0 JCLEI EUTRONS H MUONS AND	DOE DOE DOE NSF DOE DOE + DOC + NSF NSF DOE + NSF NASA + DOE LDRD LDRD+DOE LDRD LDRD+DOE LDRD MESONS DOE-HEP NP/NSF DOE-HEP NP/NSF	Project funding Operations Research funding	JLab ANL UW FRIB UND TAMU NIST NIST SNS APL LANSCE LANSCE LANSCE Fermilab PSI		
SoLID PRECISION BETA BPT He6-CRES SALER St. Benedict TAMUTRAP/ LSTAR PRECISION BETA BL2 BL3 Nab / pNab Space-based lifetime UCNA+ UCNProBe UCN7+ PRECISION MEAS Muon g-2 PIONEER HADRONIC PARIT NOPTREX	Planning DECAY WITH NU Data Taking R&D Construction Data Taking; Construction DECAY WITH NE Data Taking Construction Data Taking R&D R&D R&D R&D R&D R&D R&D R&D R&D R&D	- ; CD-0 JCLEI EUTRONS H MUONS AND VERSAL VIOLA	DOE DOE DOE NSF DOE DOE + DOC + NSF NSF DOE + NSF NASA + DOE LDRD LDRD+DOE LDRD LDRD+DOE LDRD MESONS DOE-HEP NP/NSF DOE-HEP NP/NSF	Project fundingOperations Operations Operations Operations OperationsOperations Operations Operations R&DResearch funding Research funding Research funding R&DResearch funding Research funding R&DResearch funding Research funding R&DResearch funding R&DResearch funding R&DResearch funding R&DResearch funding R&D	JLab ANL UW FRIB UND TAMU NIST NIST SNS APL LANSCE LANSCE LANSCE EANSCE Fermilab PSI JPARC		
SoLID PRECISION BETA BPT He6-CRES SALER St. Benedict TAMUTRAP/ LSTAR PRECISION BETA BL2 BL3 Nab / pNab Space-based lifetime UCNA+ UCNProBe UCNτ+ PRECISION MEAS Muon g-2 PIONEER HADRONIC PARIT NOPTREX	Planning DECAY WITH NU Data Taking R&D Construction Data Taking; Construction DECAY WITH NE Data Taking Construction Data Taking R&D R&D R&D R&D R&D R&D R&D R&D R&D R&D	- ; CD-0 JCLEI EUTRONS H MUONS AND	DOE DOE DOE DOE NSF DOE DOE + DOC + NSF NSF DOE + NSF NASA + DOE LDRD LDRD+DOE LDRD LDRD+DOE LDRD MESONS DOE-HEP NP/NSF DOE-HEP NP/NSF MSF + DOE + Japan + China	Project fundingOperations Operations Operations Operations OperationsOperations OperationsOperations Operations R&DResearch funding Research funding Research funding R&DResearch funding R&DR&DR&DR&DR&DR&DR&D	JLab ANL UW FRIB UND TAMU NIST NIST SNS APL LANSCE LANSCE LANSCE Fermilab PSI JPARC		

TREK	R&D	Japan + DOE + NSF	Research funding	JPARC
NEUTRON OSCILL	LATIONS			
HIBEAM	R&D	DOE + EU +	R&D	ESS
		Sweden		
NNBAR	Concept	DOE + EU +	R&D	ESS
	-	Sweden		
ORNL nn'	R&D	DOE + Sweden	Research funding	HFIR
NEUTRINO MASSI	ES AND STERILE NEUTRINOS			
KATRIN	Data Taking	DOE NP +	Operations	KIT
	-	Germany	-	
Project 8	R&D	DOE NP	R&D	UW
BeEST	Data Taking	DOE NP	Research funding	LLNL
SuperBeEST	R&D	DOE NP	R&D	TBD
HUNTER	Construction	NSF + BSF +	Operations	UCLA
		ISF + private		
NEUTRINO INTER	ACTIONS			
COHERENT	Data Taking,	HEP + NP +	Research funding	SNS
	Construction	NSF + Korea		
COHERENT@STS	Planning		Research funding	SNS
DARK SECTOR SE	ARCHES			
DarkLight	Construction	DOE + NSF +	Research funding	TRIUMF
		Canada		
THEORY				
Bridge programs	Planning	DOE		Universities
				& Labs
FACILITIES AND C	CAPABILITIES			
New UCN Source	Concept		R&D	TBD
CN interferometry	Data taking	DOE + DOC	Operations	NIST
UCN	R&D	DOE	Research funding	LANSCE
interferometry				

TABLE I: Current and planned projects and initiatives in the Fundamental Symmetries, Neutrons, and Neutrinos Community

V. RECOMMENDATION I: LEPTON NUMBER VIOLATION AND NEUTRINOLESS DOUBLE BETA DECAY

The discovery of neutrinoless double beta $(0\nu\beta\beta)$ decay would reshape our fundamental understanding of neutrinos and of matter in the Universe. The search for $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay tests whether there is a fundamental symmetry of Nature associated with lepton number, probes the quantum nature of neutrinos, and allows the measurement of their effective mass. It is the only practical way to demonstrate if neutrinos are their own antiparticles, that is, if neutrinos have a Majorana mass. The discovery of Majorana neutrinos would open the door to new physics beyond the discovery of neutrino oscillation, and would signify a paradigm shift in our understanding of the origins of mass and matter. The neutrino's non-zero mass impacts the evolution of the Universe from the beginning of time to the formation of large-scale structures in the present epoch, and Majorana neutrinos play a key role in scenarios that explain the matter-antimatter asymmetry in the Universe.

In the following sections we articulate the science case for a multi-experiment ton-scale experimental campaign, R&D for beyond ton-scale experiments, and associated theoretical research. We draw heavily from the community $0\nu\beta\beta$ whitepaper [153], where details and references can be found.

A. Significance of Research

In $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay two neutrons convert into two protons while emitting two electrons and no neutrinos, thus changing the number of leptons by two units. Since lepton number *L* (or more precisely, the difference between *L* and baryon number *B*) is conserved in the Standard Model, observation of $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay would be direct evidence of new physics and would demonstrate that the neutrino mass has a Majorana component [154], implying in turn that neutrinos are self-conjugate, i.e. their own antiparticles. Observation of $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay would also point to new mechanisms for generating neutrino masses, quite distinct from the one giving mass to other particles, and possibly originating at very high energy scales. Finally, the observation of a "matter-creating" process such as $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay would help us understand "leptogenesis," in which the universe's matter-antimatter asymmetry stems from the decay of heavy Majorana neutrinos [155].

 $0\nu\beta\beta$ -decay searches will test a wide variety of mechanisms for lepton number violation (LNV) with unprecedented precision. Such mechanisms range from the high-scale seesaw, in which neutrinos with masses of perhaps 10¹⁶ GeV that occur in Grand Unified Theories are important, all the way down to models in which eV-scale right-handed neutrinos play a role. They also include processes that affect electroweak physics, the scale of which is about 1 TeV. This range of physics makes the discovery potential of $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay nearly unique. At the same time, however, it makes it requires the use of more than one metric to quantify the discovery potential of individual experiments.

Here we use several quantites to characterize the reach of experiments. First, following standard practice, we focus on the class of models in which $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay is mediated by the exchange of the three known light neutrinos, which must be Majorana particles. The decay rate in such models is proportional to $|M_{0\nu}|^2 |m_{\beta\beta}|^2$, where $M_{0\nu}$ is a nuclear matrix element and $m_{\beta\beta} \equiv \sum_{i=1}^3 U_{ei}^2 m_i$ is the lepton-number violating parameter, expressed in terms of neutrino masses m_i and elements U_{ei} of the leptonic mixing matrix. We know a lot about neutrino masses and mixing parameters from neutrino oscillation data [156]. The combination $m_{\beta\beta}$ depends on just a few things that we don't know: CP-violating phases in the mixing matrix, the overall neutrino-mass scale, and whether the ordering of masses is "normal" (two very light neutrinos and a significantly heavier one) or "inverted" (one light neutrino and two heavier ones). Because we already have a lot of information, we can set concrete discovery targets. Provided the nuclear matrix element is not too different from current theoretical predictions (we address the issue below), ton-scale experiments should observe the decay if the ordering is inverted, which requires that $m_{\beta\beta} > 18.4 \pm 1.3$ meV, and a discovery will be possible if $m_{\text{lightest}} > 50$ meV, irrespective of the ordering. In addition, results of these experiments will have consequences for other measurements of neutrino mass, in the laboratory and in cosmology, and vice versa.

Although it is common to present the physics reach of $0\nu\beta\beta$ -decay searches in terms of $m_{\beta\beta}$ it is important to realize that this parameter is relevant in only one class of models for Majorana neutrino masses, those in which LNV originates at a very high mass scale Λ and leaves behind $m_{\beta\beta} \sim v_{\rm ew}^2 / \Lambda$ (where $v_{\rm ew} \sim$ 200 GeV is the Higgs expectation value) as its only low-energy footprint. In many models with Majorana neutrinos, however, other sources of LNV can cause $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay in a way that is not directly related to the exchange of light neutrinos. In left-right symmetric models, for example, the exchange of heavy neutrinos, heavy W bosons, and charged scalars, all with masses in the TeV range, contribute to the decay alongside the exchange of light Majorana neutrinos. No matter what the model, the low-energy effects of these heavy particles are captured by a set of $\Delta L = 2$ local operators of odd dimension (seven, nine, ...), which are suppressed by odd powers of the heavy mass scale Λ associated with LNV (1/ Λ^3 , 1/ Λ^5 , ...). This suppression is analogous to what happens in the familiar Fermi theory of weak interactions, in which the effect of W exchange is captured at low energy by the usual V - A current-current (dimension six) interaction, suppressed by $1/\Lambda_{ew}^2$ with $\Lambda_{ew} = 1/\sqrt{G_F}$. A systematic development of this effective-fieldtheory approach to LNV at low energies can be found in Ref. [21]. In Fig. 2 we present the physics reach of current and future $0\nu\beta\beta$ searches in terms of both $m_{\beta\beta}$ and the scale Λ associated with representative dimension-seven and dimension-nine operators [157]. The sensitivity extends to hundreds of TeV, energies that are inaccessible to any other probe.

The discussion above should make it clear that if $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay is observed, we will not know the underlying source of LNV right away. To determine it, we can study the isotope dependence of the decay rates, and phase space variables such as the single electron spectra and the relative angle of the two emitted electrons (see [158] and references therein). Unraveling the underlying mechanism will probably also require complementary probes of neutrino mass and LNV, as we discuss below. Finally, it is worth noting that ongoing and future experiments will produced high-statistics data sets of two-neutrino double beta decay events. Although these events are studied mostly as a background for neutrinoless searches, they can also be used to probe physics beyond the Standard Model, such as Majoron models, right handed currents, and sterile neutrinos [159, 160].

All the statements above depend to a degree on the values of nuclear matrix elements, which affect not only the rate of light-neutrino exchange but also that of other $0\nu\beta\beta$ processes. At present these matrix elements have an uncertainty that is impossible to estimate precisely but is probably a factor of two or three, enough to affect the planning and interpretation of experiments. Computing the matrix elements accurately involves the combination of new-physics models, QCD, EFT, and nuclear-structure theory. The last five years have seen tremendous progress, in part because of a recently concluded DOE topical theory collaboration (https://a51.lbl.gov/~0nubb/webhome/), but more is needed, see Section VII. With proper organization and support, better accuracy and controlled theoretical uncertainty are achievable. Ref. [161], written in response to a request by the NSF, presents the current situation in theory and the road ahead. We discuss some of the important issues in Section VII.

Even with this remaining uncertainty, however, ton-scale $0\nu\beta\beta$ experiments will have discovery potential that goes beyond the inverted mass ordering region in $m_{\beta\beta}$ to encompass a plethora of models across the landscape of particle physics. As a result, although other kinds of experiments can complement results from $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay searches, they will not replace them. Large scale $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay experiments and accompanying theoretical work will be crucial to progress in fundamental physics. We discuss the interplay with other kinds of experiments next.

B. Relationship with other probes of neutrino mass and lepton number violation

Other experimental efforts can complement $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay searches, making them even more important than they would otherwise be. The most relevant complementary probes are:

Experiments that Determine the Neutrino Mass Ordering — If the neutrino mass ordering is determined, the inverted mass ordering could either be singled out or become irrelevant. Even in the latter case, the normal ordering still allows high $m_{\beta\beta}$ values without violating constraints from oscillation experiments. Furthermore, lepton-number-violating processes other than light neutrino exchange are not constrained by oscillations at all. At present, even if the normal mass ordering is what nature has chosen, the probability of a discovery of $0v\beta\beta$ decay is significant [162].

Cosmological Probes of the Sum of Neutrino Masses — Future work in observational cosmology has the aim of performing a first measurement of $\Sigma \equiv \sum_{i=1}^{3} m_i$. An observation of $\Sigma < 100$ meV would effectively rule out the inverted mass ordering. Cosmology, however, does not have the ability to distinguish between Majorana and Dirac neutrinos. And a three-neutrino normal-ordering scenario with Σ near its minimum would not in any way constrain other lepton-number-violating processes that might contribute to $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay. Moreover, the standard cosmological model contains many parameters that must be deduced, and it must be tested in all ways possible. There are few complementary laboratory experiments that directly test results from cosmology. Laboratory measurements of neutrino properties can provide such tests.

Neutrino-Mass Measurements — If a neutrino mass is measured in β decay, the observation/nonobservation of $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay will become even more exciting. A null $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay result might indicate Dirac neutrinos or, if LNV is observed in collider experiments, interference among mechanisms or flavor symmetries that make $m_{\beta\beta}$ small.

Collider Experiments that Observe LNV — The LHC or other collider experiments might observe processes that change lepton number by two units in the next decade, at a level consistent with a heavy neutrino, left-right symmetry, or other BSM physics near the TeV scale. Such an observation would make $0\nu\beta\beta$ searches still more important, because we would have learned that lepton number is not conserved and neutrinos are Majorana particles, so the combination of light neutrino masses and the exchange of TeV-scale particles would definitely induce $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay. The combination of collider and $0\nu\beta\beta$ results would be essential for extracting the underlying LNV physics.

Sterile-Neutrino Experiments — If a sterile neutrino is found, it will fit well into the Majorana neutrino paradigm, making $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay even more interesting. The new neutrino might directly contribute to $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay and significantly alter the dependence of the rate on $m_{\beta\beta}$. (See for example Ref. [163].) The sensitivity, reach, and importance of the $0\nu\beta\beta$ experiments will remain, however.



FIG. 2: Discovery sensitivities of current- and next-generation $0\nu\beta\beta$ -decay experiments for various mechanisms of LNV, dominated by effective operators of dimension 5 corresponding to light-neutrino exchange (top panel), of dimension 7 (lower left panel) and of dimension 9 (lower right panel). Values of $m_{\beta\beta}$ larger than those in the bars in the top panel are tested at higher confidence level. Values of Λ smaller than those in the the bars in the lower panels are tested at higher confidence level. At dimension 7 and 9, we show the reach for a single operator, the one that is least suppressed by chiral and electroweak scales [21]. The sizes of the bars reflect the spread of the corresponding nuclear matrix elements (NMEs) and should be understood as a conservative range, not a standard deviation. The nuclear matrix elements are taken from [164–178]. Some matrix elements [166, 167] include an initial estimate of quenching mechanisms that require further work. The IO minimum is taken from [179]. Figure adapted from Ref. [157].

Several experimental approaches are now available to search with high sensitivity and low backgrounds for $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay in a variety of isotopes, covering the entire region of the inverted mass ordering and beyond. Ton-scale experiments using large bolometer arrays (CUPID), high-resolution Ge detectors (LEGEND), and a large-volume liquid-Xe TPC (nEXO), have been identified as the leading next-generation experiments with US leadership. All three experiments are based on international collaborations to leverage the strengths of international partnerships and the world's premier underground-laboratory facilities. Those experiments are expected to extend the sensitivity to $0\nu\beta\beta$ half lives by as much as two orders of magnitude. During 2021, CUPID, LEGEND, and nEXO were examined in a portfolio review organized by the DOE Office of Science, Nuclear Physics, to address the opportunity for discovery of $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay by covering the parameter space associated with the inverted-ordering mass scale. All three experiments were highly rated and judged to be worth pursuing. R&D challenges facing these three programs that were identified by a 2015 NSAC sub-committee have been resolved and CUPID, LEGEND, and nEXO are now preparing to proceed through the DOE Critical Decision process. We discuss these experiments in section V D below.

If $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay is discovered at the ton scale, advanced techniques will be required to probe the decay mechanism via topological information and event identification. If $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay is not discovered, detectors that can reach greater exposures with improved background rejection will be required to attain sensitivity beyond the inverted mass ordering. A robust R&D program is pursuing detector technologies with these capabilities, and we discuss the program briefly in VE

D. Ton-scale experimental program

Experiments to observe $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay are of paramount importance but are also challenging. If an experiment has evidence for the decay, a result that should earn a Nobel Prize, prompt confirmation will be necessary. An observation in more than one isotope, each with significantly different detector uncertainties, will provide that confirmation. The long time frame for construction and operation, however, demands that multiple experiments be pursued simultaneously.

For the above reason, the U.S. program must include complementary experiments studying different isotopes with different detection techniques. From the view of experimental uncertainties, the biggest challenge is separating the $0\nu\beta\beta$ signal from backgrounds, either inherent to the isotope or to the detector configuration. Furthermore, $0\nu\beta\beta$ searches in multiple isotopes will mitigate the impact of theoretical uncertainties in the nuclear matrix elements, that may result in over-estimating the decay rate for a particular isotope. Finally, beyond providing robust evidence for the decay, the observation in multiple isotopes will help unravel the underlying physics that mediates $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay.

In order to maximize the discovery potential for $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay at the ton-scale, the proposed US program consists of three experiments fielding very different experimental technologies, and using three different isotopes: CUPID, LEGEND-1000 and nEXO. These three experiments have undergone a DOE portfolio review, are ready to start construction, and are actively preparing for the Critical Decision process. The details of these experiments follow:

CUPID —The CUORE Upgrade with Particle Identification (CUPID) [180], an upgrade to the currentlyoperating Cryogenic Observatory of Rare Events (CUORE) experiment at Gran Sasso National Laboratory (LNGS)[181], is aimed at searching for $0\nu\beta\beta$ in ¹⁰⁰Mo in the region of the inverted mass ordering. The proposed CUPID experiment leverages the extensive existing cryogenic and technical infrastructure built for CUORE. The baseline design for CUPID features an array of 1596 scintillating crystal bolometers and 1710 light detectors, each instrumented with germanium neutron transmutation doped (NTD) sensors, and organized into 57 towers. This technology provides exquisite energy resolution, 5 keV FWHM, while the combination of the heat and scintillation light signal allows for efficient rejection of backgrounds due to alpha particles. The total isotopic mass of CUPID will be 240 kg of ¹⁰⁰Mo. With light and thermal readout, the estimated background index for CUPID is $< 10^{-4}$ c/kg/keV/year. The experiment will have discovery potential in the entire inverted hierarchy region of neutrino masses. The collaboration estimates the half-life limit sensitivity (90%) C.L. at 1.4×10^{27} yr and the half-life discovery sensitivity (3 σ) of 1.0×10^{27} yr. The re-use of the existing cryostat at LNGS allows for an economical deployment of CUPID and builds on the success of years of stable operation of the CUORE detector at base temperatures of 10 mK and a detailed understanding of the backgrounds from the cryostat. The light and thermal readout has been demonstrated by the CUPID-0[12], CUPID-Mo[11] and CROSS[182] pathfinder experiments. Bolometric detectors are scalable, allowing gradual, phased deployment. In the case of a discovery, in principle, crystals based on different isotopes could be installed. The isotopic flexibility and scalability also make bolometers an interesting technology for beyond the ton-scale efforts[183], see Sec. V E.

LEGEND — The Large Enriched Germanium Experiment for Neutrinoless $\beta\beta$ Decay (LEGEND-1000) experiment [9] utilizes the demonstrated low background and excellent energy performance of high-purity p-type, inverted coax, point contact (ICPC) Ge semiconductor detectors, enriched to more than 90% in ⁷⁶Ge. The background rejection power of ICPC detectors begins with their superb energy resolution, demonstrated to have a full-width at half-maximum (FWHM) resolution of 0.12% (0.05% σ) at $Q_{\beta\beta}$. Pulse shape analysis of the signal distinguishes bulk $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay energy depositions from surface events and backgrounds from γ rays with multiple interaction sites. The granular nature of the Ge detector array allows rejection of background events that span multiple detectors. Finally, background interactions external to the Ge detectors are identified by LAr scintillation light. About 330 ICPC detectors with an average mass of 3 kg each are distributed among four 250-kg modules to allow independent operation and phased commissioning. In each module, the detectors are arranged into 14 vertical strings, supported by ultra-clean materials, and read out using ultra-low-background ASIC-based electronics. The detector strings are immersed in radiopure liquid Ar sourced underground and reduced in the ⁴²Ar isotope. The underground-sourced LAr is contained within an electroformed copper reentrant tube. Each of the four modules is surrounded by LAr sourced from atmospheric Ar, contained within a vacuum-insulated cryostat. The LAr volumes are instrumented with an active veto system comprised of optical fibers read out by Si photomultipliers. The cryostat is enveloped by a water tank providing additional shielding. LEGEND reference designs are available for installation at either SNOLAB or LNGS. The LEGEND collaboration aims to increase the sensitivity for the ⁷⁶Ge $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay half-life in a first phase (LEGEND-200) to 10^{27} yr, and in a second phase (LEGEND-1000) to 10^{28} yr, both for setting a 90% C.L. half-life limit and for finding evidence for $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay, defined as a 50% chance for a signal at 3σ significance. In LEGEND-200 about 200 kg of Ge detectors are operated in an upgrade of existing GERDA experiment infrastructure at the LNGS laboratory in Italy. LEGEND-200 is currently taking data.

nEXO — nEXO [184] is based on a Time Projection Chamber (TPC) and the use of five tonnes of liquid xenon (LXe) enriched to 90% in ¹³⁶Xe. The baseline location of the experiment is SNOLAB. The choice of LXe is directly derived from the success of EXO-200 and is motivated by the ability of large homogeneous detectors to identify and measure background and signal simultaneously. This approach takes maximum advantage of the large linear dimensions compared to the mean free path of γ -radiation. The nEXO TPC consists of a single cylindrical volume of LXe that is instrumented to read out both ionization and scintillation signals in the LXe to obtain < 1% energy resolution [185] and strong background rejection. The ionization signal is readout using charge-collection tiles at the top of the TPC while scintillation light is collected with Silicon Photomultipliers (SiPMs) installed around the barrel of the cylinder. The TPC vessel is made from ultra-radiopure custom electroformed copper and is surrounded by a bath of HFE-7000 [186], which acts as a radiopure heat exchange fluid and an efficient γ -ray shield. The HFE-7000 cryostat is located in an instrumented water tank that serves as a muon veto and additional shielding layer. Information on particle interactions provided by the TPC includes several additional handles to reject backgrounds and improve confidence in a potential discovery. Energy reconstruction, event topology (single vs multi-site interactions), position reconstruction, and scintillation/ionization ratio, are combined using traditional and

deep learning tools to effectively discriminate between signal and backgrounds. The nEXO background projections are grounded in existing radioassay data for most component materials and detailed particle tracking and event reconstruction simulations [187]. This approach was validated by EXO-200, where the measured backgrounds closely matched the predictions [188]. Based on these detailed evaluations, nEXO is projected to reach a 90% CL sensitivity of 1.35×10^{28} yrs, covering the entire inverted ordering parameter space, along with a significant portion of the normal ordering parameter space, for nearly all values of the nuclear matrix elements. The use of a liquid target has several unique advantages in the case of a discovery. nEXO could directly verify the discovery with a "blank" measurement by swapping the enriched xenon with natural/depleted xenon. The enriched target could be reused with a different detector technology, *e.g.*, a discovery with nEXO may be followed by an investigation of energy and angular correlations in a gas TPC.

E. Beyond ton-scale

The field of neutrinoless double beta decay will continue beyond the current ton-scale experiments. If $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay is discovered and confirmed by several such experiments, the next step will be to identify the mechanism behind LNV. Sensitivity to different models of LNV physics can be achieved by precision measurements of the half-lives of multiple isotopes, and by measuring the event topology—distributions in energy and opening angle of the decay electrons.

If, on the other hand, $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay is not observed, so that the inverted mass ordering is essentially ruled out, increasing the scale and sensitivity of the experiments will be of paramount importance. Better experiments will require even larger isotopic masses, at or above the ton scale, and very low (ideally negligible) backgrounds. Reconstructing the topology of the events will be important. Several concepts for experiments with sensitivity below the inverted ordering mass scale and well into the normal ordering region exist, as discussed above. It is important to support R&D to identify the most promising technologies over the next decade, so that we can be ready to mount the ambitious next-next-generation experiments by the time the ton-scale experiments complete their operations.

Among possible beyond-ton-scale experiments are: NEXT, which will employ high pressure xenon gas time projection chambers with barium tagging; THEIA, a large-scale hybrid Cherenkov/scintillation detector that will be an outgrowth of the SNO+ and KamLAND-Zen experiments; Selena, which will employ high-resolution amorphous selenium / CMOS devices with electron imaging capabilities. With novel techniques and sensor technologies, rich reconstruction of event topologies, and advanced particle identification, these experiments will be sensitive to half-lives in excess of 10²⁸ years. The new detection capabilities of this future generation will also provide access to a wider physics program, including CPT and baryon-number-violation tests, precision low-energy solar neutrino measurements, and the possible study of supernova neutrinos.

F. Summary

Let us recap the main points of this section: If $0\nu\beta\beta$ is observed, the implications will be profound. We will immediately know that neutrinos are their own antiparticles and that lepton number is not conserved. This will be direct evidence of physics beyond the Standard Model and point to an explanation for the observed matter-antimatter asymmetry in the Universe. Measurement of the rate would probe the neutrino mass scale, provide a terrestrial constraint on the standard cosmological model, and yield insights into mass generation.

Such extraordinary results require correspondingly convincing evidence. No single experiment based on a particular isotope will be sufficient. What is required is independent observations in multiple isotopes, with different experimental methods and systematics. Since the 2015 LRP, the US nuclear physics community, in collaboration with our international partners, has developed a new generation of ton-scale experiments capable of probing the inverted-ordering parameter space and answering this challenge. Three international experiments, CUPID, LEGEND, and nEXO, based on three different isotopes and technologies, all with significant US involvement, were deemed ready to proceed following a comprehensive DOE Portfolio Review carried out during the summer of 2021. Accordingly, and consistent with the 2015 Long Range Plan recommendation II, the community is ready for *construction* of multiple ton-scale neutrinoless double beta decay experiments, each using a different isotope. Mounting three experiments with three different isotopes can only be accomplished with both significant US involvement and support, and extensive collaboration with and contributions from international partners. These efforts must include support for a healthy nuclear theory program, which is vital for planning and intrepretation.

The importance of discovering $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay makes it essential that the community continue to develop approaches for beyond-ton-scale experiments. Such R&D will be essential for learning about the source of LNV should the decay be observed at the ton scale, or for reaching beyond the inverted mass ordering, should that be needed.

VI. RECOMMENDATION II: TARGETED PROGRAM

The second FSNN Town Hall recommendation is to vigorously pursue a suite of experiments aimed at challenging the Standard Model and uncovering new phenomena. The absence of new physics at the high energy frontier and of a consensus on what underlies the Standard Model are compelling arguments for searching broadly for new phenomena, either by increasing the precision of experiments on processes that the Standard Model allows or by exploring qualitatively new phenomena that it forbids or suppresses greatly. Nuclear science has the breadth and depth required to play an important role in this program, which has overlap with the fields of high energy physics and atomic and molecular physics. Since the last Long Range Plan, the FSNN community has taken a leadership role in a number of complementary high-impact areas: precision tests of the fundamental structure of the electroweak interactions, the search for new sources of time-reversal and CP symmetry breaking in multiple systems with unprecedented sensitivity, the search for baryon number violation, the study of neutrino masses and interactions, and the search for hypothetical light new particles, such as sterile neutrinos. Projects and initiatives in each of these areas vary in investment scale and degree of readiness. The recommendation reflects the variety through three directives:

- Capitalize on investments already made to complete larger scale projects (nEDM@SNS and MOLLER@JLAB);
- (2) Support mid- and small-scale programs that can have high impact. Among these, the highest priority is neutron and nuclear β decay that can shed light on the possible non-unitarity in the quark-mixing matrix, and the search for new sources of time reversal violation through EDMs.
- (3) Pursue emerging ideas, technologies and programs, which themselves vary in how ready they are. The recommendation singles out next-generation measurements of the absolute neutrino mass (Project 8), lepton flavor universality tests in the weak interactions (PIONEER), a search for new neutral current interactions (SoLID), and BSM searches enabled by FRIB and quantum sensing.

As discussed in the supporting text of the recommendation, robust research support is crucial to the success of this targeted program. Erosion of research support on one hand delays the achievement of scientific goals, which jeopardizes US leadership, and on the other reduces the ability of the FSNN community to develop new ideas and capabilities, such as brighter UCN sources and isotope harvesting at FRIB, for future work at the precision frontier.

In the following subsections, a targeted program of experiments and associated theory is presented. The presentation is organized by science topic; each topic includes experiments of different scale and degrees

of readiness. Section VIA describes the searches for CP-violation through EDMs and other observables, section VIB describes precision tests of the Standard Model as probes of new physics, and section VIC describes experiments to determine properties of neutrinos and search for new light particles.

A. CP-violation: Electric Dipole Moments and other observables

1. Significance of Research

The Standard Model fails to predict the observed matter-antimatter asymmetry in the Universe. It does not break CP (simultaneous charge-conjugation and parity) symmetry strongly enough [189–191]. Permanent electric dipole moment (EDMs) of leptons, nucleons, atoms, and molecules violate both time-reveral and parity symmetries (and thus CP symmetry). Because CP violation in the Standard Model is so weak, EDMs are extremely sensitive probes of new fundamental interactions that may violate CP strongly enough to induce the Universe's matter-antimatter imbalance.

The current limits on the EDMs of the electron, neutron, and ¹⁹⁹Hg atom already probe BSM physics at energy scales that are much higher than those directly accessible to experiments at the energy frontier. For example, BSM contributions to the EDMs of elementary fermions scale (usually) as

$$d_f pprox rac{m_f}{(4\pi)^n \Lambda_{
m NP}^2} \sin arphi_{
m CP},$$

where Λ_{NP} and φ_{CP} are the energy scale and CP-violating phase(s) in the BSM model, m_f is the fermion mass and n is the number of loops at which the fermion EDMs are induced. The limit on the electron EDM $d_e < 4.1 \times 10^{-30} e \cdot \text{cm}$ (90% C.L.), [192], extracted from experiments with HfF and ThO molecules, thus corresponds to $\Lambda_{NP} \sim 50$ TeV if n = 1, or 5 TeV if n = 2.

As discussed below, the next generation of experiments will significantly improve existing bounds and explore EDMs in new systems. As new CP-violation can originate from very different high-energy mechanism (see Fig. 3), the existence of a broad program probing complementary systems is of paramount importance. Indeed, while an observation of an EDM in any of these systems will be revolutionary, an understanding of the implications either of an observation or of tighter EDM bounds requires us, as with $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay and other FSNN processes, to connect low-energy observables first to the dynamics of quarks and gluons through nuclear-structure calculations, and then to physics at the electroweak and new-physics scales, through lattice QCD and EFT. This chain of connections is necessary to understand the implications of EDM experiments by themselves, to quantify the complementarity EDM experiments probing different systems, and also to understand the extent to which those experiments are related to others at high energy and with properties of other particles.

A high-impact example that illustrates the importance of multiple probes is the study of BSM CPviolating interactions of the Higgs boson. The left panel of Fig. 4 illustrates the complementary sensitivities of present and future EDM experiments (red regions) and the High Luminosity LHC (blue region) to CPviolating couplings of the Higgs boson to photons and Z bosons. Achieving the full potential of EDM searches requires, for a given source of CP violation, first-principles theoretical calculations of the EDMs. Lattice QCD is currently beginning to provide such calculations for the nucleon; see the right panel of Fig. 4. Nuclear-structure theory is also important. Details on theoretical developments and prospects appear in Section VII.

Finally, new sources of T violation can appear in low-energy experiments that don't involve EDMs. Searches for T-odd correlations in the transmission of polarized neutrons through polarized targets are sensitive to the P-odd T-odd nucleon-nucleon potential [196], which is quite a different quantity from the neutron EDM. These tests complement searches for nuclear Schiff moments. Exploiting enhancements due to small energy splittings between states of opposite parity in heavy nuclei, the NOPTREX experiment, for



FIG. 3: Broad brush illustration of the connections and complementarity between different EDMs. A broad EDM experimental program, coupled to advances in theory, is needed to constrain all possible manifestations of new sources of CP violation in models of physics beyond the Standard Model. Figure taken from Ref. [193].

example, can probe T-odd pion-nucleon couplings at a level that makes it competitive with measurements of atomic EDMs [196]. Measurements or bounds on the T-odd *D* coefficient in neutron β decay can also compete with and in some cases do better than EDM experiments [197, 198]. A charge asymmetry in the decay $\eta \rightarrow \pi^+ \pi^- \pi^0$ is a C and CP violating observable [199] and is also independent of EDMs. Finally, a search for the T-odd transverse muon polarization in the K_{µ3} decay mode ($K^+ \rightarrow \mu^+ \pi^0 v_\mu$) has been proposed by the TREK collaboration [200].

In what follows, we summarize the status and opportunities in experimental searches of neutron and atomic / molecular EDMs that have the closest connection with nuclear science. Prospects for EDM searches in these and other systems, including the proton, are summarized in Ref. [85].

2. Neutron EDM experiments

The current limit on the neutron electric dipole moment (EDM), $|d_n| < 1.8 \times 10^{-26} e$ -cm (90% C.L.), was reported in 2020 [201] by an experiment at the Paul Scherrer Institut (PSI) in Switzerland, which employed an upgraded apparatus from that used for the previous best limit [202–204] of $|d_n| < 3.0 \times 10^{-26} e$ -cm (90% C.L.) obtained at the Institut Laue Langevin (ILL) in France. Notably, the 1 σ systematic error on the PSI result, $\pm 0.2 \times 10^{-26} e$ -cm, was reduced by a factor of five over that in the previous best limit. Thus, the PSI result demonstrated the feasibility, with improvements in the statistical reach of new experiments under development, for further improvements in the sensitivity to the level of at least $\sim 10^{-27} e$ -cm.

At present, there are at least eight neutron EDM experiments under development worldwide, for which a summary is given in Table II (based on [205]). There are two experiments underway in the U.S., both of which utilize ultracold neutrons (UCN) and are discussed below, the nEDM@SNS experiment [38],



FIG. 4: (*Left*): EDM and LHC sensitivity to CP-violating couplings of the Higgs to two photons ($f_{\gamma\gamma}$) and two Z bosons (f_{ZZ}). The allowed regions are obtained by marginalizing over the coupling to γZ . The light and dark red regions denotes 90% CL limits from current EDM experiments and assuming a factor of ten improvement on the electron and neutron EDM, respectively. The blue region denotes the projected bounds from the High Luminosity LHC from Ref. [70]. Because EDM experiments are only sensitive to two linear combinations of Higgs couplings [68], EDMs and LHC can constrain complementary regions in parameter space.) (*Right*): Lattice QCD calculation of the neutron EDM induced by the QCD theta term. The black shaded area indicates the prediction from chiral perturbation theory [194], with the error band obtained by varying the renormalization scale in the chiral logarithm between $\mu = 600$ MeV and $\mu = 1200$ MeV. QCD sum rule estimates [195] find an effect of the same magnitude and with comparable error. The blue, orange, green and red lines denote the results of Refs. [75–78], extrapolated to the physics pion masses. These calculations have very different systematic errors. Details on systematic effects for each single calculation can be found in the original papers.

which projects an ultimate sensitivity of $\sim 3 \times 10^{-28}$ *e*-cm through the deployment of several novel features for both the statistical reach and control of systematic errors, and the LANL nEDM experiment, which projects an intermediate-step sensitivity of 3×10^{-27} *e*-cm and has been designed to be complementary to the nEDM@SNS experiment. Of the six other worldwide experiments, two experiments in an R&D stage use beams of cold neutrons, and the remaining four experiments use UCN. The non-U.S. UCN experiments include: (1) the PNPI experiment at the ILL, (2) the n2EDM experiment at PSI, (3) the PanEDM experiment at the ILL, and (4) the TUCAN experiment at TRIUMF. All four of the non-U.S. UCN experiments, along with the LANL nEDM experiment, are based on Ramsey's method of separated oscillatory fields, with two measurement cells at room temperature. Their sensitivity reach is projected to be on the order of \sim several $\times 10^{-27}$ *e*-cm. The nEDM@SNS experiment, based on a novel concept first discussed by Golub and Lamoreaux [206], will use two different measurement techniques and projects a sensitivity on the order of $\sim 3 \times 10^{-28}$ *e*-cm.

The nEDM@SNS experiment [38] is the most ambitious of all worldwide neutron EDM experiments, with a projected sensitivity approximately two orders of magnitude below the current limit. The experiment will be mounted on the Fundamental Neutron Physics Beamline (FNPB) at the Spallation Neutron Source (SNS) at Oak Ridge National Laboratory (ORNL), where a nearly mono-energetic cold neutron beam will scatter from phonons in superfluid ⁴He, thus producing UCN in the measurement cells. This allows for a relatively high density of UCN to be produced, as there are no source-to-experiment transport losses of UCN. The superfluid ⁴He also acts as an electrical insulator permitting electric fields of at least 75 kV/cm, as demonstrated in small-scale and medium-scale prototype systems [207, 208]. Polarized ³He is then

Experiment:	Neutron	Measurement	Measurement	90% C.L. (10 ⁻²⁸ <i>e</i> -cm)	Year 90% C.L.
Facility	Source	Cell	Techniques	With 300 Live Days	Data Acquired
Crystal: JPARC	Cold Neutron Beam	Solid	Crystal Diffraction (High Internal \vec{E})	< 100	Development
Beam: ESS	Cold Neutron Beam	Vacuum	Pulsed Beam	< 50	~ 2030
PNPI: ILL	ILL Turbine (UCN)	Vacuum	Ramsey Technique,	Phase 1 < 100	Development
	PNPI/LHe (UCN)		$\vec{E} = 0$ Cell for Magnetometry	< 10	Development
n2EDM: PSI	Solid D ₂ (UCN)	Vacuum	Ramsey Technique, External Cs	< 15	~ 2026
			Magnetometers, Hg Co-Magnetometer		
PanEDM	Superfluid ⁴ He (UCN),	Vacuum	Ramsey Technique, Hg Co-	< 30	~ 2026
ILL/Munich	Solid D ₂ (UCN)		External ³ He and Cs Magnetometers		
TUCAN:	Superfluid ⁴ He (UCN)	Vacuum	Ramsey Technique, Hg Co-	< 20	~ 2027
TRIUMF			Magnetometer, External		
			Cs Magnetometers		
nEDM:	Solid D ₂ (UCN)	Vacuum	Ramsey Technique, Hg Co-	< 30	~ 2026
LANL			Magnetometer, Hg External		
			Magnetometer, OPM		
nEDM@SNS:	Superfluid ⁴ He (UCN)	⁴ He	Cryogenic High Voltage, ³ He	< 20	~ 2029
ORNL			Capture for ω , ³ He Co-Magnetometer	< 3	~ 2031
			with SQUIDs, Dressed Spins,		
			Superconducting Magnetic Shield		

TABLE II: Summary of neutron EDM experiments under development worldwide, with projected 90% C.L. sensitivity (in units of 10^{-28} *e*-cm, and the projected date by which data will be acquired to achieve the projected sensitivity.

used as both a co-magnetometer and monitor of the UCN precession frequency. Magnetometry is possible via SQUID sensors that measure the time-dependent magnetization of the polarized ³He, while the UCN frequency is monitored via the spin-dependent neutron-³He capture reaction that produces scintillation light from the reaction products. The polarized ³He not only allows for two independent techniques to be used for the EDM search (monitoring the frequency of the free precession and using critical spin dressing, see [38, 206]), it provides direct access to characterize one of the largest systematic effects in neutron-EDM experiments – the so-called geometric phase false EDM effect. A small change in the operating temperature of the experiment of ~ 0.1 K can greatly increase the size of this false EDM effect in ³He, which thus permits measurement of the magnitude of this systematic effect in a small fraction of the overall experiment running time.

At the time of the last Long Range Plan, the nEDM@SNS experiment was beginning an intense R&D program (i.e., the Critical Component Demonstration phase) whereby high-fidelity prototypes of the most challenging components were constructed. In some cases, these were the full-scale components to be used in the experiment, while others demonstrated the feasibility of the techniques. At present, the Magnetic Field System is being reassembled and commissioned at the SNS, while the Central Detector System and Polarized ³He System are under construction. Construction of the new building at the SNS to house the experiment and installation of cold neutron guides, followed by commissioning and data-taking, is planned on a \sim 5 year timescale.

The LANL nEDM experiment is based on the proven Ramsey's method of separated oscillatory fields at room temperature, featuring a double precession chamber geometry. The LANL nEDM experiment is complementary to the nEDM@SNS experiment. It takes advantage of the LANL UCN source, one of the strongest UCN sources in the world and the only UCN source currently operating in North America, providing the U.S. neutron EDM community with an opportunity to perform a neutron EDM experiment and obtain competitive physics results on a shorter time scale, while the development and construction of the nEDM@SNS experiment continues.

Soon after the last Long Range Plan, the LANL UCN source went through a major upgrade, increasing the output by a factor of four [209]. A dedicated UCN beamline was constructed for the LANL nEDM experiment. A sufficient UCN density for a neutron EDM experiment with a 1 σ sensitivity of 3×10^{-27} *e*-cm was demonstrated under conditions relevant for a neutron EDM experiment [209, 210]. A large, high-shielding factor magnetically shielded room (MSR) has been installed in the experimental area, and the B_0 coil system which provides the uniform and stable magnetic field has been fabricated and installed inside

the MSR and its performance has been characterized. Various magnetometers (including a ¹⁹⁹Hg based co-magnetometer and a ¹⁹⁹Hg based external magnetometer as well as optically pumped magnetometers) are being developed. The precession chambers, electrodes, and UCN valves are currently being assembled. The instruments are being commissioned for imminent data-taking with a Ramsey precession measurement in 2023.

As mentioned above, the LANL nEDM experiment is complementary to the nEDM@SNS experiment. Various capabilities and expertise developed for the LANL nEDM experiment are benefitting the nEDM@SNS experiment. These include mutual technical interests, such as the development of a system to scan for magnetic impurities and the development of methods to fabricate components with minimal magnetic contamination, and also the development of the next generation workforce. The training of early career scientists on the LANL nEDM experiment is important for realizing the workforce that will subsequently operate and analyze the data from the nEDM@SNS experiment.

3. Atomic and molecular EDM experiments

Experiments using methods from the atomic/molecular/optical (AMO) physics community are already making a major impact on the search for BSM CP violation. They are now poised to not only continue making this impact, but also to expand both its breadth and depth [211–213]. In the search for hadronic CPV, the nucleus in a given atom or molecule is sensitive to underlying CP-violating interactions complementary to those probed by the neutron EDM [214], which vary across different nuclei. One current experiment of this type, using ¹⁹⁹Hg atoms [215], has already reached a sensitivity to new BSM physics that is comparable to that of current neutron-EDM searches. Such experiments leverage AMO techniques that offer advanced quantum control for sensitivity and robustness. Despite their small scale, these experiments already probe BSM physics at scales as high as ~100 TeV, and are set to reach over 1 PeV in the next decade [211–213].

There are two main CP-violating AMO observables that arise from hadronic effects: nuclear Schiff moments and nuclear magnetic quadrupole moments. Both are broadly sensitive to hadronic CPV, including θ_{OCD} , quark EDMs and chromo-EDMs, CP-violating pion exchange effects, and more, thus offering a powerful complement to electron-EDM searches. These moments are discussed further in a number of comprehensive reviews [211-213, 216]. Schiff moments arise from the slight difference between the nuclear charge and mass distributions. The charged constituents of the nucleus must feel zero static force on average in equilibrium; however, not all of the constituents are charged, leading to the Schiff moment, a residual electrostatic moment. The Schiff moment interacts with electrons and mixes opposite parity electronic states, resulting in CPV energy shifts. Magnetic quadrupole moments arise from CP-violating magnetic effects in the nucleus, for example from a valence nucleon with an EDM from its spin. Like Schiff moments, magnetic quadrupole moments interact with electrons to create CP-violating atomic/molecular energy shifts. Hadronic CPV effects (θ_{OCD} , quark chromo-EDMs, ...) also enter AMO EDM observables though the semi-leptonic CP-odd interaction $C_{S}\bar{e}\gamma_{S}e\bar{N}N$ [217]. This has some advantages over the Schiff and magnetic quadrupole moments, in that it contributes in the same systems used to target d_{e} , and that calculations of C_{S} are under relatively good control. The downside is that the sensitivity is somewhat weaker, but already at an interesting level [217].

Similar to AMO searches for the electron EDM, both the Schiff moment and magnetic quadrupole moment have a roughly Z^{2-3} scaling of "field enhancement" – the electromagnetic environment inside atoms and molecules results in amplified shifts due to these CP-violating moments – and are enhanced by a factor of $\sim 10^{3-4}$ in molecules, which have a higher polarizability compared to atoms. However, a critical difference is that the Schiff and magnetic quadrupole moments are properties of a given nucleus, and can therefore have their own intrinsic amplifications as well; in other words, the Schiff or magnetic quadrupole moment of a particular nucleus can be large or small, and the sensitivity of an atom or molecule to this nuclear moment can be large or small as well.

Several AMO experiments to search for Schiff and magnetic quadrupole moments are in development; they promise to complement, or for some sources of hadronic CPV even exceed, the reach of the ¹⁹⁹Hg and nEDM [214] experiments in the next 3–5 years. The methods and species are wide-ranging, and include $^{223/225}$ Ra atoms [42], 129 Xe atoms [218, 219], 171 Yb atoms [46], $^{223/225}$ Rn atoms [220], 173 YbOH molecules [60, 221], and 205 TIF molecules [63]. The use of different species provides critical complementary information on many different underlying mechanisms for hadronic CPV, and the use of very different methods gives robustness against systematic errors. In the longer term (~10 years), emerging new approaches hold clear promise for many orders of magnitude in increased sensitivity [211].

Several major developments are enabling this new generation of experiments with rapidly improving sensitivity. One is the improvement in the ability to control the quantum states of molecules, with methods similar to those developed over the last few decades for atomic systems [212, 222, 223]. This in turn is making it possible to take advantage of the 3–4 order of magnitude amplification of CP-violating signals in molecules as compared to atoms. Molecules can also offer new controls over systematic errors that are unavailable in atoms. Molecular methods have led to orders of magnitude improved sensitivity to the electron EDM, and similar experiments are underway to use the same amplification to study hadronic CPV.

Another development is the recognition that CPV effects within the nuclear medium can be greatly enhanced—by factors of 10–1,000, and in some cases even more—in heavy nuclei with strong quadrupole and octupole deformation. Experiments with ¹⁷³YbOH and ¹⁷³YbF molecules, now underway, will take advantage of the amplified magnetic quadrupole moment (magnetic quadrupole moment) in quadrupoledeformed ¹⁷³Yb nuclei [60, 65, 221, 224]. Deformed nuclei with the greatest CPV amplification, typically between a factor of 100 to 1,000, via Schiff moments [225-229] are pear-shaped (octupole-deformed) radioactive actinides, including ²²⁵Ra, ²²³Fr, ²²⁹Pa, and others. An experiment searching for the Schiff moments of pear-shaped ^{223/225}Ra nuclei in laser-cooled and optically-trapped atoms is underway at Argonne National Laboratory, and has already produced limits on the Schiff moment of the ²²⁵Ra nucleus [42]. This experiment continues to be upgraded, and has recently demonstrated a number of improvements [230, 231] to reach higher fields and improve laser cooling; these are ready to be used in making an improved measurement. The Radium EDM experiment at Argonne National Laboratory is unique among hadronic CPV experiments with published upper limits in that it has the potential to improve upon its established limit by several orders of magnitude in the near future. Isotope harvesting at FRIB [232], will result in the increased availability of many of the necessary short-lived isotopes listed above, thereby increasing experimental sensitivity through improved count rates.

Very recently, it has become increasingly realistic to combine both molecular and nuclear amplification factors to potentially achieve many orders of magnitude of improved sensitivity to hadronic CPV effects [211]. One approach is to use quantum-controlled, radioactive molecules that contain heavy pearshaped nuclei [47, 49, 50, 60, 233], which combine both nuclear and molecular enhancements to achieve such large intrinsic sensitivity that the ability to trap and manipulate even a single molecule at a time would enable probes at the frontier of hadronic CPV [50]. The past few years have seen critical demonstrations, including spectroscopy in neutral radioactive molecules [234] and the trapping, cooling, and control of radioactive molecular ions [49]. In parallel, new capacities for isotope harvesting [232] and radiochemistry at the FRIB will provide offline access to certain "enhancer" isotopes such ²²⁵Ra and ²²⁹Pa, in practical quantities for ultrasensitive nuclear CPV searches in atoms and molecules.

Several next-generation CP-violation search schemes with molecules containing pear-shaped nuclei are currently being developed [47] and have new physics sensitivities projected to be several orders of magnitude beyond the state-of-the-art ¹⁹⁹Hg EDM experiment. Experiments that leverage the extreme sensitivity of these exotic nuclei are made possible by broad advances in working with Short-Lived Atoms and Molecules (SLAMs), which brings together AMO science, nuclear physics, physical chemistry, radiochemistry, radioactive beam facilities, and more [47]. A community to support and coordinate SLAM physics is being developed, with one of the major goals being the construction of a center for SLAM science at FRIB called the Pear Factory. FRIB will offer access to unstable nuclei with extremely large sensitivity enhancements, from very short-lived species (≤ 1 day) needing on-line capability, to longer-lived harvested isotopes for off-line experiments. The Pear Factory will combine and coordinate all of the necessary facilities and expertise; beam scientists and radiochemists will take the nuclei from "beam to bottle"; physical chemists, spectroscopists, and AMO scientists will take the nuclei from "bottle to experiment"; nuclear, AMO, and high-energy theorists will take the work from "experiment to impact."

This effort would facilitate the coordinated and collaborative development of a variety of techniques and precursory measurements and calculations needed to set the stage for ultrasensitive CPV searches in the hadronic sector, primarily using radioactive molecules. We estimate that this stage would be performed in the first half of the LRP period. The outcome would include clarity about which isotopes, molecules, and techniques are the most promising for an ultrasensitive next generation search for CPV in the hadronic sector. At the second stage, the community would coalesce around at least two different CPV search experiments with different techniques and, importantly, different systematics. We estimate that this stage would require 5 years to build the experiments and deliver first science results.

Because of the complexity of nuclei and the multiple sources of CP-violating effects, it is critical to support a broad platform of approaches both within AMO and outside of it, such as direct studies with nuclei, neutrons, and protons. A single result in a single system – even a non-zero one – cannot be used to robustly relate the measurement to the underlying fundamental physics sources.

B. Precision tests of the Standard Model as probes of new physics

1. Parity Violating Electron Scattering

An important strategy to determine the full extent of validity of the electroweak (EW) theory and search for new dynamics from MeV to multi-TeV scales involves indirect probes, where ultra-precise measurements of EW observables at energy scales well below the EW symmetry breaking are compared to accurate theoretical predictions. The MOLLER [235] and SoLID [236] experiments at Jefferson Lab (JLab), like other low energy measurements that have been proposed in the Fundamental Symmetries area, pursue such a strategy. The energy, luminosity, and stability of the electron beam at JLab are uniquely suited to carry out these parity-violating electron scattering (PVES) measurements. At energies much below the mass of the Z^0 boson (the "Z-pole"), $Q^2 \ll M_Z^2$, the Lagrangian of the EW neutral-current (NC) interaction relevant to electron-electron (Møller) scattering or electron deep inelastic scattering (DIS) off quarks inside the nucleon is given by [237]:

$$L_{NC} = \frac{G_F}{\sqrt{2}} \left[g_{AV}^{ee} \bar{e} \gamma_{\mu} \gamma^5 e \bar{e} \gamma^{\mu} e + g_{AV}^{eq} \bar{e} \gamma^{\mu} \gamma_5 e \bar{q} \gamma_{\mu} q + g_{VA}^{eq} \bar{e} \gamma^{\mu} e \bar{q} \gamma_{\mu} \gamma_5 q \right], \tag{1}$$

where $G_F = 1.166 \times 10^{-5} \text{ GeV}^{-2}$ is the Fermi constant, while the g_{AV}^{ee} , g_{AV}^{eq} , and g_{VA}^{eq} are effective fourfermion couplings, where q is the quark flavor. The AV and VA couplings are both parity-violating (PV) and thus can be isolated by measuring PV observables, such as the cross section asymmetry between a right-handed and left-handed electron beam scattering from the target:

$$A_{PV} = \frac{\sigma_R - \sigma_L}{\sigma_R + \sigma_L} \,. \tag{2}$$

The coupling g_{AV}^{ee} , (related to the weak charge of the electron $Q_W^e \equiv -2g_{AV}^{ee}$) has been measured by SLAC E158 [238] and will be measured with five times improved precision in the planned MOLLER experiment [235] at JLab. The g_{AV}^{eq} coupling is best determined by combining atomic parity violation [239–241] and elastic PVES experiments such as Qweak [242, 243] and the planned P2 experiment [244] at the MESA facility in Mainz. The g_{VA}^{eq} coupling requires spin-flip of quarks and can only be accessed in DIS, for which only two experiments exist to date from SLAC [245, 246] and JLab 6 GeV [247].



FIG. 5: Figure from [236]. *Left:* existing and planned experimental determinations of the weak mixing angle $\sin^2 \theta_W$. Data points for Tevatron and LHC are shifted horizontally for clarity. The solid line shows the scale dependence of the weak mixing angle defined in the \overline{MS} scheme [248]. *Right:* Projection on the mass scale limits (colored regions are excluded) of BSM *eq* contact interaction with VA vs. AV parity structure for the 2u - d quark flavor combination, obtained using all world data (red), with adding P2 (green), and with adding both P2 and SoLID deuteron PVDIS (light blue). See text for details and Eq. (3) for the definition of mass scales.

The weak mixing angle $\sin^2 \theta_W$ has played a central role in the development and validation of the EW theory, especially testing it at the quantum loop level. A key feature of the experiments discussed here is that the A_{PV} measurements will be carried out at $Q^2 \ll M_Z^2$. Since $\sin^2 \theta_W$ "runs" as a function of Q^2 due to EW radiative corrections, one can use $\sin^2 \theta_W$ as a bookkeeping parameter to compare the consistency of the full Q^2 range of weak NC measurements, as shown on the left of Fig. 5. The theory uncertainty in the low energy extrapolation is comparable to the width of the line in the figure [248, 249]. The upcoming MOLLER [235] and the SoLID [236] deuteron PVDIS measurement, along with the P2 experiment [244] at Mainz, will provide three new cornerstone measurements of the weak mixing angle $\sin^2 \theta_W$ at energy scales between atomic PV and high energy colliders. The projected improvements over the existing measurements are a factor of 5 for MOLLER and SoLID and a factor of 3 for P2. Moreover, the proposed MOLLER A_{PV} measurement would achieve a sensitivity of $\delta(\sin^2 \theta_W) = \pm 0.00028$, would be the first low Q^2 measurement to match the precision of the single best high energy measurement at the Z^0 resonance, and the most precise anticipated weak mixing angle measurement currently proposed over the next decade at low energy.

These next generation PVES experiments have precision goals that result in a very sensitive discovery reach for flavor- and CP- conserving scattering amplitudes in the next decade; see recent reviews that situate these measurements in broader contexts [250–252]. They are complementary to other precision low energy experiments and the energy frontier efforts at the Large Hadron Collider (LHC) [253]. If the LHC continues to agree with the Standard Model with high luminosity running at the full 14 TeV energy, then these measurements will be a significant component of a global strategy to discover signatures of a variety of physics that could escape LHC detection. Examples include hidden weak scale scenarios such as compressed supersymmetry [254], lepton number violating amplitudes such as those mediated by doubly charged scalars [255], and light MeV-scale dark matter mediators such as the "dark" Z [256, 257].

A fairly general and model-independent way of characterizing the BSM physics search potential of an experiment is to express BSM physics in terms of contact interactions that perturb the SM Lagrangian (1), *i.e.*, by replacements of the form [258],

$$\frac{G_F}{\sqrt{2}}g_{ij} \to \frac{G_F}{\sqrt{2}}g_{ij} + \eta_{ij}\frac{g^2}{(\Lambda_{ij})^2} , \qquad (3)$$

where ij = AV, VA, AA and can be for either *ee* or *eq* interaction, *g* is the coupling and Λ is the mass scale of BSM physics, *i.e.* the coupling and the mass or interaction scale of the hypothetical BSM particle being exchanged. If the new physics is strongly coupled, $g^2 = 4\pi$, then the 90% C.L. mass limits reached or to be reached by MOLLER, P2, and SoLID PVDIS on g_{VA}^{ee} , g_{AV}^{eq} and g_{VA}^{eq} are, respectively [236]:

$$\Lambda_{VA,\text{MOLLER}}^{ee} = g \sqrt{\frac{\sqrt{2}}{G_F 1.96\Delta g_{VA}^{ee}}} = 39 \text{ TeV}, \qquad (4)$$

$$\Lambda_{AV,P2}^{eq} = g \sqrt{\frac{\sqrt{2}\sqrt{5}}{G_F 1.96\Delta \left(2g_{AV}^{eu} + g_{AV}^{ed}\right)}} = 49 \text{ TeV},$$
(5)

$$\Lambda_{VA,\text{SoLID+world}}^{eq} = g \sqrt{\frac{\sqrt{2}\sqrt{5}}{G_F 1.96\Delta \left(2g_{VA}^{eu} - g_{VA}^{ed}\right)}} = 16 \text{ TeV};$$
(6)

where the $\sqrt{5}$ for P2 and PVDIS cases are to represent the "best case scenario" where BSM physics affects maximally the quark flavor combination being measured. The expected uncertainty $\Delta \left(2g_{VA}^{eu} - g_{VA}^{ed}\right)$ is obtained by combining SoLID PVDIS with existing world data. If one instead looked for the maximal mass limit expected from PVDIS for that observable's combination of g_{AV}^{eq} and g_{VA}^{eq} then it would be 22 TeV from SoLID alone [258]. Furthermore, the mass limit on $\left(2g_{VA}^{eu} - g_{VA}^{ed}\right)$ vs. $\left(2g_{AV}^{eu} - g_{AV}^{ed}\right)$ is shown in the right panel of Fig. 5, illustrating the different exploratory potential on the parity-violating electron-quark BSM contact interactions.

Another model-independent way of expressing the new physics potential of PVES is provided in the framework of Standard Model Effective Field Theory (SMEFT), which showed that low energy data are complementary to those from high energy facilities. More specifically, BSM parameter constraints obtained from the LHC Drell-Yan cross section data were found to have a flat direction [259], and adding P2 and PVDIS projections helps remove such ambiguity in the determination of BSM parameters.

For the specific case of MOLLER, the remarkable feature of its sensitivity to four-lepton flavorconserving contact interactions has been emphasized [260]. Not only does the contact interaction scale reach exceed the scales probed at LEP-200, the highest energy electron-positron collider to collect data, but there is unique sensitivity to a specific linear combination of left- and right-handed four electron operators to which all other collider measurements happen to be insensitive. Indeed, in the current global analysis, the E158 result [261] is used to break the degeneracy. The MOLLER measurement will allow the extension of the current limits for these operators from $\Lambda/g \sim 2$ TeV to more than 7 TeV.

Improving this sensitivity over the entire multi-dimensional space of new operators is particularly important if higher sensitivity searches at the LHC yield no new discoveries. For example, the MOLLER measurement is one of the rare low Q^2 observables with sensitivity to lepton number violating amplitudes mediated by doubly-charged scalars, which naturally arise in extended Higgs sector models containing complex triplet representations of SU(2). In the context of a left-right symmetric model, the proposed MOLLER measurement would lead to the most stringent probe of the left-handed charged scalar and its coupling to electrons, with a reach of 5.3 TeV, significantly above the LEP 2 constraint of about 3 TeV. Moreover, such sensitivity is complementary to other sensitive probes such as lepton-flavor violation and neutrinoless double-beta decay searches [255, 262, 263].

If an anomaly is observed at the LHC, then the next generation PVES measurements will have the sensitivity to be part of a few select measurements that will provide important constraints to choose among possible BSM scenarios to explain the anomaly. Examples of such BSM scenarios that have been explicitly considered for these measurements include: new particles predicted by the Minimal Supersymmetric Standard Model observed through radiative loop effects (R-parity conserving) or tree-level interactions (R-parity violating) [254, 264] and TeV-scale Z's [265] which arise in many BSM theories.

Both the MOLLER and SoLID PVDIS experiments are sensitive to the interesting possibility of a light MeV-scale dark matter mediator known as the "dark" Z [256, 257]. It is denoted as Z_d with mass m_{Z_d} , and

it stems from a spontaneously broken $U(1)_d$ gauge symmetry associated with a secluded "dark" particle sector. The Z_d boson can couple to SM particles through a combination of kinetic and mass mixing with the photon and the Z^0 -boson, with couplings ε and $\varepsilon_Z = \frac{m_{Z_d}}{m_Z} \delta$ respectively. In the presence of mass mixing $(\delta \neq 0)$, a new source of "dark" parity violation arises [256] such that it has negligible effect on other precision EW observables at high energy, but is quite discernible at low Q^2 through a shift in the weak mixing angle [257].

For the SoLID PVDIS experiment, the g_{VA}^{eq} 's in the SM are small, so they could be particularly sensitive to BSM physics. The g_{VA}^{eq} 's are sensitive to models that involve leptophobic Z's [266, 267]. These are additional neutral gauge bosons (Z') with negligible couplings to leptons, and thus would cause only sizable modification to the quark axial coupling (thus g_{VA}^{eq}) while leaving the g_{AV}^{eq} unaffected.

Looking forward, in addition to MESA and a possible energy upgrade of JLab, a series of upgrades for the LHC are being discussed [268–271] that will venture into the unexplored energy range much beyond the Z-pole [272]. The EIC, coming online within the next 1-2 decades, likely will have decent sensitivity to EW parameters in between JLab and high-energy colliders as well [273]. Among all existing and planned facilities, JLab is one of the few that can provide direct access and high precision measurements of the SM effective couplings owing to both its high luminosity fixed-target settings and the relatively low beam energies, and thus holds a unique place in the test of the SM across all energy scales.

The MOLLER experiment was approved by JLab PAC34 in January 2009, received an "A" scientific rating and was allocated 344 days of beamtime by PAC37 in January 2011, and had both its rating and beam time allocation reaffirmed by PAC49 in July 2021. The experiment received strong endorsement from a Department of Energy (DOE) Science Review in 2014, received CD-0 approval from DOE in December 2016 and CD-1 approval from DOE in December 2020. The MOLLER project team is currently preparing for CD-3A and CD-2 reviews planned for calendar 2023. The project recently received Inflation Reduction Act funding that will allow the experiment to remain on a technically driven schedule and to obtain early physics results in the same timeframe as complementary results from the LHC and the Mainz Microtron. The MOLLER collaboration currently consists of \sim 180 members representing 34 institutions from 4 countries. The current schedule for the experiment calls for construction of the apparatus to be completed in late 2024 followed by installation in Hall A and production running in the 2026 - 2028 timeframe.

The Solenoidal Large Intensity Device (SoLID) [236] is a spectrometer planned for Hall A of JLab, that will combine large angular and momentum acceptance with the capability to handle very high data rates at high luminosity. A very rich physics program can be realized with the detector, including the tomography of the nucleon in 3-D momentum space from Semi-Inclusive Deep Inelastic Scattering (SIDIS), expanding the phase space in the search for new physics and novel hadronic effects in PVDIS, and a precision measurement of J/ψ production at threshold that probes the gluon field and its contribution to the proton mass. Here, the focus is on the PVDIS deuteron measurement which will use a 50 μ A longitudinally polarized electron beam incident on a 40-cm long liquid deuterium target. Sub-percent level asymmetry measurements will be made over a wide (x,Q^2) range to allow for measurement of and correction for higher-twist and charge symmetry violation hadronic effects to allow for extraction of the fundamental electron-quark couplings of interest.

In addition to the PVDIS measurement, the SoLID 3-D nucleon tomography (or SIDIS) program [236] has a connection to fundamental symmetries through tensor charge, a basic QCD quantity related to the quark/nucleon spin that is defined by the tensor current matrix element, and the connection is through nucleon and quark EDMs. Nucleon EDMs receive contributions from quark EDMs with the flavor-dependent nucleon tensor charge being the corresponding coefficient in front of each quark EDM [274–277]. The SoLID SIDIS program with three approved experiments [278–280] will allow us to obtain essential information on TMDs (transverse-momentum-dependent parton distribution functions) from the neutron/proton in the valence quark region, and determine the flavor separation of TMDs for up and down quarks with unprecedented precision. With the high-precision measurement of the transversity TMD, SoLID will improve the precision of the neutron and proton tensor charge determination by one order of magnitude compared to

existing global analyses and allow for their quark flavor separation. This will bring the phenomenological precision on the tensor charges in the same ballpark of the lattice calculations, as such providing a benchmark test for lattice QCD predictions [74, 281–283]. The combination of lattice QCD and the SoLID SIDIS and EIC program [284, 285] input on the tensor charges will provide a very robust framework to interpret future nucleon EDM experiments with much improved sensitivity (see Section VIA), probing new physics scales in the tens of TeV range [74, 286, 287].

The PVDIS program of SoLID was approved by JLab PAC35 in January 2010, received an "A" scientific rating and was allocated 169 days of beamtime by PAC37 in January 2011, and had both its rating and beam time allocation reaffirmed by PAC50 in July 2022. The SoLID collaboration currently consists of \sim 270 members representing 70 institutions from 13 countries. A Pre-Conceptual Design Report (pCDR) had gone through multiple reviews and an MIE was submitted to DOE in 2020. The experiment received a successful Science Review from DOE in March 2021. Currently, pre-R&D activities for the detector and DAQ system of SoLID are ongoing and a cold test of the CLEO-II magnet is underway. It is anticipated that SoLID would run after MOLLER and physics results would be expected in the 2030's.

In summary, the MOLLER and the SoLID PVDIS experiments employ the technique of parity-violating electron scattering to unprecedented precision using the 11 GeV electron beam at Jefferson Lab. These experiments are made feasible in part by the progress in experimental techniques developed for the recently completed nuclear weak form factor measurements PREX [87] and CREX [88] (Section III C) such as the control and correction of the polarization-induced asymmetry in the electron beam at the part per billion level and the accuracy in monitoring the electron beam polarization at the 0.5% level. Both experiments represent a special opportunity to probe physics beyond the Standard Model, with a unique window to new physics at MeV and multi-TeV scales. They will significantly improve our knowledge of flavor- and CP-conserving interactions at low energies. The results will be complementary to the anticipated results from the high luminosity running at the LHC.

2. Precision beta decays

Neutron and nuclear β -decay have historically played a key role in defining the Standard Model (SM) and now provide a powerful probe for new physics [288]. The US fundamental symmetries research program made major strides since the last long range plan, helping lead breakthroughs in the theoretical analysis of electroweak radiative corrections and Beyond Standard Model (BSM) scenarios. The experimental program included the development of the most precise measurement of the neutron lifetime, the highest precision angular correlation measurements for polarized and unpolarized nuclear β -decay to date, and exciting new technologies such as Cyclotron Radiation Emission Spectroscopy for β -spectroscopy and Superconducting Tunnel-Junction sensors for nuclear recoil measurements. This intensive effort is motivated by the possibility for "clean" predictions from the SM for these decay processes, enabling high precision tests for new physics. The activity and detailed plans for this community are described in detail in two white papers [205, 289], from which we draw heavily for this summary. The goals for β -decay research, explained in the following text, include:

- Firmly establishing the V_{ud} input to the Cabibbo-Kobayashi-Maskawa (CKM) unitarity test:
 - Reducing theoretical uncertainties of the superallowed data sets, targeting uncertainties in the unitarity test for V_{ud} similar to those for V_{us} .
 - Bringing the unitarity test from the neutron decay to the current precision level of the superallowed $0^+ \rightarrow 0^+$ decays.
- Probing for a Fierz interference term at the 10⁻³ level (LHC limits) and developing a strategy to further improve the limit.
- Exploring new techniques to search for BSM physics uniquely suited to β -decay, such as sterile v branches and tests of the SM helicity structure.

Precision studies of neutron and nuclear β -decay are well motivated "broad-band" probes of Beyond Standard Model (BSM), thanks to the sub-permille precision that can be achieved both in theory and experiment. These decays not only probe the structure of the charged-current electroweak interactions to unprecedented levels (V - A, scalar, and tensor currents), but also provide a sensitive tool to search for sterile neutrinos. We briefly discuss below the main physics drivers before going into details of past accomplishments and future opportunities.

Renewed interest arose in first-row CKM unitarity following an upward shift in the $K \rightarrow \pi$ vector form factor relevant for the extraction of V_{us} from $K \to \pi \ell \bar{\nu}_{\ell}$ decays [81] and the 2018 analysis of Seng et al. [105] of the inner radiative correction to neutron and nuclear beta-decay. Their work, based on a novel dispersion relation analysis [105], resulted in a reduction in the uncertainty for these corrections and a shift of the previous, state-the-art $|V_{ud}|$ central value [291]. This finding was confirmed by several independent studies [292-295]. Fig.6 summarizes the current status of $|V_{ud}|$, $|V_{us}|$, $|V_{us}|/|V_{ud}|$ and displays several anomalies. For instance, the combination $|V_{ud}|^2_{0^+} + |V_{us}|^2_{K_{\ell_3}} - 1 =$ -0.0021(7) exhibits a deficit from unitarity at the level of 3σ , and the two different determinations of $|V_{us}|$ from semileptonic and leptonic kaon decays also show a $\sim 3\sigma$ disagreement. They are now known collectively as the "Cabibbo Anomaly". The current precision is such that the CKM unitarity test is in the league of 'precision electroweak observables'. Moreover, the Cabibbo Anomaly has been shown to play an important role in global fits to BSM physics and in the interpretation of the W boson mass anomaly [296–298]. The current hints of



FIG. 6: Values of $|V_{ud}|$ obtained from superallowed $0^+ \rightarrow 0^+$ nuclear β -decays (red) and neutron β -decay (violet), $|V_{us}|$ from semileptonic kaon decays ($K_{\ell 3}$, green), and $|V_{us}/V_{ud}|$ from leptonic kaon/pion decays ($K_{\mu 2}/\pi_{\mu 2}$, blue). The yellow ellipse represents a global fit of the two matrix elements, and the black line assumes the first-row CKM unitarity. Figure taken with permission from Ref. [290].

new physics demand a very strong theoretical and experimental program to assess the uncertainties and study the implications for new physics.

The most precise determination of $|V_{ud}|$ presently comes from superallowed $0^+ \rightarrow 0^+$ nuclear β decays, $|V_{ud}|_{0^+} = 0.97367(30)_{\text{th}}(11)_{\text{exp}}$ [89, 290], where currently the uncertainty is dominated by nuclear structure dependent radiative corrections [106, 299]. As outlined below, the synergy of ab-initio theory and improved measurements will be the key to reduce these uncertainties.

On the other hand, free neutron decay is theoretically cleaner, but is limited by experimental uncertainties of the neutron lifetime τ_n and the axial-to-vector coupling ratio $\lambda = C_A/C_V$. Using the PDG averages, one obtains $|V_{ud}|_n^{\text{PDG}} = 0.97441(13)_{\text{th}}(87)_{\text{exp}}$; however, adopting the single best measurement of τ_n from UCN τ [107] and λ from PERKEO III [300] respectively returns $|V_{ud}|_n^{\text{best}} = 0.97413(13)_{\text{th}}(40)_{\text{exp}}$, with the total uncertainty already comparable to that from superallowed β decays. With future improvements in the radiative corrections from lattice QCD and in the experimental precision of τ_n and λ , neutron β decay could eventually surpass $0^+ \rightarrow 0^+$ as the best avenue to extract $|V_{ud}|$. Addressing the potential breakdown of unitarity and the Cabibbo Anomaly is the highest priority for the β -decay community.

Another sensitive probe of new physics arises from a comparison of the experimental axial-to-vector coupling ratio, $\lambda = C_A/C_V$ and direct computation from lattice QCD. This test probes the existence of right-handed currents [301] and was made possible by a significant increase in precision from lattice QCD determinations of g_A over the last 4 years [302], with individual calculations achieving sub-percent precision
unitarity and BSM physics scenarios. Finally, scalar / pseudoscalar and tensor currents can be generated in a variety of BSM scenarios, such as those with charged scalars or leptoquarks. Scalar and tensor interactions can be probed quite competitively in β decays and in high transverse mass tail of the charged-current Drell-Yan process at the LHC [303– 307]. By carrying out a comprehensive analysis of β -decay data, Ref. [308] found bounds on the scalar and tensor couplings normalized to the Fermi constant to be at the level of 10^{-3} , which is quite close and complementary to the Drell-Yan processes at the LHC. These bounds on ε_T can be converted to a neutron Fierz interference term $|b| \leq 1.3 \cdot 10^{-3}$ (95 % CL), which is within reach of the next generation of experiments. High precision β -spectroscopy is under development to push β -decay limits well above those from the LHC through Cyclotron Radiation Emission Spectroscopy (CRES), with pilot studies on ⁶He and ¹⁹Ne now complete. Limits for T-couplings with right-handed neutrinos have also been improved through $\beta - v$ correlation measurements in ⁸Li and ⁸B decays, with further work expected on the mass 8 system. Recent progress [309–314] both in theory and experiments make the sub-permille precision an achievable goal.

Theoretical developments and prospects are discussed in Section VII. Below, we discuss experimental progress and prospects.

Nuclear Decays

The nuclear β -decay experimental program involves a diverse set of measurements, focusing primarily on (1) input for the CKM Unitarity test and the Cabibbo Anomaly, (2) high precision spectroscopy and angular correlation measurements to probe for exotic Scalar (S) and Tensor (T) couplings, and (3) experiments that constrain sterile neutrino branches (which overlaps with the neutrino physics community). For each area of activity, we first briefly review progress during the current LRP and then outline prospects for the new LRP. A brief summary of a few additional recognized R&D targets is included as well.

Unitarity Progress: During the current LRP period, Hardy and Towner reported numerous refinements to the $0^+ \rightarrow 0^+$ superallowed data set [89], in particular developing high precision measurements for mirror-superallowed transitions in mass 26, 34 and 38 nuclei to help test the accuracy of corrections due to isospin violating state admixtures. While the impact on the $0^+ \rightarrow 0^+$ superallowed data set was modest, the framework developed to test theory will have lasting impact for the upcoming LRP, where there is a significant shift of focus to the lowest mass cases to provide the most effective tests of theory.

Superallowed mixed transitions between T = 1/2 states, also referred to as mirror nuclear decays, have also been proposed as a means to extract V_{ud} [315]. For these decays, both Fermi and Gamow-Teller decays are possible, with the ratio between Fermi and Gamow-Teller matrix elements for nuclear decays specified by a "mixing ratio", $\rho = M_F/M_{GT}$. While this requires an additional experimental input through an angular correlation, because ρ must be known to high precision, substantial enhancements in sensitivity are available through near-cancellation of the observable. Cases of interest include a factor of 4 for ¹⁷F up to a factor 13 for ¹⁹Ne [316], as well as a number of additional cases in the important mass region $A \le 20$. There has been a surge of experimental activity in the past years around mirror transitions at various institutions world-wide including: half-life (³⁷K [90], ²¹Na [91] and ²⁹P [317]) and branching ratio (³⁷K [318]) measurements at Texas A&M University; half-life measurements of ¹¹C [93], ¹³N [94], ¹⁵O [95], ²⁵Al [92] and ²⁹P [96] at the University of Notre Dame; Q_{EC} -value measurements of ¹¹C [97], ²¹Na and ²⁹P using LEBIT at NSCL [98]; and with significant development of 99.13(9)% nuclear polarization via optical pumping [319], a precise β -asymmetry measurement of ³⁷K using TRINAT at TRIUMF improved the value of V_{ud} for this isotope by a factor of 4 [99].

Unitarity Prospects: the focus is on a coordinated effort to systematically evaluate nuclear-structure

related corrections and reduce the $0^+ \rightarrow 0^+$ superallowed data st's uncertainties to levels comparable to those from V_{us} in the unitarity sum. Given the anticipated emphasis, for theory, on the mass region $6 \le A \le 20$ where/ multiple high precision nuclear structure predictions are possible, there is a strong need for more precise measurements of the branching ratio of the $0^+ \rightarrow 0^+$ transitions of 10 C and 14 O. These species play an important role in the superallowed data set for V_{ud} and to constrain Fierz terms. Recently, the use of superconducting tunnel junctions has shown tremendous promise for precision spectroscopy of recoiling ions following nuclear β -decay with vastly different systematic corrections to traditional approaches [320, 321]. Unlike other quantum sensors, the microsecond(s) response time enables both high precision and high count rate spectroscopy. Through the planned development of these sensors at radioactive ion beam facilities (the SALER experiment), measurements of these branching ratios could be performed through recoil spectroscopy as a way of avoiding common systematic effects. Additional information on recoil-order and isospin-breaking corrections may be obtained using precise electroweak nuclear radii measurements in several isotriplet systems [322, 323].

The β -delayed proton decays of ²⁰Mg, ²⁴Si, ²⁸S, ³²Ar and ³⁶Ca, to be studied at TAMUTRAP [324], will provide alternate 0⁺ \rightarrow 0⁺ cases once the ³He-LIG system at the Cyclotron Institute is fully commissioned. This program connects mass A = 20 to a set of near-proton-dripline cases and extends the high precision data-set. These measurements have vastly different experimental systematic uncertainties to the standard super-allowed cases and provide a demanding test of isospin-symmetry-breaking corrections.

For the nuclear mirror decays, there are multiple on-going analyses and planned half-life, branching ratio, and Q_{EC} -value measurements. There are also several efforts to measure correlation parameters in these systems, including more precise angular correlation measurements ($\beta - \nu$, β -asymmetry, ν -asymmetry, ...) of K and Rb isotopes with TRINAT. These experiments will continue to define the cutting edge for polarized nuclear decays, with optical probes of the trapped samples already establishing 0.3% precision for the β -asymmetry in ³⁷K decay [99], with roughly a factor of three improvement envisioned for runs planned early in the LRP period. This is particularly relevant because with this level of precision for the polarization, the recoil asymmetry in ³⁷K can provide the input for V_{ud} from this nucleus with comparable accuracy to the superallowed decay species. The focus on high precision data for nuclear systems with $A \leq 20$ is well aligned with plans for $\beta - \nu$ measurements in multiple mirror transitions (including the very sensitive ¹⁷F and other isotopes with $A \leq 20$) with the St. Benedict ion trapping system [325, 326]. Precision recoil spectroscopy opens an alternate technology for these measurements as well, with SALER targeting measurements of mirror isotopes such as ¹¹C, where their long lifetimes make them less suitable for ion or optical trap measurements.

The envisioned experimental campaign should permit a coordinated benchmarking of theory with systems like ¹⁰C, ¹¹C, ¹⁴O and other nuclei with $A \le 20$ to establish more rigorous uncertainty budgets for nuclear structure dependent corrections. This then sets the stage for a systematic revision of the uncertainties for V_{ud} over the full range of nuclear decays.

Exotic Couplings Progress: For left-handed neutrinos, the strongest limits on exotic S-couplings are derived from an endpoint analysis of the $0^+ \rightarrow 0^+$ superallowed decays [89]. The limits for T-couplings with left-handed neutrinos are constrained through global fits to neutron and nuclear decays (which also constrain S-couplings at comparable levels to the endpoint analysis) [327]. In addition to these constraints, atom-trap and ion-trap techniques have been used to collect and suspend samples of β -emitting isotopes, permitting angular correlation measurements. Experiments with the BPT at the ATLAS facility at ANL, have achieved increasingly precise results for the $\beta - \nu$ angular correlations in ⁸Li [101, 102] and ⁸B [103]. Atom traps have been used to determine this correlation in ⁶He [104] and to polarize ³⁷K atoms to measure the β asymmetry [99, 319]. These experiments have achieved precision as good as 0.3%, placing limits on the possible existence of tensor interactions and currents with right-handed neutrinos. A recent global fit of nuclear and neutron β -decay data shows a hint of BSM tensor coupling to right-handed neutrinos at the 3σ -level [327]. This effect could be generated by various BSM effects such as a TeV-range leptoquark coupling to light quarks, positrons, and right-handed neutrinos, and can be directly confirmed with the inclusion of

correlation measurement data of mirror transitions (with well-defined paths to further improve the precision in these cases)[327].

Exotic couplings prospects: The priority for the LRP period is to establish direct sensitivity for exotic couplings at the 10^{-3} level for both S- and T-couplings and to define a concrete strategy to push those limits down an order of magnitude. For Fierz terms, the most promising strategy is based on Cyclotron Radiation Emission Spectroscopy (CRES) measurements in multiple nuclei, including ⁶He, ¹⁴O and ¹⁹Ne at CENPA. The CRES approach, first demonstrated with low-energy electrons [328] has recently been applied to the study of higher-energy β particles from the decays of ⁶He and ¹⁹Ne [329]. This "non-destructive" energy measurement has a radically different error budget from conventional, detector based experiments, with a long term goal of sensitivities at the 10^{-4} for Fierz terms, probing mass scales near 20 TeV. By studying both β^- and β^+ decays, the sign of the Fierz interference term changes, and therefore measuring both significantly reduces most systematic effects. In addition, by confining β -emitters in a specially-designed Penning trap for CRES measurements, the approach can be extended to study any isotope.

For couplings to right-handed neutrinos, angular correlation measurements offer a path forward with uncertainties at or below 0.1% planned. Further increase in sensitivity using the mass-8 system is being pursued and will require access to high-intensity beams of ⁸Li and ⁸B. New trap-structure designs to minimize β -particle scattering and efforts to better characterize the detector-array performance will further reduce uncertainties. In addition, a better understanding of the low-lying continuum level structure of ⁸Be, including resolving the question of the existence of low-lying intruder states, and the associated recoil-order contributions will be needed. Additional devices like TAMUTRAP and St. Benedict are poised to further extend the reach of precision angular-correlation measurements as needed, and the HUNTER collaboration [330] is proposing a precision EC spin asymmetry measurement for which linear dependence on tensor couplings offers strong potential for advances.

 β -decays for neutrino physics progress and prospects: Energy and momentum conservation in nuclear β decay allows model-independent searches for massive neutrinos coupled to the electron flavor, and is a uniquely powerful method for BSM physics searches in this area. This includes the absolute neutrino mass measurements of the light mass states via β decay endpoint measurements as well as the search for new, heavy (mostly sterile) mass states as an expansion to the 3×3 PMNS matrix. Current and future efforts towards a sensitivity of $m_{\beta} \leq 0.04 \text{ eV/c}^2$ at 90% C.L. [331] in tritium β -spectrum measurements are described in Section VIC1. To go beyond $m_{\beta} \leq 0.04 \text{ eV/c}^2$, however, new experimental paradigms must be considered. Of growing interest are ultra-low O value β -decays that would occur from the ground state of the parent isotope to an excited nuclear state in the daughter with $Q_{ES} = Q_{GS} - E^* \lesssim 1$ keV. Such decays could provide new candidates for direct neutrino mass determination experiments [332] and further insight into atomic interference effects in β -decay at low energies [333]. A number of isotopes have been found that could have an ultra-low Q value transition [334–339], but more precise Q value (from Penning traps), and in some cases energy level data is needed [340-345]. Experimentally, these ultra-low Q values are challenging to implement, however recent work with trapped nanoscale objects may permit a variety of isotopes to be characterized while reaching sensitivities that are sufficient to resolve the requisite momenta in a single nuclear decay [346].

The search for sub-MeV sterile neutrinos via precision nuclear decay measurements is among the most powerful methods for BSM massive-neutrino searches since it relies only on the existence of a heavy neutrino admixture to the active neutrinos, and not on the model-dependent details of their interactions. Sub-MeV sterile neutrinos are well motivated, natural extensions to the Standard Model (SM) that have been extensively studied over the past 25 years [347–349]. In these experiments, the neutrino "missing mass" is reconstructed using precise momentum measurement of all other products (including the recoil nucleus) from decay of a nucleus at rest. The experimental situation is simplified dramatically in neutron-deficient nuclei where the 3-body β decay mode is energetically forbidden, and thus the parent nucleus *only* undergoes nuclear electron capture (EC) decay. Precision measurement of the low-energy nuclear recoil and all the other (low energy) decay products allows the neutrino four-momentum and mass to be directly probed. Measurements of this type are currently being performed using ⁷Be decay by the BeEST experiment [320, 321, 350] and planned for ¹³¹Cs by the HUNTER experiment [330]. The BeEST experiment currently sets the best laboratory limits in the 100 - 850 keV mass range [321] and the projected sensitivities for this class of experiments are impressive (Fig. 12).

Exotic neutrino physics searches also feed into the Reactor-Antineutrino Anomaly, where β -shape functions are needed to percent-level \bar{v} flux predictions [351–357] and provide a method to directly measure dominant backgrounds for dark matter searches and for neutrino-less-double β decays ($0v\beta\beta$) [358].

The concrete goals for this community are to realize the current precision targets for the BeEST and the HUNTER experiments. These will place the most stringent constraints on sub-MeV sterile neutrino branches. *R&D* towards more sensitive probes for absolute neutrino mass and opportunities to contribute to related neutrino physics problems will also be pursued.

Rare decays and other R&D topics: β -decay research offers other opportunities to constrain BSM physics, motivating ongoing research and development. For example, it was suggested that the neutron lifetime anomaly could be caused by a dark decay branch [359], motivating a number of neutron decay experiments (see the "Neutron Decays" subsection) and papers exploring the implications for neutron stars and astrophysical constraints [360]. This process could have as a consequence that very loosely bound neutrons in exotic nuclei could decay in a similar way, and the residual nucleus would be the signature of such a decay [361]. A promising candidate is the decay of ¹¹Be where the dark decay would produce ¹⁰Be as residue [362–364]. The question if there is, or if there is not, a signature for a dark decay is not yet solved because of scattered results for the ¹⁰Be production ratio [365], motivating ongoing measurements on ¹⁰Be and other species such as ⁶He [366]. Another focus for R&D in the neutron and nuclear community is the development of improved tests for T non-invariance in β -decay. For example, the MORA experiment [367, 368] and a measurement with TRINAT [369] are being developed for nuclear decays and R&D for the BRAND experiment [370, 371] and a next generation emiT [372, 373] are underway with neutrons.

Neutron Decays

Progress: The potential impact for neutron data to the Cabibbo Anomaly is the primary driver for the neutron decay experimental program, stemming from the fact that $|V_{ud}|$ determined from the neutron does not rely on nuclear structure dependent corrections. Over the last LRP period there has been a burst of productivity from the neutron beta-decay experimental community (see Fig. 7), with four new experimental results for the neutron lifetime and four new (or updated) results for angular correlations.

Within the recently completed or updated lifetime experiments [378–381], one of the most significant steps in the field was an improvement of a factor of two over previous lifetime measurements by the LANL-based UCN τ experiment, which reported a first physics result in 2018 [397] and a value of 877.75(22)_{stat} (+22/-16)_{sys} s [381] in 2021. The UCN τ experiment uses an asymmetrical, bowl-shaped magnetic trap to store neutrons. UCN are introduced from the bottom of the trap, and the spectra are such that detected UCN have insufficient energy to overcome the gravitational potential barrier required to exit through the top surface of the bowl. The stored populations are monitored using an *in situ* detector lowered into the trap. The combination of extremely low UCN loss from the trap, strong control of systematic uncertainties through the *in situ* detector, and the large number of stored UCN possible in this high volume trap coupled to the LANL UCN source [209, 398], have established this as the highest precision experiment to date. The UCN τ result reinforces the "lifetime puzzle" — the noticeably different lifetimes obtained in bottle and beam experiments — and pulls the global average for the lifetime to $\tau_n = 878.4(0.5)$ s, with a scale factor of 1.8 [385], suggesting underestimated systematic uncertainties even within the UCN experiments. The UCN τ collaboration also published the strongest direct limits to date for neutron decay to a "dark" particle with the emission of a γ -ray [399].



FIG. 7: Left – most recent and/or precise lifetime results from the global neutron β -decay experimental program, including measurements using UCN (squares, with $\bar{\tau}_{UCN} = 878.6(5)$ s in pink band with uncertainty scaled by 1.9) [374– 381] and cold neutron beams (circles, $\bar{\tau}_{UCN} = 888.1(2.0)$ s in blue band) [382–384] and the crosshatch band indicating the PDG 2022 average [385], $\bar{\tau}_{PDG} = 878.4(5)$ s with scale factor 1.8. Right – most recent and/or precise measurements of $\lambda = g_A/g_V$, including measurements using the β -asymmetry (squares) [386–391], ratios of electron-proton coincidence asymmetries (circles) [392], the proton-asymmetry (triangles) [393] and the electron-antineutrino asymmetry (inverted triangles) [382, 394–396]. Also shown is the PDG 2022 average [385] $\lambda = -1.2754(13)$ (scale factor 2.7).

The beam-based BL2 experiment is ongoing at the National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST), and is designed to probe the systematic uncertainty budget of the BL1 experiment and provide an improved value for the neutron lifetime. The BL1 experiment was last updated by Yue *et al.* [383], which provided the driving motivation for the current "lifetime-puzzle". Experimental running of BL2 should be complete in 2023, with publication following on a few year time scale and a targeted uncertainty of better than 2 s. The NIST team also published a high precision measurement of the radiative decay branch in neutron decay in 2016 [400] which stands as the definitive measurement for that process. Furthermore, a determination of the lifetime from the dependence of the number of thermal neutrons as a function of altitude above the Moon's surface, with that surface being the source of thermalized neutrons, has reached a 15 s precision [401]. The long-standing discrepancy between the reported value for the neutron lifetime in storage and beam experiments remains unresolved, and has led to a flurry of proposals and activity to find additional neutron β -decay channels [359, 402–404], with no positive results so far.

There were four new angular correlation measurements: the $\beta - \bar{v}$ correlations reported by the aCORN experiment [396] and the aSPECT collaboration [395] and the β -asymmetry measurements reported by the UCNA collaboration[390] and the PERKEO III collaboration [405]. As can be seen from Fig. 7, the results from beta asymmetry measurements are consistent, but differ by 3σ from the determination from $\beta - \bar{v}$ correlation in aSPECT.

The UCNA experiment published a "final" analysis of the β -asymmetry in 2018 [390] with a combined result (all UCNA measurements) for the β -Asymmetry parameter of $A_0 = -0.12015(34)_{stat}(63)_{syst}$, which yielded for the axial coupling constant, $\lambda = -1.2772(20)$. UCNA is the only angular correlation experiment which has used UCN, exploiting the ability to produce and store very highly polarized populations of UCN with negligible neutron-generated backgrounds. UCNA remains the highest precision, independent crosscheck of the cold neutron beam measurements PERKEO II and PERKEO III which define the state-of-theart determinations of λ . The UCNA collaboration also published the most precise limits for neutron decay to dark particles with the emission of $e^+ - e^-$ pairs [406], and the first direct limits on Fierz terms in neutron decay [407, 408]. Rapid progress has also been made on the β - $\bar{\nu}$ asymmetry. The aCORN experiment produced the first increment in precision for the β - $\bar{\nu}$ parameter *a* in 15 years with their publication in 2017 [409] and a final result in 2021 of $a = -0.10782(124)_{stat}(133)_{sys}$ [396] and $\lambda = -1.2796(62)$. As mentioned above, the current precision for *a* is defined by the results of the aSPECT experiment.

Prospects: The primary goal for the US neutron β -decay community during the next LRP is to determine the value of V_{ud} from neutron decay with a precision competitive with the $0^+ \rightarrow 0^+$ decays, namely $\delta V_{ud} \sim 3 \times 10^{-4}$ or better. Using the Particle Data Group global averages as the standard, this will require less than a factor of two improvement in the uncertainty for the lifetime, and a factor of 3 for λ ($\Delta \tau_n \sim 0.3$ s and $\Delta \lambda / |\lambda| \sim 0.03\%$ is needed, which includes understanding of potential discrepancies between methods at this level). These improvements are within reach.

There are several US-based lifetime experiments planned or proposed for the next LRP period: UCN τ + and UCNPro βe at the LANL UCN source, Space-based lifetime at APL, and BL3 at NIST. The strategy for UCN τ + is to improve the statistical uncertainty using an adiabatic transfer technique to load the existing magnetic trap. Because a number of the constraints for key systematic uncertainties (including contributions from quasi-bound UCN and phase-space evolution) are limited by the statistical sensitivity of the experiment, uncertainties below 0.15 s appear feasible. Commissioning and a start for running of UCN τ + is planned for 2024. UCNPro β e is designed to measure the branching ratio for β -decay relative to all decay modes (the total disappearance rate) for neutron decay. The sensitivity target for the branching ratio is 1.2 s, giving UCNPro β e the potential to play a critical role if the discrepancy between the NIST beam experiments and UCN storage experiments persists. Commissioning of UCNPro β e is planned for 2025, with final data taking in 2027. To improve the statistical uncertainty of the lifetime measured with the space-based approach to 3 s, a dedicated mission with orbital measurements or landed lunar experiments has been proposed [410]. The BL3 experiment builds on the strategies developed in Yue et al. [383] for high precision determination of the density of the neutron beam, with a scaled-up trap volume and increased neutron flux at the NG-C beamline. The ability to achieve 1 s precision in a day of running will ensure that extensive characterization of the systematic error budget will be possible. The initial run at NIST is planned to begin in 2026, with a precision goal < 0.3 s.

There are also three US-based angular correlation experiments which are already underway or could be mounted during the next LRP period which can also provide a precision for λ comparable to the most precise measurement to date, PERKEO III. The only experiment currently in commissioning is Nab [411, 412], with an expected sensitivity to λ of about 0.04 %. First decay data for Nab is possible before the coming shutdown at the SNS in the fall of 2023, and data-taking is planned until roughly 2025. This experiment is the first to use the combined electron and proton energy spectra to reach the ultimate sensitivity to the β - $\bar{\nu}$ parameter. This experiment has the potential to resolve the current tension between recent β -asymmetry measurements and the aSPECT result. It will also provide a critical contribution to the high precision data set, with the measurement subject to a distinctly different set of systematic uncertainties than the previous and on-going β -asymmetry measurements.

A natural extension of the Nab experiment can make use of the Nab spectrometer and a polarized neutron beam to perform simultaneous measurements of the β -asymmetry and angular correlations involving polarized protons. This experiment, called pNab, will require almost no modification of the existing Nab apparatus, since the capability for highly polarized neutron beams and spin analysis is now incorporated into the baseline capability for Nab. Although this experiment is not yet approved for the FNPB beamline, it would provide a new measurement of λ with a goal of $\Delta\lambda/\lambda = 0.02\%$ and new methods to control sources of systematic uncertainties through coincident detection of electrons and protons and ratios of spin-dependent observables. Research and development towards an upgrade of the UCNA experiment is currently underway at the Los Alamos UCN source. This experiment, called UCNA+, would utilize the high UCN densities available in the LANL UCN source to reduce statistical uncertainties and an improved detector package to minimize scattering corrections. These improvements push the projected sensitivity for the β -asymmetry below 0.2 %, making it comparable in sensitivity to Nab and PERKEO III. Given the current uncertainty in the schedule for PERC and the control of key systematic uncertainties through the use of UCN, UCNA+ could have a significant impact.

Overall, the potential impact of the US program on the CKM unitarity test is very high. The planned neutron lifetime measurements provide a robust basis to establish the lifetime at the required 0.3 s level and a path to clarify the current discrepancy between beam and storage experiments. The US is in a leadership position with these measurements. In contrast, there is only one new angular correlation measurement, Nab, mounted at an operational beamline and being commissioned. A successful measurement at a sufficient precision to effectively achieve the 0.03 % goal in λ , when taken together with PERKEO III is possible. The availability of measurements with significantly different methodology and sources of systematic error has historically been extremely important in this subfield. Given this, although the PERC collaboration pursues similar goals (with somewhat more optimistic precision targets for the λ parameter), there is a clear benefit to implementing pNab and/or UCNA+: this will ensure the US program plays a decisive role in the understanding of the Cabibbo Anomaly and maintains worldwide leadership.

3. Precision muon and meson experiments

US Nuclear physicists have been involved in an ambitious program in low-energy muon and pion physics. The experimental campaign in the US, Europe, and Japan represents a targeted set of scientific investigations using high precision tests of the Standard Model or great sensitivity to rare or forbidden processes¹. These include: the most precise measurement of the muon's anomalous magnetic moment and various charged-lepton-flavor-violating processes to sensitively test the completeness of the Standard Model; determinations of fundamental quantities including the magnetic moment ratio μ_{μ}/μ_{p} , the lepton mass ratio m_{μ}/m_{e} , the Fermi constant G_{F} , the muon's electric dipole moment, the proton charge radius r_{p} ; and, a program of muon capture to explore elusive features of weak interactions involving nucleons and nuclei (see Ref. [413]). A new rare pion decay program has recently been started [414], which will perform the world's most sensitive test of lepton flavor universality, determine V_{ud} through pion beta decay, and set sensitive limits on possible exotic decay modes and the existence of heavy neutrinos. Here we will briefly highlight the current efforts in which US Nuclear physicists are playing leading roles.

Muon g-2: A major highlight of the last Long Range Plan period is the success and first results from the Fermilab muon g - 2 experiment (E989). It is presently taking data in its 6th and final campaign aiming to measure the muon's anomaly, or g - 2, to a precision of better than 140 ppb. The data acquired to date are sufficient to meet this goal and represent more than 20 times that obtained by the BNL E821 experiment in the early 2000s. Motivating this experiment is the long standing result [126] from BNL that exceeds by ~ 3 sigma the recent 2020 community White Paper SM prediction [415]. Fermilab E989 – founded by nuclear physicists in 2009 – published its first results in April 2021 [122–125]. The measurement confirmed the result from BNL and when combined with it, the world average experimental value deviates from the SM prediction by 4.2 σ , see Fig. 8. This result has had tremendous impact. The BNL result has more than 3000 citations and the first Fermilab result already has more than 1100.

Currently, an intense campaign to address the important hadronic vacuum polarization contribution using the tools from lattice is in progress, as well as our continued work by the Muon g - 2 Collaboration to analyze the large volume of obtained data. New results from the Runs-2/3 periods are being planned for release by summer, 2023. Processing of Runs-4/5 is nearly complete, and pre-processing of ongoing Run-6 data is taking place in real time. The many analysis efforts fall into broad categories of muon precession,

¹ The Fermilab Muon Campus serves the g - 2 and Mu2e experiments. The multiple pion and muon beam lines at PSI serve, or have served the MuCap, MuLan, MuSun, MUSE, PiBeta, PEN, MEG, Mu3e, and PIONEER experiments. PSI is investing in a next-generation, High-Intensity Muon Beam (HIMB) for the future. J-PARC is developing a facility for the Museum and Muon g-2/EDM experimental programs.



FIG. 8: Left: The SM prediction for a_{μ} is compared to the previous BNL result, the FNAL Run-1 result, and the world average. The SM uncertainty will reduce in the coming years as will our experimental uncertainty based on already existing data. The placement of the future data points is purely arbitrary. Right: The online summary of data accumulation for the existing Runs 1-5, and the anticipated data taking Run-6

precision magnetic field, and beam dynamics. Within each, several groups independently analyze data and evaluate systematics. The outlook is that uncertainties with all previously known categories will be smaller than the Proposal targets and several newly discovered effects are well under control. These are often addressed using dedicated systematic measurements for beam dynamics related issues, and summer periods then the accelerator is off to study magnetic field transients and calibration procedures. A chart of data accumulation vs. time is shown in Fig. 8. The g-2 effort will continue for at least 3 more years of analysis, documentation, and selected systematic measurements. At present, there are no new plans for additional runs.

MUSE: At the Paul Scherrer Institute in Switzerland, the MUSE Collaboration is poised to take data on low-energy $\mu - p$ and e - p scattering in an effort to contribute to the long-standing quest to understand the charged proton radius. While originally arising from the high-precision muonic-hydrogen spectroscopy Lamb-shift experiments, there has been an engaged world effort to revisit both hydrogen spectroscopy experiments and low Q^2 electron scattering data on the proton. MUSE has a unique approach to the latter. This experimental campaign is ongoing and has been presented in the 2022 Town Hall Meeting on Hot & Cold QCD.

PIONEER is a new opportunity that is well aligned with this Long Range Plan timeline. It is a recently approved next-generation, rare-pion decay experimental program [414] that will take place at the Paul Scherrer Institute (PSI) in Switzerland. The Program Advisory Committee stated that they "enthusias-tically support this proposal with high priority."²

Phase I of PIONEER will focus on a measurement of the charged-pion branching ratio to electrons vs. muons $-R_{e/\mu}$. This is a test of lepton flavor universality (LFU) to be performed at an order of magnitude greater sensitivity than previous experiments. It is strongly motivated by a variety of anomalies in flavor physics³ including the above mentioned Muon g - 2 results, *B*-quark meson LFU violation results, and even the current tension with CKM unitarity [416, 417]. The program will probe non-SM explanations of these anomalies through sensitivity to quantum effects of new particles across a wide range in their masses. The $R_{e/\mu}$ ratio is predicted (Cirigliano and Rosell [418]) to 1 part in 10⁴, 15 times more precisely

² PAC report: R-22-01.1: Studies of rare pion decays (PIONEER) (D. Bryman, D. Hertzog, T. Mori et al.) The PAC also stated that "The theoretical motivations for these measurements as tests of the SM are very strong and have become more urgent in recent years in connection with possible violations of lepton universality and CKM unitarity. This is an ambitious, long-term project with a strong collaboration."

³ See Marciano, Pich, Dror, Hoferichter, and Crivellin presentations at the Rare Pion Decay Workshop.

than the current experimental result (Fig. 9, Left). PIONEER is being designed to distinguish the different primary pion decay modes using both topology and energy information in the target (Fig. 9, Right) and high-resolution calorimetry. The goal is to match the precision of theory.

Later Phases of PIONEER will measure the ultra-rare ($\sim 10^{-8}$ BR) pion beta decay process $\pi^+ \rightarrow \pi^0 e^+ v$ to determine $|V_{ud}|$ in the most theoretically pristine manner. A clean determination will contribute to the evaluation of CKM unitarity, which is very important in light of the recently emerged tensions. Throughout all Phases, PIONEER will improve the sensitivity to a host of exotic decays, including probes for the effects of heavy neutrinos [419–431], unique capabilities to search for pion decays to various light dark sector particles [431–434], and lepton-flavor-violating decays of the muon into light new physics particles $\mu \rightarrow eX$.

The experimental design is benefitting heavily from the collective experiences of the previous generation rare-pion decay experiments PIENU (TRIUMF) [426] and PEN/PiBeta (PSI) [435, 436]), and from advanced, state-of-the-art detector and electronics technologies that were not available in the past. The generic experiment is sketched in the left panel of Fig. 10, highlighting four core requirements: 1) A highintensity, low-momentum positive pion beam having good $\Delta P/P$, a small spot size, and low muon and positron contamination; 2) a highly segmented, low-mass, stopping target with excellent energy, time, and spatial resolutions; 3) a high-resolution, large-acceptance electromagnetic calorimeter with 25 radiation length depth to fully contain positron showers; and, 4) a fast, thin, cylindrical tracker surrounding the target to connect trajectories from the target to the calorimeter. These core systems require calibration and monitoring instrumentation and state-of-the-art high-speed digitization and a triggerable data acquisition system. In each case, active development and R&D efforts are ongoing, which require initial funding support. Brief comments follow.

The appropriately modified PSI PiE5 beamline will be used following its current commitment to the MEG II and Mu3e cLFV experiments. The PIONEER Collaboration did carry out initial beam tuning measurements in June 2022; in the future, both prototype detector tests and beam-development runs will take place at PSI. The active target (ATAR) is the key advance for PIONEER. Its 5000 Low Gain Avalanche Detector (LGAD) strips will enable tracking, timing and energy information of the stopping pion, its subsequent decay trajectory to either to a 4.2 MeV muon (99.99% BR) or its rare decay to a positron (1.23×10^{-4} BR). It is designed to distinguish these events in a subset of data. This will enable that the true calorimeter response of the π -to-e channel below the Michel electron end point to be observed directly. The calorimeter must resolve the π -to-e and μ -to-e channels with resolution at or better than 2% for the π -to-e monoenergetic positron energy of 69 MeV. The lead technological solution follows from the MEG-II experience with LXe, which is intrinsically uniform in an open spherical geometry. As an alternative tapered LYSO crystals, creating an segmented ball much like the PEN calorimeter are also being explored in bench tests. The right panel of Fig. 10 illustrates the anticipated calorimeter energy spectrum from both Michel decays



FIG. 9: Left: Current experimental measurement of $R_{e/\mu}$, the SM theoretical prediction, and the proposed precision goal of the PIONEER experiment. Right: The key event types involved in the measurement with their topologies as one might observe using the highly segmented active target (ATAR).



FIG. 10: Left: Generic components of the PIONEER experimental setup. The intense positive pion beam enters from the left and is brought to rest in a highly segmented active target (ATAR). Decay positron trajectories are measured from the ATAR to an outer electromagnetic calorimeter (CALO) through a tracker. The CALO records the positron energy, time and location. Right: Representative positron energy spectra from muon decays (blue) and from $\pi \rightarrow e$ decays (orange) for a high-resolution calorimeter. The shaded region below the 58 MeV dashed cut line indicates the hidden $\pi \rightarrow e$ tail fraction that must be determined to accurately extract the branching ratio. ATAR-based event reconstruction is designed to reduce the Michel spectrum to a level below the shaded tail.

and the rare $\pi \rightarrow e$ channel. A fast, segmented tracker is envisioned to surround the ATAR, providing a link between the positron tracks emerging from ATAR and the calorimeter. Resistive Micro Well (μ -RWELL) technology appears to be a good candidate. Finally, the experiment will require custom high-speed, electronics, digitization, and data acquisition efforts and a complete simulation framework. These efforts are already in progress.

The Collaboration The PIONEER collaboration consists of participants from PIENU, PEN/PiBeta, and MEG II, as well as international experts in rare kaon decays, low-energy stopped muon experiments, the Muon g - 2 experimental campaign, high-energy collider physics, neutrino physics, and other areas. Groups from the US are currently funded from DOE HEP and NP offices and from NSF Nuclear Physics. Groups from Canada, Japan, Switzerland, and Germany are supported by their respective funding sources.

4. Hadronic Parity and Time-Reversal Violation

Searches for P-odd and/or T-odd effects in nuclei can test the Standard Model (SM) and uncover BSM interactions. NN weak interaction amplitudes probe one of the most poorly-understood sectors of the SM. The relative sizes of different quark-quark weak interaction amplitudes, which in turn induce NN weak interactions, are very sensitive to quark-quark correlations in the nucleon and to low energy nonperturbative NN strong interaction dynamics. The measurement of NN weak amplitudes therefore offers a unique, dynamically-rich regime in which to test the standard model. The NN weak interaction is also a test case for our ability to trace symmetry-violating effects of a known, short range quark-quark interaction across many nonperturbative strong interaction scales. This is an exercise that also must be performed for many other searches for symmetry-violating low energy nuclear observables beyond the SM such as electric dipole moments and neutrinoless double beta decay. Interpreting such experiments requires calculation of matrix elements in heavy nuclei, which cannot be directly measured and where theoretical methods give a wide range of results.

The theory of NN weak interactions has undergone a qualitative change. The well-known DDH model used to guide theoretical and experimental work has been supplemented with improved input [437] and surpassed by theory approaches with a more direct connection to QCD, such as lattice gauge theory [438], pionless and chiral effective field theories [133, 439–441], and related "hybrid" approaches involving combinations of lattice and EFT calculations [442, 443] with dynamical approximations using the $1/N_c$ expansion [131, 132, 444] and the factorization approximation for nucleon-meson matrix elements [445]. This

work has mapped out a path toward the determination of the 5 low-energy constants in the pionless EFT NN weak interaction and has enabled specific predictions for NN weak processes under different dynamical assumptions. Parallel improvements in the theoretical treatment of strong interactions has led to more reliable predictions for the relative contributions of different NN weak amplitudes in few body systems [446–448].

An additional major goal is to use the NN weak amplitudes determined from few-nucleon measurements to calculate parity-odd observables in mid-mass and heavy nuclei. NN weak interactions induce parity-odd nuclear anapole moments [449, 450], whose effect can be measured in experiments using methods from atomic/molecular/optical physics and quantum sensing [239]. Calculations of atomic/molecular structure needed to determine anapole moments from such measurements routinely achieve uncertainties of < 10% [451, 452], and in some atoms much lower [453]. Improved calculations of anapole moments in light nuclei ($Z \leq 10 - 20$) are believed possible [451], and promising new approaches for heavy nuclei are being pursued. A new technique to measure nuclear anapole moments of heavy nuclei [454] has been demonstrated [455] which takes advantage of systematically small energy differences between oppositeparity levels in molecules [456] that can be tuned experimentally to near-degeneracy using external magnetic fields to greatly enhance the P-odd asymmetry compared to experiments with atoms [239].

More experimental and theoretical work in atomic, molecular, and nuclear systems is needed to (over)determine the low energy NN weak interaction amplitudes. Continued extension of the NN weak EFT calculations to more few body systems is essential for the interpretation of measurements. The initial goal for lattice gauge theory is to calculate the $\Delta I = 2$ NN weak amplitude, which is computationally easier to access than the other NN weak amplitudes due to the absence of disconnected diagrams. Additional work on dynamical models which can help develop insight into the physics behind the relative size of different NN weak interaction amplitudes is also needed. Opportunities for sensitive experiments exist in few nucleon systems. Parity-odd neutron spin rotation in n^{-4} He can reach a sensitivity of 10^{-8} rad/meter for the P-odd rotary power in 1/2 year of running on the NG-C beam at NIST to provide a strong constraint on a known linear combination of NN weak amplitudes and can distinguish between recent predictions based on $1/N_c$ arguments and a combined renormalization group + lattice-constrained factorization calculation. A pulsed slow neutron beamline proposed for the European Spallation Source [457] could search for (1) neutron-proton parity-odd spin rotation, which is one of the few experimentally-accessible observables with sensitivity to the $\Delta I = 2$ NN weak amplitude, (2) the parity-odd gamma asymmetry in $\vec{n} + D \rightarrow T + \gamma$, which is a sufficiently simple system to be treatable in terms of two-body NN weak amplitudes [458]. An upgraded HiGS facility [459] could search for parity-odd photodisintegration in $\vec{\gamma} + D \rightarrow n + p$ very near threshold, another observable sensitive to the $\Delta I = 2$ NN weak amplitude.

The ZOMBIES experiment projects to build on its recent proof-of-principle to measure anapole moments of several nuclei in the range $Z \gtrsim 40$ [454, 455], initially ¹³⁷Ba in the molecule BaF. New approaches are being explored [460–462] to enable measuring anapole moments of very light nuclei, where accurate nuclear-structure calculations are already being performed. These rely on the same principle as ZOMBIES, but use recently-developed methods for increased quantum control of molecules—such as direct laser cooling [463, 464], and quantum state readout of trapped molecular ions [52]—to achieve better energy resolution and enable measurements even of radioactive nuclei [48]. Several experiments aiming to measure anapole moments in atoms are also in development [465, 466].

Searches of T-odd correlations in the transmission of polarized neutrons through polarized targets are sensitive to nucleon-nucleon P-odd/T-odd and P-even/T-odd potentials [196] and can exploit enhancements due to small energy splitting between resonances of opposite parity in heavy nuclei to reach interesting sensitivity. T-odd interactions from new sources beyond the SM can generate two types of terms in the neutron forward scattering amplitude: a P-odd/T-odd term of the form $\vec{s}_n \cdot (\vec{k}_n \times \vec{I})$, where \vec{s}_n is the spin of the neutron, \vec{k}_n is the neutron momentum, and \vec{I} is the polarization of the nucleus, and a P-even/T-odd term of the form $(\vec{k}_n \cdot \vec{I})((\vec{s}_n \cdot (\vec{k}_n \times \vec{I})))$. These two flavors of T violation come from very different types of BSM interactions. A positive signal could reveal the new CPV sources that are needed for baryogenesis but are difficult to probe directly in high energy experiments [67, 68, 70, 301]. In forward transmission experiments

one can realize a null test for T which, like electric dipole moment searches, is in principle free from the effects of final state interactions [196, 467, 468]. Amplifications of *P*-odd neutron amplitudes in compound nuclear resonances by factors of 10^6 above the 10^{-7} effects expected for weak NN amplitudes compared to strong NN amplitudes have already been observed [469] in several heavy nuclei. It is important that these experiments measure the ratio of TRIV effects to PV effects at the same p-wave resonance which leads to almost complete cancellation of nuclear reaction effects. This is a big advantage comparing to absolute measurements of symmetry violations (like PV effects). A similar resonance mechanism can amplify a *P*-even and *T*-odd amplitude by a factor of 10^3 [470–472]. Direct experimental upper bounds on *P*-even and *T*-odd NN amplitudes [473] are only 1 % of strong NN amplitudes.

The NOPTREX collaboration is actively pursuing this opportunity through neutron p-wave resonance spectroscopy measurements on several relevant nuclei at LANSCE, FRM, JPARC, and CSNS. A proposal to conduct a P-odd/T-odd $\vec{s}_n \cdot (\vec{k}_n \times \vec{I})$ search in ¹³⁹La has been submitted to JPARC. NOPTREX can also search for amplified P-odd effects on p-wave resonances in so-far-unmeasured nuclei and help test the statistical theory of symmetry violation in neutron-nucleus resonances [474] against the extensive data set from the TRIPLE collaboration, in combination with new information on NN weak amplitudes. More theoretical work is needed to better understand the statistical theory of P-odd/T-odd and P-even/T-odd interactions. This includes the development of techniques for the calculation of PV and TRIV nuclear matrix elements using DDH-like and EFT nucleon interactions to understand the sensitivity of the TRIV effects to the details of CP-odd nucleon interactions (and as a consequence, to different sources of CP-violations), and a statistical spectroscopy approach for the further analysis of the experimental results in terms of constraints on different models of CP-violation.

Experiment	Observable	Result/Goal	Implications	Facility
NPDγ	A_{γ}^{np}	$[-3.0 \pm 1.4(stat) \pm 0.2(sys)] \times 10^{-8}$ [127]	n-p weak interaction	ORNL SNS
n- ³ He PV	A_{PV}	$[1.58 \pm 0.97(stat) \pm 0.24(sys)] \times 10^{-8}$ [128]	smallest P-odd NN asymmetry	ORNL SNS
n- ⁴ He	$d\phi_{PV}/dz$ (rad/m)	$[+2.1\pm8.3(stat.)\pm2.9(sys.)]\times10^{-7}$ [129]	bounds μ eV-eV Z ^{\circ} bosons [475]	NIST
ZOMBIES				
n- ⁴ He	$d\phi_{PV}/dz$ (rad/m)	10 ⁻⁸	NN weak theory test	NIST NG-C
NDTγ	A_{γ}	10 ⁻⁷	NN weak theory test	ESS
γDNP	A_n	10^{-8}	$\Delta I = 2$ NN weak	HIGS2
NOPTREX	$\frac{\langle V_{PT} \rangle}{\langle V_{P} \rangle}$	10^{-5}	P-odd/T-odd NN null search	JPARC
NOPTREX	$\frac{\langle V_T \rangle}{\langle V_{strong} \rangle}$	10 ⁻⁵	P-even/T-odd NN null search	CSNS/LANSCE

TABLE III: Accomplishments since last LRP and future opportunities in hadronic parity and time reversal violation

The NPDGamma collaboration reported [127] the parity-odd asymmetry $A_{\gamma}^{np} = [-3.0 \pm 1.4(stat) \pm 0.2(sys)] \times 10^{-8}$ in $\vec{n} + p \rightarrow D + \gamma$ to determine the $\Delta I = 1$, ${}^{3}S_{1} \rightarrow {}^{3}P_{1}$ component of the weak nucleonnucleon interaction. The n3He Collaboration reported [128] the smallest asymmetry of any parity-odd asymmetry in NN interactions measured so far: $A_{PV} = [1.58 \pm 0.97(stat) \pm 0.24(sys)] \times 10^{-8}$ in the emission direction of the proton in polarized neutron capture on ${}^{3}\text{He}$, $\vec{n} + {}^{3}\text{He} \rightarrow {}^{3}\text{H} + p$. Both of these measurements were completed at the FnPB beam at SNS. The final analysis of an upper bound on parity-odd neutron rotary power in $n + {}^{4}\text{He}$ measured at NIST of $d\phi/dz = [+2.1 \pm 8.3(stat.) \pm 2.9(sys.)] \times 10^{-7}$ rad/m [129] was published. This null measurement was used to place the most stringent constraints on exotic parity-odd interactions of neutrons with matter with ranges between millimeter and atomic scales.

5. Baryon Number Violation: neutron oscillations

A unique opportunity has emerged during the past decade to search for baryon number violation (BNV) through the transformation of neutrons to antineutrons (a $\Delta B = 2$ process) using neutron beams. Such an experiment, sited at the European Spallation Source (ESS) in Lund, Sweden, can improve the experimental sensitivity to antineutron appearance by three orders of magnitude over previous beam measurements,

thanks to key design elements incorporated into ESS facility planning: an unprecedented, Large Beam Port coupling cryogenic moderators to a neutron beamline and the availability of a roughly 300 m long footprint for the required drift of free neutrons through an evacuated beam tube to an annihilation target. The development of NNBAR relies on strong US NP scientific leadership as part of an international and multidisciplinary collaboration, and the earliest stage of the program at ESS is already approved. During the upcoming LRP, small-scale experiments at ORNL targeting complementary science provide early R&D opportunities in this LRP period as a staged program towards the future large scale, high sensitivity search beyond this decade.

Violation of baryon number B is one of Sakharov's required conditions to explain baryogenesis. Both BNV and LNV are predicted in the SM due to non-perturbative electroweak effects but are too small to be observed experimentally. The need for BSM BNV and LNV has motivated construction of large detectors in the past decades to search for proton decay, a $\Delta B = 1$ process which is now highly constrained [476] (and as the studied modes conserve $\Delta(B - L)$ these are unable to explain baryogenesis due to the sphaleron mechanism), and searches for $\Delta L = 2$ neutrinoless double beta decay to support leptogenesis [155], which is the highest priority recommendation from this field. Neutron-antineutron oscillations ($\Delta B = 2$) offer another, viable path for the BNV required for baryogenesis⁴. $\Delta B = 2$ processes not only provide a direct test of baryogenesis mechanisms, but also have a symbiotic relationship with the issue of neutrino masses and feature in a number of scenarios of physics beyond the Standard Model (recently summarized: [476, 478, 479]). Current limits correspond to new physics scales of ~100 TeV.

The most compelling approach for an improved search for $n \to \bar{n}$ uses free neutrons, which is background-free and theoretically cleanest. The last free neutron search at the ILL three decades ago was background-free, with the limit $\tau_{n\bar{n}} > 0.86 \times 10^8$ s (90 % C.L.) [480]. Since then, $n \to \bar{n}$ searches have been performed using a complementary approach in large volume detectors, with the best limit from SuperKamiokande of $\tau_{n\bar{n}} > 4.7 \times 10^8$ s (90 % C.L.) [481]. DUNE can reach $\tau_{n\bar{n}} > 5.53 \times 10^8$ s (90 % C.L.) [482] or beyond depending on how well backgrounds and other systematics are controlled [483]. Leveraging the significant advances in neutronics and detection technology in the past few decades, an improved search using free neutrons in NNBAR can reach $\tau_{n\bar{n}} \sim 10^{9-10}$ s [135].

The ESS, which will be the world's most powerful spallation source, has recognized particle physics as a priority [484]. In addition to the world-unique Large Beam Port and space for a 300 m beamline earmarked for NNBAR, an ESS team is also engaged in an optimization of the lower moderator for fundamental physics including NNBAR [485]. The NNBAR Conceptual Design Report is being prepared for late 2023 by institutes in Sweden, Denmark, Germany, France and the US, and should include an evaluation of the scope of experiment construction; progress was recently reported [486]. While the time horizon of NNBAR is beyond this LRP period and will require international collaboration and support, modest support for US-based R&D efforts in this decade to develop techniques and technology, and to understand effects such as neutron phase preserving collisions [487, 488] which can reduce the project scale, is needed. These efforts will ensure ongoing ESS construction is optimized for NNBAR, enable preparation for the next LRP period, and develop US NP workforce continuity (with key expertise in tracking calorimeter construction, neutron transport and neutron source technology) and leadership in the project.

A program of smaller scale searches for related $\Delta B = 1$ processes of sterile or "mirror" neutron oscillations $n \rightarrow n'$ [489] are underway through a collaborative effort between US universities, ORNL and ESS, addressing questions including BNV, the nature of dark matter, and anomalies such as the neutron lifetime discrepancy. Constraints here are weaker and were obtained using UCN disappearance [490–493] with some reported anomalous signals [494, 495] and using fast neutrons from reactors [496, 497]. At ORNL, cold neutron regeneration techniques [498] were used to exclude $n \rightarrow n'$ as an explanation for the neutron lifetime anomaly [134]. Further studies are ongoing, supported by DOE NP and Swedish Research Council

⁴ Searches for the $\Delta B = 2$ processes $e^- p \rightarrow e^+ \bar{p}$, $e^- p \rightarrow \bar{n}\bar{v}$, and $e^- n \rightarrow e^- \bar{n}$ have also been proposed at ARIEL [477].

+ ESS, which leverage the technical capabilities at ORNL including the Small Angle Neutron Scattering instrument at the High Flux Isotope Reactor through the General User program as well as expertise in neutron source, transport, and characterization [499, 500]. These early measurements inform a proposed high sensitivity search for $n \rightarrow n'$ in the dedicated HIBEAM experiment at ESS [135], where a low-sensitivity stage-0 $n \rightarrow n'$ project is approved and funded by ESS, and planned for 2027–2028. The later stages of HIBEAM are being designed with key US NP participation and are timely opportunities for this LRP period. The end goal of HIBEAM includes a first search for $n \rightarrow n' \rightarrow \bar{n}$ [501] and a low sensitivity search for $n \rightarrow \bar{n}$ at similar sensitivity to ILL. These developments in the next decade will lay the groundwork for a exceptional opportunity to improve experimental sensitivity to $n \rightarrow \bar{n}$ by ×1000 in the NNBAR experiment to address the critically important question of baryogenesis.

C. Properties of neutrinos and hypothetical light particles

1. Absolute neutrino mass measurements and sterile neutrinos

The existence of non-zero neutrino mass, established by a suite of neutrino flavor-oscillation experiments [502–509], is the first direct evidence of beyond-Standard-Model physics in a laboratory setting. Knowledge of the absolute neutrino-mass scale – not just the splittings that oscillation experiments measure between the neutrino-mass values $\{m_1, m_2, m_3\}$ – is essential information to understand how neutrino masses should be incorporated into the Standard Model [510]. The neutrino-mass scale is also crucial for other cutting-edge scientific investigations.

Since neutrinos comprised a significant fraction of the energy density in the early universe, their mass, energy spectrum, and associated collision-less damping scale shaped the formation of large-scale structure. The cosmic microwave background, including lensing, is imprinted with the signature of the neutrino mass. Recently, the Dark Energy Survey has inferred a limit of $\Sigma m_i < 0.13$ eV (95% C.L.) based on a combination of their own gravitational-lensing and galaxy-clustering data with data sets from baryon acoustic oscillations, Type Ia supernovae, redshift-space distortions, and the Planck cosmic-microwave-background measurement [511]; next-generation observations target a sensitivity allowing > 3σ detection of Σm_i , even at the normal-ordering floor of $\Sigma m_i = 0.06$ eV [512]. Of course, these tight bounds must be interpreted within the ΛCDM concordance model. As explored in, e.g., Ref. [146], external input on the mass scale will test and sharpen the cosmological standard model.

If neutrinos have a Majorana nature, the rate of neutrinoless double beta decay (Sec. V) depends on the effective neutrino-mass observable $\langle m_{\beta\beta} \rangle = |\sum U_{ei}^2 m_i|$ – presuming that the process is dominated by light-neutrino exchange. (Here, U_{ei} denotes the element of the PMNS matrix that couples the electron flavor to the *i*th neutrino-mass eigenvalue.) The next generation of experiments aims to probe the entire region allowed by the inverted mass ordering, and may even have sensitivity in the normal mass ordering case when the lightest neutrino mass eigenvalue is > 10 meV. However, if neutrinos are *not* Majorana fermions, then the neutrino-mass scale. Even in the case of Majorana fermions, it must also be noted that, if the lightest neutrino mass value is less than about 0.002 eV, $\langle m_{\beta\beta} \rangle$ is relatively insensitive to the mass scale in both the inverted and normal orderings.

The most sensitive direct (i.e., model-independent) way to measure neutrino mass is via high-precision spectroscopy of β decay near its endpoint [510]. The spectral shape reveals the neutrino-mass scale m_{β} :

$$m_{\beta}^{2} = \sum_{i=1}^{3} |U_{ei}|^{2} m_{i}^{2} = m_{1}^{2} + |U_{e2}|^{2} \Delta m_{21}^{2} + |U_{e3}|^{2} \Delta m_{31}^{2}$$
(7)

The mass-squared splittings Δm_{ij}^2 , measured in oscillation experiments, give a lower limit on m_β : $m_\beta > 0.048 \text{ eV}/c^2$ if m_3 is the lightest state (inverted ordering), and $m_\beta > 0.0085 \text{ eV}/c^2$ if m_1 is lightest (normal

ordering) (95% confidence level) [513]. This sensitivity arises directly from conservation of energy in β decay: the mass of the neutrino represents a packet of energy that the β cannot carry away.

Assuming CPT symmetry, a spectral measurement for any type of β decay – β^+ , β^- , or electron capture – can reveal m_β . In practice, a relatively low Q value is favored because it increases the fraction of decays that carry useful information about m_β . Significant effort has been invested in measuring spectra from ¹⁶³Ho electron-capture decays (Q = 2.83 keV), primarily by the ECHo [514] and HOLMES [515] collaborations; current efforts target a sensitivity on the order of $m_\beta < 20$ eV. However, direct m_β limits have historically been driven by the sensitivity achievable with tritium β decay, ³H \rightarrow ³He⁺ + β^- + $\bar{\nu}_e$, which is super-allowed with a Q value of 18.6 keV and a half-life of 12.3 years.

The Karlsruhe Tritium Neutrino (KATRIN) experiment has set the current world-best limit, $m_{\beta} < 0.8 \text{ eV}$ (90% C.L.) [136], using integral spectroscopy of β s from T₂ decay. These results, based on the two measurement campaigns in 2019 (Fig. 11), are statistics-limited; KATRIN operations have continued and the next neutrino-mass result, anticipated this year, is expected to achieve a sensitivity of about 0.5 eV. The collaboration is investigating several possible improvements to the experimental setup in order to further reduce systematic uncertainties, discriminate background events, and improve statistical power by transitioning to a differential beta-spectrum measurement. Dedicated neutrino-mass operations are planned to continue through 2025, after which the apparatus will also be able to search for keV-scale sterile neutrinos with the novel TRISTAN detector (see below). In 2027 and beyond, the KATRIN apparatus will be used as an R&D testbed for further tritium-based neutrino-mass work.



FIG. 11: Left: Top: Measured KATRIN endpoint tritium integrated spectra from the first and second neutrinomass measurement campaigns, along with the results of a joint fit with a common neutrino-mass-squared parameter. Center: Residuals from the two campaigns, normalized to the uncertainties. Bottom: Measurement time distribution. The "retarding energy" is the energy threshold set by the MAC-E filter. Adapted from Ref. [136]. **Right**: First tritium spectrum measured by Project 8 using CRES, along with Frequentist and Bayesian fits incorporating knowledge of the detector response. Figure from Ref. [139].

Meanwhile, the Project 8 collaboration is pursuing a new, frequency-based technique for measuring the energy spectrum of tritium beta decay. Cyclotron radiation emission spectroscopy (CRES) uses the microwave-frequency cyclotron emission from electrons in a magnetic field *B* to precisely measure their kinetic energy *K* via $f = eBc^2/(m_ec^2 + K)$ [516]. Due to the fW power levels, electron trapping for readout is essential. The technique was introduced in 2009 [516], with first verification and proof-of-concept measurement performed in 2014 using a gaseous ^{83m}Kr source of monoenergetic electrons [517]. Project 8 has now demonstrated this technology on tritium, extracting the world's first CRES neutrino-mass limit – $m_{\beta} < 180 \text{ eV} (90\% \text{ C.L.}) - \text{ after 82 live days (Fig. 11) [139].}$ To reach the targeted sensitivity of 0.04 eV, Project 8 must solve two primary R&D challenges. First, the imaged volume of tritium must be scaled up from the current 1 mm² to the m³ scale, likely using a microwave cavity at relatively low magnetic field. Second, once the m_{β} sensitivity improves to about 0.1 eV, the dominant systematic will become spectral broadening from rotational and vibrational molecular states populated by the β decay of T₂. Project 8 therefore plans to use an atomic T source, which will require cracking molecules; cooling atoms in stages; and then trapping cooled atoms in a magnetogravitational trap in the cavity. Project 8 has defined a sequence of milestones in addressing both of these challenges, leading by 2029 to the planned operation of a pilot-scale cavity-based T₂ neutrino-mass experiment (Phase III) with 1-eV sensitivity. This experiment is a crucial milestone for Phase IV, a full-scale atomic tritium experiment with 0.04-eV sensitivity, envisioned to be built and operated after this long-range planning period.

Additional candidates for ultra-low Q-value ground-state-to-excited-state decays (Q < 1 keV) have been proposed based on literature searches [141, 518, 519], but a program of precision measurements of the parent and daughter atomic masses, and of specific excitation energy levels, is required in order to establish whether these candidate transitions are energetically possible. For shortlisted candidates, the next steps would be to observe each specific decay experimentally, and then to perform R&D for neutrino-mass experiments.

As shown in Fig. 12, current and next-generation measurements of β decay provide interesting nonoscillation-based sensitivity to sterile neutrinos. For example, spectral measurements extending to sufficiently low energies are sensitive to the characteristic spectral distortion from a fourth neutrino-mass state m_4 . This distortion would be located at $E_0 - m_4$ with an amplitude set by the mixing angle θ_{14} . KATRIN has already set competitive limits on eV-scale sterile neutrinos [137, 138] based on its 2019 data. A planned detector upgrade, replacing the current 148-pixel silicon p-i-n diode with a 1500-pixel, high-rate TRISTAN silicon drift detector, will allow deep, high-rate spectral scans with sensitivity at the keV scale to begin in 2025 [520]. The Phase III and Phase IV Project 8 experiments will be sensitive to sterile neutrinos via the same mechanism, with the m_4 range determined by the achievable bandwidth.



FIG. 12: Achieved (solid) and projected (dashed) exclusion curves for sterile neutrinos from β -decay experiments. Figure from Ref. [521].

A low-*Q* isotope like T cannot be used to search for $m_4 \gtrsim 18$ keV. Here, the BeEST and HUNTER experiments offer an alternative path without spectral measurement: sterile-neutrino production can be probed by reconstructing momenta in a two-body electron-capture decay. For a discussion of progress and prospects in this area, see Section VI B 2.

Precise probes of β decay are sensitive to a broader range of beyond-Standard-Model signatures [521].



FIG. 13: Representative example of the scale of neutrino interaction cross section (for $\bar{v}_e e$ – elastic scattering) spanning the energy regimes of various neutrino sources across decades of neutrino energy. Figure from Ref. [526].

For example, KATRIN's first data set has already generated improved limits on the local relic-neutrino overdensity [522], and first limits on an observable related to possible Lorentz-invariance-violating operators [523]. Further experimental and theoretical advances will extend the reach of these precision weakforce probes.

Since the last long-range plan in 2015, β -decay experiments have entered a new era of precision. The direct, model-independent laboratory limit on the neutrino mass is now at the sub-eV level, approaching sensitivities that will test the cosmological Standard Model and the picture of neutrinoless double beta decay mediated by light-neutrino exchange. R&D into a new tritium spectroscopic technique may allow further neutrino-mass-sensitivity improvements of up to an order of magnitude. Combining spectroscopic and momentum measurements, β -decay experiments provide competitive, non-oscillation-based probes of sterile neutrinos over a wide mass range – from the eV scale suggested by oscillation anomalies, to keV- and 100s-of-keV candidates for warm dark matter. Continuing R&D into new candidate isotopes and measurement technologies could result in vital cross-checks and new sensitivities.

2. Neutrino scattering

Understanding of neutrino interactions with nuclei is deeply intertwined with many topics in nuclear physics. An accurate understanding of neutrino scattering from nuclei is required to extract information on neutrino properties from measurements of neutrino oscillations, to learn about astrophysical neutrinos from supernovae and other sources, and to search for BSM physics [524]. Neutrino experiments addressing these topics will provide insights on the nature of neutrino masses, the neutrino mass ordering, the presence of CP violation, and perhaps find exotic new physics in the neutrino sector (or beyond, in other sectors using neutrino detectors). The lack of an accurate understanding of nuclear effects constitutes an obstacle to these discoveries. Theoretical calculations with quantified uncertainties of neutrino-nucleon and neutrino-nucleus cross sections in the wide energy range probed by neutrinos are a prime requirement for progress [525]. Furthermore, neutrinos themselves are a tool to advance understanding of the properties of nuclei via scattering experiments.

The observable phenomena and understanding of neutrino interactions with matter is highly dependent on the energy regime. At the highest energies, neutrinos interact primarily with quarks inside nucleons and interactions can be highly destructive of the nuclear targets. At GeV energies, interactions are typically with nucleons inside nuclei; hadro-production and final-state interactions can be disruptive. At the MeV to few tens of MeV scale, nuclei may remain intact after neutrino interactions, but may shake off non-negligible debris. In the lowest energy regime, where low momentum-transfer interactions dominate, the primary interaction channel is coherent elastic neutrino-nucleus scattering (CEvNS), in which a nucleus recoils as an intact entity.

Here we focus on neutrino-related physics topics of particular interest to the Nuclear Physics community, along with related experimental opportunities and needs for theoretical input.

Neutrino-nucleus interactions in the GeV regime: Detailed understanding of neutrino interactions with nuclei in the GeV regime is especially important for interpretation of long-baseline neutrino oscillations [525]; argon, oxygen, and carbon are of particular interest for the worldwide long-baseline program, for which current-generation experiments are T2K and NOvA and next-generation experiments are DUNE and Hyper-K. There are numerous opportunities for GeV-scale cross-section measurements using the near detectors that are part of these programs. From the theoretical point of view, this energy regime is rather challenging as several different reaction channels are in play, including quasi-elastic, multi-nucleon effects, nucleons' knock-out and resonance processes, and deep inelastic scattering. There has been a significant progress in theoretical studies of neutrino-nucleus inclusive quasi-elastic scattering within ab initio methods based on many-nucleon interactions and electroweak currents derived from effective field theories and/or phenomenological approaches. Theoretical descriptions of inelastic channels and extensions of the ab initio framework to medium-mass nuclei of experimental interest should be vigorously addressed in the forthcoming years, along with a dedicated effort to reliably assess theoretical uncertainty. Of prime importance are also LQCD calculations of electroweak elastic and transition nucleonic form factors along with singleand double-nucleon couplings which serve as input for nuclear many-body calculations. Bridging the transition regions between medium- and high-energy theories, which use different degrees of freedom to describe neutrino-nucleus interactions, is also among the main challenges the community is facing. Additionally, simulations of neutrino-nucleus interaction through neutrino event generators play a crucial role in experimental data analysis. Given the highly interdisciplinary nature of this field, initiatives aimed at enhancing and fostering collaborations among all the involved areas of expertise, including nuclear and high energy theory, event generators, computation, and experiment, would be highly beneficial for progress [527]. (See also Secs. IX A 1 and VII, on computation and theory needs.)

Electron-nucleus scattering: One area of particular interest is that of electron-nucleus scattering experiments [525, 528]. While the underlying primary interaction is different for neutrino and electron probes of nuclei, much of the nuclear and hadronic physics is shared. Limited understanding of the final-state physics is what drives much of the interaction uncertainties, and hence electron scattering measurements, which can be done with high precision and large statistics (in contrast to neutrino scattering), allow reduction of uncertainties and precision tuning of event generators. Specific experimental efforts include, for example, E12-14-012 in JLab Hall A [529–531], the ongoing e4nu effort [528], the future LDMX experiment at SLAC [532], A1 at MAMI, and eALBA [528]. All of these are at the GeV scale and are extremely important to precisely validate nuclear models against the bulk of accurate experimental data [525, 528].

Few to few tens of MeV regime: At lower energies, in the few to few tens of MeV range, there are different motivations for understanding of cross sections. Interactions of neutrinos with nuclei in this range are especially important for understanding of neutrinos from core-collapse supernovae [533], both for understanding of processes inside the supernova itself (including nucleosynthesis) and also for interpretation of supernova burst neutrino data in large terrestrial detectors [534]. The materials of interest for specific detectors include argon, oxygen, carbon and lead. Interactions of relevance include charged-current interactions as well as neutral-current excitations. For such inelastic interactions, the observable energies are of the scale of the neutrino energy. Several theoretical studies exist for these rates; however, a modern re-examination within the microscopic nuclear approach based on many-nucleon interactions and currents from effective field theories is needed. Neutrinos from stopped-pion sources are near-ideal for measuring cross sections.

in this energy range. Such neutrinos come in two flavors (*e* and μ) with a precisely known spectrum. Furthermore, pulsed beams can provide powerful background rejection. Experimental programs with ability to measure inelastic neutrino interactions in this range are COHERENT at the Oak Ridge National Laboratory Spallation Neutron Source [535], and Coherent Captain Mills at Los Alamos National Laboratory [536]. COHERENT has made preliminary measurements of inelastic cross sections on lead and ¹²⁷I [537, 538].

This energy regime is also characteristic of neutrinoless double beta decay, where the energy and momentum transfer are of the order of few MeV and hundreds of MeV/c, respectively. The same electroweak single- and many-nucleon currents entering neutrino-nucleus scattering also induce single- and double-beta decay [539]. A thorough theoretical understanding of this kinematic region is essential for the computation of neutrinoless double beta decay nuclear matrix elements required to extract the neutrino absolute mass scale from the experimental rates (if observed.) See also Sec. VIC1 on absolute neutrino mass measurements.

Coherent elastic neutrino-nucleus scattering: The lowest momentum transfer regime is that of coherent elastic neutrino-nucleus scattering, or CEvNS. In CEvNS interactions, a neutrino interacts with a nucleus in such a way that the nucleus recoils with the constituent nucleons in phase. The cross section for this process scales approximately as N^2 , where N is the neutron number, leading to significant enhancement with respect to inelastic interactions for which scattering is primarily off individual nucleons. This interaction was first observed in 2017 by COHERENT at a stopped-pion source [143], and has now been observed in CsI [540] and Ar [144]. The main experimental challenge for CEvNS detection is the tiny nuclear recoil energies, for which maximum recoil scales as $2E_v^2/M$, where M is the mass of the nucleus.⁵ CEvNS at reactors, where neutrino energies are an order of magnitude lower than at stopped-pion sources, has yet to be observed, due to the severe challenge of sub-keV nuclear recoil detection. Nevertheless many experiments are underway [541]. Ref. [541] provides an overview of the physics reach of CEvNS experiments.

Although the form factor uncertainties in the very low momentum transfer regime of reactor neutrinos are small, the nuclear uncertainties for predictions of CEvNS cross sections for neutrinos in the few tens of MeV regime are at the few percent level [542]. At experimental precision larger than the nuclear structure uncertainty, CEvNS observation serves as a SM test, and can probe non-standard interactions of neutrinos and nuclei. CEvNS can also probe electromagnetic properties of nuclei. Furthermore because the interaction is flavor-blind up to a few percent level [542–544], it can be used for robust sterile oscillation searches and look for disappearance of active neutrinos. CEvNS is sensitive to the weak charge of the nucleus, and is complementary to PVES experiments. If experimental uncertainties can be reduced to the percent level or better, the measurements probe nuclear structure beyond current knowledge. Precision CEvNS measurements can constrain nuclear form factors, and hence neutron radius and neutron skin.

Experiments with nuclear recoil sensitivity also have BSM physics capability, for example via search for accelerator-produced dark matter (e.g. [545]) and axion-like particles (e.g. [546]) at stopped-pion neutrino sources.

A new program at the ORNL Second Target Station [547] will provide opportunities for measurements of both inelastic and CEvNS interactions in a variety of targets, as well as a broad BSM search program. Figure 14 shows some potential future nuclear targets.

Connections to HEP and astrophysics: Problems in neutrino scattering have deep and broad impacts beyond the NP program. Connections of particular relevance to the HEP community are highlighted in the 2021 Snowmass LOIs, white papers [525], Topical Group Reports [549, 550] and Frontier Reports [551, 552]. In particular, understanding of neutrino scattering at GeV scale is of great importance for interpretation of

⁵ For detectors which aim also to observe inelastic neutrino-nucleus interactions, for which cross sections are typically two orders of magnitude lower but for which observable energies are a 2-3 orders of magnitude higher, a further challenge is dynamic range of energy sensitivity.



FIG. 14: Flux-averaged CEvNS cross sections as a function of neutron number, from Ref. [548], with several potential future nuclear targets highlighted in red. The highlighted targets are not intended to be a comprehensive set, but rather several for which particular, known-to-be-feasible detector technologies have been proposed for CEvNS measurements. From Ref. [547]

long-baseline experiments such as LBNF/DUNE. Neutrino-nucleus interactions are furthermore relevant for BSM searches pursued within NP and HEP over a broad range of energies, via direct searches for non-standard neutrinos interactions, and as background for other new physics accessible in neutrino beams (see, e.g., [541, 553–555]). The connections to astrophysics are furthermore numerous. Understanding of CEvNS matters for interpretation of direct-dark-matter-search experimental data as the experimental sensitivity reaches to the "neutrino floor" (or "fog") [556]. Another example is understanding of interactions in the tens of MeV regime, relevant for the understanding of supernova dynamics, for interpretation of the supernova neutrino signal, and for understanding of nucleosynthesis, as discussed in more depth in the following section.

3. Solar Neutrino Measurements

The sun is a powerful laboratory for the study of both nuclear and particle physics. The nuclear reactions that power the sun produce more neutrinos than any other source natural or artificial. This enables precision tests of our understanding of both low-energy nuclear reactions and the interactions of neutrinos. Nuclear physics has been the steward of these studies including the Nobel Prize winning SNO experiment which proved that solar neutrinos change flavor on their journey from the sun [504]. This foundational result underpins the vast neutrino program that is at the heart of major efforts in both nuclear and high energy physics.

There are still many critical outstanding questions that remain see Ref. [557]. Among these is an unambiguous observation of the predicted behavior from the MSW effect, which should be manifested in both an asymmetry in the solar neutrino v_e flux between day and night, and in a transition between the matterenhanced and vacuum-only oscillations, which occurs between about 1 and 5 MeV. The vacuum/matter transition is particularly sensitive to new physics scenarios, particularly those involving non-standard neutrino interactions. A more precise measurement of the CNO-cycle neutrinos than BOREXINO has made would also allow a clear discrimination between models of solar core metallicity, with implications for solar system formation. Lastly, as the founder of the field John Bahcall had always stressed, a precision measurement (at the 1% level) of the *pp* solar flux (or, possibly the *pep* flux), would allow a real 'unitarity' test of the solar luminosity: any deviation from the total energy measured by the Sun's photons would indicate either new energy-generating, or energy-loss mechanisms.

Experiments with potential sensitivity to the CNO neutrinos and the MSW transition region include perhaps JUNO—depending on its background levels at its depth—and Theia, a proposed experiment that might also be a platform for a neutrinoless double beta decay experiment with sensitivity beyond the normal ordering. The day/night effect should be measurable with precision by DUNE, which can see solar ⁸B and hep neutrinos above about 9 MeV or so. Some of the planned LXe dark matter experiments can see the pp solar neutrinos, but a 1% measurement will be challenging, and likely requires some new ideas and dedicated R&D.

4. Neutrinos in astrophysics and cosmology

Neutrinos from the cosmos represent a new frontier, where rapid progress is taking place. Several sources contribute to the neutrino flux from space, spanning several orders of magnitude in energy. Here we review the main ones, and discuss the potential of neutrinos from these natural sources to complement the laboratory program on FSNN.

The Cosmological neutrino Background (CvB). These are the relic neutrinos and antineutrinos, of all flavors, left over from the protracted epoch in the early universe when the neutrino component decoupled. This weak decoupling epoch, proceeding between temperatures $T \sim 5 \,\text{MeV}$ and $T \sim 100 \,\text{keV}$, in the standard model produces roughly relativistic Fermi-Dirac black body energy spectra for all neutrino and antineutrino flavors. Subsequent to decoupling, these free-falling neutrinos red shift, with momenta proportional to the inverse scale factor, so that at the current epoch we expect characteristic neutrino kinetic energies of the order of $\sim 10^{-4}$ eV. These neutrinos have never been detected directly. However, their participation in weak reactions, especially their isospin-changing charged-current reactions that inter-convert neutrons and protons, as well as their contribution to the radiation and matter content of the Universe are probed indirectly by several cosmological observables. These include the Big Bang Nucleosynthesis (BBN) light element abundances, the Cosmic Microwave Background (CMB) energy spectrum and anisoptropies, the spectra of Large Scale Structures (LSS), and more. Anticipated Stage-4 CMB experiments promise high precision (better than one percent) determinations of $N_{\rm eff}$ (a measure of the radiation energy density at photon decoupling at $T \approx 0.2 \,\text{eV}$) and the primordial helium abundance. The advent of 10m-class optical telescopes likewise promise better than one percent determinations of the primordial deuterium abundance. These high precision measurements of N_{eff}, deuterium, and helium will sharpen up constraints on BSM physics in the the neutrino sector. Some observables, like those associated with the small-scale end of large scale structure, are sensitive to the scale of the neutrino mass, and specifically to the sum of the neutrino masses, $m_{tot} = \sum_i m_i$. One of the main causes of sensitivity is the fact that neutrinos being massive alters the cosmological evolution of matter perturbations, which are suppressed on scales smaller than the neutrino free-streaming length, which is inversely proportional to the neutrino mass, $L_{fs} \propto 1/m_{tot}$. Recent high precision cosmological data - mainly on the CMB and LSS spectra - constrain m_{tot} to be below the eV scale, reaching a sensitivity that approaches 0.1 eV, where it becomes possible to test the inverted mass hierarchy hypothesis (see fig. 15); future cosmological surveys may improve the sensitivity down to the 0.01 eV scale. On the other hand, if the neutrino mass hierarchy is determined experimentally, for example via long baseline neutrino oscillation experiments, then these cosmological/CMB observations can be turned around and in essence can probe the neutrino collision-less damping scale and, hence, the relic neutrino energy spectrum. See, e.g., [558] for a recent review. It is expected that cosmological and laboratory tests of the neutrino mass will be complementary, perhaps facilitating distinguishing between potentially degenerate scenarios. For example, a limitation of cosmological constraints is the degeneracy with the effect of the Dark Energy density at low redshifts. On the other hand, the mixing-independent cosmological constraints on the total mass m_{tot} , when combined with laboratory tests which are mixing-dependent, could help disentangle the uncertainty on the masses from those on the elements of the mixing matrix.



FIG. 15: From [558]: current and forecast sensitivity of cosmological surveys to $m_{tot} = \sum_i m_i$ (horizontal shaded regions), as well as a recent upper bound from the laboratory experiment KATRIN (vertical region). The curves show examples of the predicted value of m_{tot} depending on the lightest of the three neutrino masses, for normal and inverted mass hierarchy (labels on curves).

Cosmological tests of the CvB could reveal the existence of light sterile neutrinos, like those at the eV mass scale, that are motivated by a number of laboratory anomalies. The minimal framework, where one or more such neutrinos are added to Standard Model, is disfavored by cosmological data. Indeed, for the masses and mixings favored by the anomalies, the interplay of flavor oscillations and collisions would lead to v_s being efficiently produced in the Early Universe, leading to an $N_{eff} \simeq 4$ (see fig. 16), which is in tension with the measured value $N_{eff} \simeq 2.99 \pm 0.33$ from the CMB and other probes (see [558] and references therein). The tension could be resolved, however, in non-minimal scenarios where other non-Standard elements are introduced that would suppress the production of v_s . Examples are models with a large lepton asymmetry in the neutrino sector or perhaps other BSM physics. The anticipated higher precision measurements from Stage-4 CMB and extremely large telescopes discussed above may be able to constrain or probe these BSM scenarios.

Directly detecting the CvB is possible, although difficult. The most promising method is based on the threshold-less capture of v_e on Tritium, for which the signature consists of an excess of electrons separated by $2m_v$ from the endpoint of the Tritium β decay spectrum. This is the principle behind the proposed PTOLEMY experiment [559]. Interestingly, this process is sensitive to the nature of the neutrino as a Dirac (D) or Majorana (M) fermion: the capture rate is predicted to be larger (by factor of ~2) for the Majorana case, as a consequence of the neutrinos propagating as helicity eigenstates and being (at least the heaviest one) non-relativistic today. Values of the rates for 100 g of Tritium target are $\Gamma^M \simeq 8.1 \text{ yr}^{-1}$ and $\Gamma^D \simeq 4.1 \text{ yr}^{-1}$ respectively.

Supernova neutrinos. Core collapse supernovae are the most powerful known neutrino sources, with $\mathcal{O}(10^{53})$ ergs of energy emitted in neutrinos by each of them. This copious neutrino emission is a direct result of the collapse of the core of a massive star, after the star has exhausted its fission power and has become hydrodynamically unstable. A thermal population (temperatures in the $\mathcal{O}(10)$ MeV range) of neutrinos forms in the very dense region immediately surrounding the collapsed core, and then is rapidly emitted after a shockwave is launched, resulting in a ~ 10 s-long neutrino burst that is detectable of Earth. Although supernovae are abundant in the Universe, modern neutrino detectors are limited in sensitivity to our galaxy and its immediate neighborhood, and therefore the detection of a supernova neutrinos burst is a rare event. It has occurred only once, in 1987, with the low-statistics detection from SN1987A. When the next galactic supernova occurs, detectors at the 10 kt mass scale will record hundreds or thousands of neutrino events, enabling high statistics tests of the physics of stellar collapse and of the properties of neutrinos. An alternative avenue is to observe the continuous, diffuse neutrino flux from all the supernovae

in the universe (the Diffuse Supernova Neutrino Background, DSNB). This flux has evaded detection so far, however low-background neutrino detectors like the current SuperK-Gd, and the upcoming DUNE and JUNO, could achieve the first observation within the next 5-10 years; see, e.g., [560].

Supernova neutrinos are produced and propagate in extreme conditions of temperature, density and scales of distance, which could not be replicated on Earth. In such conditions, BSM phenomena that elude laboratory searches could become evident. For example, sterile neutrinos could be efficiently produced via their mixing with the active species, and contribute to the cooling of the collapsed core at an observable level. They could also change the flavor oscillation pattern of the active neutrinos, with testable consequences on the synthesis of the heavy elements inside the star. Furthermore, competitive bounds could be obtained on other BSM effects that require a very long propagation baseline to appear, like neutrino decay or absorption effects due to light force mediators.

Complementary to cosmology, a supernova neutrino burst can be used to make a time-of-flight test of the neutrino mass. The idea consists of measuring energy- and mass-dependent deviation of the neutrino velocity from the speed of light, which results in a time delay $\delta t \simeq 5(m/eV)^2(E/10 \ MeV)^{-2}(D/10 \ kpc)$ ms. The long propagation distance ($D \sim 10$ kpc for a galactic supernova) and the presence of short time-scale features in the neutrino burst, such as the $\sim 1 - 10$ ms-long neutronization burst allow a sensitivity to mass values slightly below 1 eV, see [510] for a review.

High energy neutrinos from cosmic accelerators. In the last decade, the km³ antarctic facility IceCube has observed a diffuse flux of 0.1-1 PeV neutrinos from outside our galaxy, which is consistent with a hadronic origin in cosmic ray accelerators. Recently, some of the detected neutrinos have been associated with individual sources, leading to the confirmation that part of the observed flux comes from the cores of active galaxies, and likely also from flares in star-shredding black holes. Still, a large fraction of the flux has unidentified origin and many possibilities are open (see [561, 562] for reviews). Complementary to its primary mission in multimessenger astronomy, IceCube has used this high energy astrophysical neutrinoflux to perform tests of the neutrino-nucleon cross sections at center-of-mass energies ccomparable to particle accelerators. Results are consistent with Standard Model predictions. In the near future, more advanced detectors like the planned IceCube-Gen2 could measure this cross section above the center of mass energy of the Large Hadron Collider (LHC), where signatures of BSM hypotheses like large extra dimensions, sphalerons and color-glass condensates could be found. Similarly to supernova neutrinos, the analysis of the flavor composition and energy spectrum of the high energy astrophysical neutrinos allows several tests of BSM properties of neutrinos, like couplings to new forces or new particles, sterile neutrino species, and violations of the Lorentz invariance and of CTP symmetry; see, e.g. [512, 563].



FIG. 16: From [564]: contours of constant values of N_{eff} (labels of curves) for a sterile neutrino with mixing to only one of the active species (α in the figure), in the parameter space of the mass squared difference between mass eigenstates, $\Delta m_{41}^2 = m_4^2 - m_1^2$ and element of the flavor mixing matrix, $|U_{\alpha 4}|^2$. The normal mass hierarchy is assumed. The dashed contours show the allowed regions (99.7% CL) from DANSS+NEOS reactor experiments; the dash-dotted lines show the exclusion constraints (99.7% CL) from muon (anti)neutrino disappearance.

5. Connections to dark matter

Laboratory and astrophysical probes of dark matter overlap and leverage both the neutrino physics and fundamental symmetries issues discussed above. Revealed through motions in galaxies and clusters of galaxies, the existence of a dark component in the universe has been known for going on a century. Fundamental nuclear physics, i.e., BBN, coupled with observational determinations of the primordial deuterium abundance established that this dark component could not be baryonic. This conclusion was later confirmed by measurements of the CMB anisotopies. These revealed our most precise value for the ratio of baryons to photons, $\approx 6.1 \times 10^{-10}$. The upshot is that baryons can account for only some 4% of the closure density, while dark energy and dark matter comprise the lion's share of the rest. In fact, the non-relativistic component of the non-baryonic closure contribution, the dark matter, makes up about a quarter of the closure density, roughly 5 times the baryon rest mass contribution. What this is remains unknown.

The dark matter may be several entities or one, with a host of proposed dark matter candidates. These include primordial black holes (PBHs), sterile neutrinos, dark sector particles and, the long popular favorite, weakly interacting massive particles (WIMPS). The latter candidate has been attractive because a thermal freeze-out with weak-scale interaction with standard model particles could give the correct relic density for dark matter. However, these same interactions allow for collider, direct and indirect detection probes. So far these have found no compelling signatures for a dark matter particle. Variants that could have evaded detection with current experiments/observations do remain, including ideas built around super symmetry. A key frontier for nuclear theory/nuclear structure lays in calculating the WIMP-nucleus scattering cross sections for spin-independent and spin-dependent channels. These are important for interpreting the results of the large scale direct detection experiments, such as the liquid xenon experiments. The technology of these detectors is addressed above in the discussion on neutrino-less double beta decay searches in, for example, nEXO. A salient frontier in the interface of experiment and theory is understanding the response of these detectors for light dark matter candidates, where the nuclear recoil energy will be low.

The strong CP problem can be addressed with an elegant solution, Peccei-Quinn symmetry breaking and the resultant axion. That particle is an excellent cold dark matter (CDM) candidate. Moreover, the axion idea has given rise to many variants, or ALPS (axion-like particles). Again, the overlap with nuclear physics is twofold, involving a variety of detection modalities, and potential effects in compact objects resulting from capture of these particles.

Observations and simulations of LSS evolution suggest that dark matter is more or less collision-less, at least on large scales. However, there is hot debate about whether dark matter, or a component of it, could have "self interactions" that might help explain puzzles such as the core/cusp issue in a range of halos with different masses and the velocity morphology observed in these halos. The working hypothesis for avoiding the invocation of self-interactions is that a completely collision-less dark component can be compatible with observed structure if "baryonic feedback" is taken into account. Baryons can dissipate, sink to the bottom of potential wells and dominate the local gravitational potential. If some of those baryons form stars, some of which are massive and explode and eject baryons, then some dark matter will move to higher orbits, for example softening a cusp of dark matter into a "core."

This presents an obvious connection to nuclear astrophysics. Namely, nucleosynthesis is associated with those exploding massive stars. Nucleosynthesis could, in principle, then provide an independent constraint on the mass assembly and structure formation histories of halos. This connection between the arguments about the nature of dark matter on the one hand, and the synthesis of nuclei on the other, in effect couples in all of the discussion in the last section on neutrinos and compact object evolution - and nucleosynthesis, including r-process nucleosynthesis that is sensitive to frontier issues in neutrino physics as discussed above.

Though the baryonic feedback mechanism may be capable of explaining most of the issues with galaxy/structure morphology, it cannot operate without enough baryons. Ultra faint dwarf galaxies (UFDs) likely do not have enough baryons for effective feedback amelioration of the core/cusp issues. However, the UFDs are mostly dark matter, with possibly not enough stars to give a definitive observational determination

of the dark matter distribution in these objects.

There is another reason to contemplate a dark sector with physics perhaps as rich as the standard model, but different: Baryon rest mass is $\sim 20\%$ of the total non-relativistic dark component. That suggests that, instead of a thermal freeze-out, perhaps the dark particles have an origin crudely similar to the origin of the net baryon number in the standard model. This asymmetric dark matter idea has give rise to a large number of possibilities for dark sector scenarios, including the production of dark composite particles, i.e., dark atoms or dark nuclei.

The only thing we know for certain is that we share gravitation and spacetime with a putative dark sector. In some models, standard model particles could mix at small levels with corresponding dark sector particle partners. A connection with the experimental nuclear physics enterprise in this case is the same as discussed above: Detector response physics. A connection to the nuclear theory effort revolves around the many body physics of, for example, dark sector composites, and to the possible capture of dark sector particles (dark matter) in stars and compact objects. The latter possibility again couples in the discussion in the last section on compact objects and neutrinos. Dark matter-induced neutron star implosion, and dark matter capture effects in white dwarfs and other objects may provide constraints on some dark sector models, as well as suggesting new kinds of observations for multi-messenger astrophysics.

The neutrino sector, discussed at length in the last section, is replete with unknown physics, especially regarding the origin of neutrino rest mass, the nature (Majorana or Dirac) of the neutrino, and lepton number violation. All of these issues are important for compact object physics and cosmology as discussed above. They may also play a role in the dark matter puzzle.

For example, our working "explanation" for why neutrinos are so light compared to the other fermions in their respective elementary particle families is the see-saw model. That model invokes ultra-heavy sterile neutrinos. Variants of that model, for example, a "split see-saw," could provide for lighter sterile states. Ordinary active neutrino scattering-induced decoherence, and lepton number resonantly-enhanced versions of this process, could build up a relic sea of sterile neutrino that could represent a significant dark matter component if these sterile states are mostly a mass state with rest mass $\sim \text{keV}$ to $\sim 10\text{keV}$. Alternatively, models can invoke a thermalized sea of sterile neutrinos at high temperature in the early universe that subsequently decouples and is diluted by the out-of-equilibrium decay of some other particle, maybe even another sterile state. The range of possible scenarios is breathtakingly, perhaps depressingly, large.

However, X-ray astronomy provides our very best probe of this putative sector of particle physics. In fact, the small mixing with active neutrinos required for the simple freeze-in (scattering-induced decoherence) scenario for a significant dark matter contribution, also provides for a non-GIM suppressed radiative decay channel for these sterile neutrinos. The X-ray observations rule out the simplest models and provide a key probe for the more baroque models. Interestingly, the next generation of proposed X-ray observatories, for example XRISM and ATHENA, will have high precision X-ray energy resolution that could tag an X-ray line from a galaxy cluster as having a dark matter origin – as a collision-less particle it would have a virial width and not the smaller thermal width associated with lines from heavy ions.

The connection of this dark matter physics with nuclear theory is exotic and unique in this case: Active neutrino scattering in the high entropy and energy density (low baryon number) quark-gluon plasma of the early universe. Moreover, this process plays out mostly around the epoch of the QCD transition, making sterile neutrino relic densities and relic energy spectra sensitive to BSM extensions in the QCD sector. In fact, to come full circle, many dark matter models, including WIMP contributions to CDM are sensitive to new physics in the QCD sector, if for no other reason than for the dilution associated with the epoch at which the quarks and gluons are incorporated into color singlets.

All of these dark matter issues, and their connections to both laboratory and theoretical nuclear physics, were discussed in the *Dark Matter in Compact Objects and Low Energy Experiments* workshop at the Institute for Nuclear Theory, University of Washington, in August 2022. We refer the reader to the INT website for this meeting [565] and the talks and seminars included there.

VII. RECOMMENDATION III: THEORY

Assessing the implications of the experiments discussed in this whitepaper requires accurate input from nuclear theory. The US fundamental-symmetries/neutrinos community has played a special role in strengthening ties to particle physics and astrophysics, helping to build appreciation for the continued relevance of the entire field. Our contributions to topics such as neutrino mass and lepton number conservation, the structure of neutron stars, and the dynamics of supernovae and neutron-star mergers are widely recognized.

Theoretical work in FSNN physics is thus rewarding, but also extremely challenging. The reason is that the important problems involve physics at several different scales. As we've noted, observable effects of new physics in hadronic and nuclear environments are generated at energies that range from those of nuclear levels all the way up the scale of new physics. Understanding the effects requires expertise in areas that include

- Phenomenology & Effective Field Theory (EFT): This capability is essential for understanding the impact of nuclear probes of BSM physics in the broader context of cosmology and high-energy physics. Work is required to compare the sensitivity of nuclear probes to complementary collider and cosmological probes, and to build towers of effective field theories that bridge theories at different energy scales, with different degrees of freedom. Perturbative EFTs such as the Standard Model EFT and its low-energy version (LEFT) allow for the evolution of BSM interactions from the scale of new physics down to low-energy scales at which QCD is nonperturbative. At nuclear scales, hadronic EFTs can be used to systematically organize nuclear interactions induced by BSM physics.
- 2. *Hadronic Physics*: Matching the hadronic operators to quark and gluon operators requires a coordinated effort between lattice QCD and the EFTs. Great progress has been made in recent years, with single-nucleon matrix elements determined with a full uncertainty budget of a few percent from lattice QCD. Applications to fundamental symmetries pose a new set of challenges: the calculation of four-point functions (for nucleon EDMs and radiative corrections to β decays), the complicated renormalization of higher-dimensional operators on the lattice, the calculation of nucleon-nucleon scattering amplitudes in the presence of symmetry-violating interactions (needed for studies of $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay and of time-reversal and parity violation in nuclei).
- 3. Nuclear Structure & Reactions: Accurate calculations of nuclear structure and reactions with quantified theoretical uncertainties are required to disentangle new physics from nuclear effects. Microscopic many-body methods based on EFT interactions and currents provide us with paths for achieving this goal. The past few years have seen tremendous progress towards the evaluation of nuclear matrix elements relevant to the fundamental symmetries program, including those for single-and double-beta decay, EDMs, hadronic parity violation, and lepton-nucleus scattering. The challenge is to develop a comprehensive theory of nuclear dynamics in the wide range of energy and momentum probed by the experimental programs in FSNN.

In the following subsections we provide examples of recent progress and future prospects for FSNN theory, followed by a discussion of serious workforce challenges and recommended actions to ensure a healthy FSNN theoretical workforce.

A. Progress and prospects

1. Neutrinoless double-beta decay and LNV

The interpretation of $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay experiments and, in case of discovery, the identification of the underlying mechanism behind a signal require an ambitious theoretical program, with several interconnected com*LNV phenomenology:* Here we need to explore models of LNV and neutrino mass that go beyond the high-scale see-saw paradigm, and test them against the results both of $0\nu\beta\beta$ -decay experiments and of other experiments at all energy scales. The other experiments include those with low-energy neutrinos, at high energy colliders, in astrophysics, and in cosmology (e.g., to connect TeV-scale LNV with leptogenesis). Recent highlights [34–37] and future prospects are discussed in detail in Ref. [539].

Hadronic and nuclear matrix elements: In this broad program, the goal is to compute $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay rates with minimal model dependence and quantified theoretical uncertainty by advancing progress in particle and nuclear EFTs, lattice QCD, and *ab initio* nuclear-many-body methods. At the time of the 2015 LRP, nuclear matrix elements from a wide variety of many-body approaches — the QRPA, the Shell Model, DFT and the IBM — had been computed, but results for important nuclei varied by factors 2-3, with no guarantee that the correct matrix elements were within the spread (see [567] and a more recent update in [157]). It is difficult to assess the quality of any of these calculations and to compare them because, for example, they each use empirical interactions that are not appropriate for other methods, and they each make *ad hoc* assumptions about the effects of short-range correlation on the transition. To tackle such problems, the Lattice-QCD, EFT and nuclear-structure communities launched a collaborative effort to develop a consistent, systematically improvable framework for *ab initio* matrix elements: EFT to specify the form of the decay operator, a combination of lattice QCD, modeling, and fitting to determine the constants that multiply particular terms in the operator, and *ab initio* nuclear-structure theory to solve the nuclear many-body problem and compute the final matrix element. Encouraging progress has been made in the last few years on all aspects of the problem.

On the EFT front, a comprehensive framework for $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay was developed both for light Majorananeutrino exchange [22, 568, 569] and TeV-scale mechanisms [21, 570, 571], with the inclusion of sterile neutrinos [572]. In lattice QCD good progress has been made for the $\pi^-\pi^- \rightarrow ee$ process [24–27] and towards two-nucleon amplitudes [573, 574]. The error in each of these steps (EFT truncation, effective couplings, and nuclear structure) can in principle be quantified, and will eventually lead to a matrix element with a meaningful uncertainty.

An important result from the effort to develop consistent EFT interactions and transition operators is the discovery that the exchange of high-momentum virtual neutrinos between nucleons contributes nonnegligibly to the decay, and in ways that cannot simply be modeled by nucleon form factors or short-range correlations between nucleons. In the systematic EFT approach, this physics manifests itself as an additional term in the $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay operator with zero range [22]. Recently, a calculation of the $nn \rightarrow pp$ amplitude near threshold was carried out with dispersion-theory techniques truncated to the elastic two-nucleon channel [575, 576]. This has allowed nuclear-structure practitioners [577] to determine the coefficient of the contact term and implement it in calculations, where it leads to a non-negligible and robust enhancement of the NMEs.

Nuclear-structure theory itself has seen a number of important developments. Ab inito techniques seem to have almost fully explained the systematic over-prediction of single- β decay rates referred to as " g_A quenching." A combination of correlations that have escaped phenomenological models (such as the shell model and the QRPA) and two-body weak currents (corresponding to meson exchange during the decay) are responsible. Both mechanisms have been investigated within $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay. Both effects reduce those matrix elements as well, though the effects of two-body currents are still not fully quantified. The effects we can quantify are small effects, but another zero-range term with an unknown coefficient has yet to be assessed.

Several *ab initio* methods have now been applied to the decay of ⁴⁸Ca, and matrix elements for ⁷⁶Ge and ⁸²Se are starting to come in as well (see Ref. [566]). The new matrix elements, especially in Ge, are smaller

than those produced by phenomenological models, but just how much smaller is an open question because theoretical uncertainty is still significant.

What are the next steps [566] in the theory program?

- The *ab initio* methods must continue to improve. These approaches are defined through truncation schemes that provide systematic convergence to an exact result. However, less truncation also implies significantly greater computational costs; this is the main reason current truncation schemes are more restrictive than we would like.
- The coefficients of the EFT decay operators must be fully specified, including those that appear in sub-leading order, such as in the two-body currents. This program can be carried out by studying systems of two and three nucleons through a combination of EFT, dispersive methods, and ultimately lattice QCD.
- Hadronic and nuclear matrix elements relevant for TeV-scale LNV mechanisms require more dedicated study. The nuclear-structure community has thus far focused almost exclusively on lightneutrino exchange.
- The community must carry out a robust uncertainty-quantification program, as laid out in detail in Ref. [566]. This in itself will require several steps:
 - Quantifying the EFT truncation error by performing nuclear calculations with interactions and transition operators truncated at different orders.
 - Developing "emulators" for the *ab initio* methods surrogates that can approximate the results of the method they emulate in much less time. That step will allow us to examine correlations between observables, vary Bayesian priors, construct posteriors, etc. Emulators exist for some methods but for others their development will require more work.
 - Deciding how to combine the predictions of various methods to produce a single matrix element with an uncertainty that reflects the community's confidence in each method. Here an analysis of the ability of methods to reproduce observables correlated with the $0\nu\beta\beta$ matrix element is essential. Carrying it out means first quantifying the correlations, and then examining all predictions of all models, which can be "scored" so that one can decide how much weight to give their predictions for $0\nu\beta\beta$ matrix elements.

Carrying out the multi-pronged theoretical program outlined here is an integral part of a successful USled $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay campaign. Seeing it through will require more resources than we have at present, in the form both of person power and of computational power.

2. CP violation and EDMs

Since the last Long Range Plan, a significant amount of work has been carried out to systematically connect the EFT of BSM physics valid at the EW scale, such as the SM Effective Field Theory (SMEFT) [578, 579], with the phenomenology of EDMs [66–69], in order to provide a clear picture of the possible blind directions not constrained by EDMs, and thus of the complementary probes of flavor-diagonal CPV to be investigated at the LHC. For example, the left panel of Fig. 4 illustrates the complementary sensitivities of present and future EDM experiments (red regions) and the High Luminosity LHC (blue region) to CP-violating couplings of the Higgs boson to photons and Z bosons. For a more detailed discussion, we refer to the Snowmass white paper [70], and references therein. The framework can then be used to constrain

explicit models, such as the mLRSM [580–582], leptoquark models [583, 584], or scenarios with new light particles, such as axions [585, 586].

Integrating out BSM physics and heavy SM particles, flavor diagonal CPV at low-energy can be described in terms of effective operators with photons, leptons, quarks and gluons. The minimal set involves a dimension-4 operator, the QCD $\bar{\theta}$ term [587, 588], the dimension-5 lepton electric, quark electric and quark chromo-electric dipole moments (which originate from dimension-6 operators in the SMEFT), and several dimension-6 operators, including the Weinberg three-gluon operator, scalar, pseudoscalar and tensor semileptonic interactions and four-quark operators [195, 589–591]. Computing the neutron, atomic and molecular EDMs as a function of quark-level couplings is a highly non trivial task, which requires nonpertubative techniques to translate quark-level interactions into CP-violating couplings of nucleons and pions, and advances in nuclear theory for the calculation of nuclear Schiff moments in terms of few-nucleon interactions.

Since the last Long Range Plan, the Lattice QCD (LQCD) community has invested considerable resources to provide calculations of the neutron and proton EDMs with reliable errors [75–80]. Several calculations of the nucleon EDM induced by the QCD $\bar{\theta}$ term have appeared [75–78]. These calculations turned out to be extremely challenging, because of the small signal, which gets even smaller as the quark masses are decreased towards their physical values, and because of sizable lattice artifacts, as for example the contamination from nucleon-pion excited states [77]. The two calculations at the physical point yield a neutron EDM compatible with zero, but with uncertainties that are approaching the values expected if the "chiral logarithm" identified in Ref. [194] dominates the neutron EDM. Ref. [75, 78] used larger pion masses, but extrapolating to the physical point, they find a non-zero neutron EDMs (at the 2σ and 4σ level, respectively), of a size compatible with Ref. [194]. A compilation of the most recent rLQCD results is showed in Fig. 4.

In the case of dimension-5 and dimension-6 operators, a further complication is the involved mixing structure of higher-dimensional operators on the lattice. Since the last LRP, the matching between the $\overline{\text{MS}}$ scheme and schemes that can be implemented on the lattice has been worked out for the quark chromoelectric dipole moment and the Weinberg three-gluon operator [592–597]. Work remains to be done for the Weinberg operator in the gradient flow, and for four-fermion operators. Concerning the calculations of lattice matrix elements, the contribution of the *u* and *d* quark EDMs to the neutron EDM have been determined with 8 % and 4 % uncertainties [73, 74, 598]. Preliminary calculations for the chromoelectric dipole moment and the Weinberg operator also exist [79, 80], but they still do not have full control over all systematics. For more details, we refer to Ref. [85].

Building on these extremely promising preliminary results, the primary goal of the EDM LQCD effort in the next LRP will be to produce controlled calculations for the neutron and proton EDMs induced by the QCD $\bar{\theta}$ term, and by the quark and gluon chromo-EDM operators, and to start the study of four-quark operators. Moving beyond single nucleon EDMs, the contribution of semileptonic CPV operators to atomic and molecular EDMs is mediated by the nucleon scalar, pseudoscalar and tensor form factors [193], which are precisely computed on the lattice [81]. LQCD can play an important role in the determination of CPV pion-nucleon couplings [599], and, once two-nucleon techniques are mature, CPV couplings in the nucleonnucleon sector, necessary to make contact with EDMs of light ions [600–602] and nuclear Schiff moments [82, 193].

A further step towards a solution of the "inverse problem" lies in understanding the complementarity between measurements or bounds on the nEDM and atomic and molecular EDMs. Good progress has been achieved in the calculation of EDMs of light nuclei, which can be carried out using *ab initio* methods [600, 602–609]. Atomic EDMs, such as ¹⁹⁹Hg, ¹²⁹Xe and ²²⁵Ra, are, on the other hand, affected by large theoretical uncertainties, due to the complicated nuclear structure entering nuclear Schiff moments. In the last few years there have been new calculations for ¹⁹⁹Hg and ²²⁵Ra [82–84]. The great progress in the application of *ab initio* techniques to medium mass and heavy nuclei promises the first *ab initio* calculation of Schiff moments in the near future [85].

More theoretical work is required for a deeper understanding of the connection between EDMs and weak scale baryogenesis. Open questions exist in two main areas: (i) The study of the electroweak phase transition: here it is necessary to identify scenarios that admit a first order phase transition or sufficiently sharp crossover (needed to provide sufficient departure from equilibrium) and study their falsifiable signatures at the Large Hadron Collider and possible future colliders [71, 72]. (ii) The generation of CP asymmetries at the phase boundary through CP-violating particle transport: this requires identifying and solving an appropriate set of quantum kinetic equations [610, 611] (QKEs), to track both the coherent evolution necessary for CP violating phases to manifest themselves, as well as the incoherent interactions of particles with the thermal bath. The main challenge here concerns a systematic field-theoretic formulation of QKEs for massive fermions that mix through the Higgs vacuum expectation value(s) and an efficient computational scheme to obtain numerical solutions and scan the parameter space.

3. Precision measurements

Since the last LRP, many exciting theoretical developments have taken place in the area of precision measurements related to the FSNN program [105, 106, 117–121, 612, 613], as summarized in the appropriate topical sections of this white paper. Here we discuss future prospects, focusing mostly on beta decays.

Further efforts in high-precision SM theory calculations and understanding the impact of β decays on new physics are necessary. This requires collaborations between theorists (phenomenology, lattice, nuclear structure) as well as engagement with experimentalists in the design of new experiments.

In the $|V_{ud}|$ extraction, there are on-going efforts to compute the single-nucleon axial γW -box diagram using lattice QCD, which may fully pin down the inner radiative corrections in the nucleon sector. A proof-of-principle study based on lattice computations of four-point correlation functions was successful on the simpler pion system [614, 615], but to extend the method to the neutron requires more computational resources and independent studies from multiple lattice groups for cross-checking. Alternative approaches are also possible [616, 617].

For nuclear decays, significant progress in the determination of nuclear structure corrections using as theoretical methods with a rigorous analysis of the uncertainties, such as nuclear *ab initio* methods will be essential to maximize the potential of the superallowed global data set. In particular, a benchmarking effort centered around low mass nuclei with high precision experimental data (⁶He, ^{10,11}C, ¹⁴O, ¹⁹Ne) that are accessible to nuclear many-body methods with a minimum number of approximations [618] (No Core Shell Model, Quantum Monte Carlo, Lattice Effective Field Theory, ...) and methods with a wider mass reach (Coupled Cluster, In Medium Similarity Renormalization Group, and hybrid models) will allow one to more reliably compute corrections for the full data set. Supplemented by focused experimental impact. Given that the uncertainties for the value of V_{ud} determined from $0^+ \rightarrow 0^+$ decays are dominated by the uncertainty in theoretical corrections due to nuclear structure effects in the electroweak radiative corrections, we can anticipate significant progress in the precision with which these are calculated and a reduction in the uncertainty budget for the superallowed data set.

A 0.1% - 0.2% precision for lattice calculation of the isospin-symmetric g_A may be expected in a ~ 5 year time scale, which approaches the current experimental precision of λ [619]. However, in order to compare with experimental measurements, one needs to understand the radiative corrections to g_A . While the γW -box contribution to g_A is well under control [295, 620], it was recently argued that a potentially much larger contribution comes from the vertex correction to the neutron charged weak form factor, associated to the pion mass splitting [119]. An appropriate combination of effective field theory [621] and lattice QCD techniques will allow one to achieve the precision needed to perform stringent hadronic right-handed current searches.

Coordinating the development of BSM analysis, SM electroweak radiative corrections, and nuclear structure will be possible for part of the LRP period through the just-established Nuclear Theory for New Physics topical collaboration [622], but a need for broader coordination with experimental groups suggests a collaboration or center with the broad mission of coordinating these multiple threads of investigation to ensure effort is focused most effectively on key systems and observables.

B. Challenges

The growing complexity of the problems the subfield is tackling and the absence of an institutional center to support the field present challenges to theory workforce development for Fundamental Symmetries, Neutrons, and Neutrinos (FSNN). There are two major issues:

- Multi-component workforce: The success of the FSNN field relies on the synergy of three theoretical components, as outlined above: EFT/phenomenology; hadronic physics and lattice QCD; nuclear structure. All have strong overlap with other important areas of nuclear science, namely cold QCD [623] and nuclear structure and astrophysics [624]. Synergies with theory efforts in high-energy physics and astrophysics (in the form of collaborative projects and career opportunities for students and postdocs) have been and will continue to be critical for the health of the field. Constructing synergistic programs can be challenging because of barriers that range from non-homogeneous training backgrounds to separate funding streams.
- 2. Lack of an institutional center: Other subfields in nuclear physics are generally built around the community's major user facilities, JLab, RHIC, FRIB, ATLAS, and the planned EIC, and thus have institutional centers that recognize their importance and support theory-workforce development. In addition to serving as hubs for experimental activities, these national facilities bring experimentalists and theorists together on a recurring schedule. The FSNN community plays a role in the major user facilities, but it has not been a central focus of any of them. As a consequence, the community has had to depend on general-purpose theory centers to support its collaborative activities; these have included the Institute for Nuclear Theory (INT) and focused organizations such as the Amherst Center for Fundamental Interactions (ACFI) and the Network for Neutrinos, Nuclear Astrophysics, and Symmetries (N3AS). But in contrast to FRIB, JLab, and RHIC, these university-based theory centers provide fewer opportunities for interaction with experimentalists and do not have workforce-development programs that can help young researchers find faculty positions.

These challenges mean that the FSNN theory community, while successful, is more fragmented than other communities. Fragmentation limits the community's ability to fully realize the broad FSNN experimental program, creating an obstacle to progress for the whole FSNN field, not just theory. Opportunities to remedy these problems are outlined in the next section.

C. Recommended actions

A robust theoretical research program is essential for taking full advantage of the FSNN experimental program. We identify below a set of initiatives aimed at strenghtening and growing the nuclear theory program in FSNN to keep pace with the growing experimental effort. Here are important elements of this program:

1. The funding agencies have recognized the importance of supporting collaborative work on high-impact multifaceted problems, such as those described here, that require the integration of phenomenology & EFT, lattice QCD, and nuclear structure & reactions. New opportunities have been created through

Hubs, Topical Collaborations [20, 622], Physics Frontier Centers [625], and SciDAC programs. These programs, of particular importance to FSNN, would greatly benefit from increased support, including more opportunities to sustain successful collaborations beyond the five-year periods common in these programs;

2. The collaborative opportunities described above have significantly increased the participation of graduate students and postdocs in FSNN. Because FSNN draws talent from boundaries shared with particle and astrophysics, the pool of young scientists is unusually broad and diverse. For the same reason, these young people can compete in broad faculty searches. Yet the lack of faculty bridging programs suited to FSNN is inhibiting success. We thus call for the timely identification and implementation of mechanisms to enlarge and support the FSNN theoretical workforce at universities and national laboratories, with procedures and best practices that develop and sustain a diverse, equitable, welcoming, and inclusive workforce and culture. Effective mechanisms include the creation of a faculty bridging program for FSNN theory.

Strong endorsements for increased efforts in FSNN theory along these lines have appeared in several 2022 FSNN white papers [626]. An NSAC subcommittee could be charged with considering these endorsements and the two recommendations above and finding appropriate ways to address the subfield's needs. NSAC subcommittee recommendations could also spur the formation of a national consortium with elements analogous to those of the NP FRIB Theory Alliance [627] and HEP Neutrino Theory Network (NTN) [628]. This consortium could work with the funding agencies to administer the FSNN faculty bridge program. It could also help existing and future Hubs, Topical Centers, and Frontier Centers coordinate their activities in workforce development at all levels. In partnership with the INT and other visitor centers, these organizations could extend their coordination to the field's workshops, including those promoting experimental participation.

VIII. RECOMMENDATION IV: DEI, OUTREACH, WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT

The nuclear-physics research program serves an important role in developing a diverse STEM workforce capable of fulfilling the critical needs of the nation. The small to medium-scale projects that are the hallmark of FSNN area of nuclear physics are a particularly strong training ground, allowing students to take part in all aspects of their experiment. The recruiting and maintenance of a diverse workforce requires treating all community members with respect and dignity, so that everyone has the opportunity to succeed in physics. The scientific community benefits, as diversity ultimately leads to stronger teams. Furthermore, a more diverse community allows us to communicate the importance and excitement of nuclear research to the broader public.

Nuclear physics has benefited from larger initiatives including the long-running NSF ADVANCE program[629] and the recent DOE RENEW program[630], and has led the way within the greater physics community by founding the DNP Allies Program[631]. However, nuclear physics has a ways to go to be fully representative of the nation. Fortunately, there are unifying solutions to our current DEI, outreach, and workforce development challenges that will benefit from over-arching commitments shared by all participants in the LRP process. The FSNN community puts forward the following global recommendation:

We recommend enhanced investment in the growth and development of a diverse workforce to maximize our opportunities for scientific discovery and increase its impact in society.

To achieve this important goal requires building new bridges to reach a broader and more diverse workforce, providing support through the professional stages of their careers, and enforcing standards of conduct in the broader community. Therefore the FSNN community also makes the following more detailed recommendations: • Resources and training programs, curated by social psychology professionals, are needed to minimize the impact of bias and create a more inclusive comumnity. Codes of conduct should be established and enforced.

The first step in building an inclusive and diverse workplace is ensuring the community is trained to provide equitable access to opportunities in physics. Training programs to understand the impact of bias and how to counter it are still needed for much of the community. To make a stronger impact, these programs should also include topics of inclusion in the workforce and in the scientific community, with a goal to normalize these discussions as a component of research. We stress that resources are needed to engage with experts in the fields of social science and organizational psychology, as recommended by the Snowmass Diversity and Inclusion Topical Group of the Community Engagement Frontier (CEF3) [632], and to avoid overburdening underrepresented groups with these tasks. Additionally, workforce, material, and financial resources are needed to create community networks, like the Multimessenger Diversity Network [633], which bring together community representatives to develop resources and spread best practices.

Codes of conduct must be reviewed to be consistent with new recommendations from funding agencies to ensure they meet expectations for enforcement and disciplinary actions. The NP community should be expected to take individual and collective action towards such enforceable conduct standards, and to prepare to enforce these community standards. We must ensure that each of our institutions and individual community members take full ownership of that responsibility.

 Programs that encourage participation in research by students and faculty from under-represented communities and cultures should be developed and expanded. Researchers at minority-serving institutions, primarily undergraduate serving institutions, research universities, and national labs should be supported.

Several initiatives are already taking place which will have an impact on our field, including APS IDEA, Change-Now, TEAM-UP, and others, and should be supported. Expansion of funding to make NP events accessible is also needed, so that a more diverse set of community members may fully participate and engage in the work being done across the community. This includes captioning services, childcare, and mobility-friendly buildings.

• To improve recruitment and retainment of diverse junior faculty and staff at universities and national laboratories, bridge positions, fellowships, traineeships, and other incentives should be developed and expanded.

Programs to support junior faculty should also include support for career development, such as travel funds. Considerations for accessibility of events is also an important factor for retention.

- Federal grants should include resources to support living wages for graduate research assistants and postdoctoral researchers.
- To understand gaps, monitor progress, and improve recruitment, resources for improved data collected is needed, including membership statistics and career trajectories.

Workforce and financial/material resources are needed for a dedicated, central organization to professionally collect and store this information, maintain records, and analyze the data for a comparison study in the next NSAC LRP.

The recommendations are in general agreement with those provided by the other areas of nuclear physics. These are in line with the goals of DEI, outreach, and workforce development, and these efforts should be woven throughout the NSAC LRP because they are critical to the success of any individual project and of nuclear physics more generally.

IX. CROSS-CUTTING INITIATIVES AND NEEDS FOR FSNN

A. Initiatives and applications

1. Computing

a. **Background:** Computing plays an essential role in both the theoretical and experimental efforts in the FSNN program. Particularly for theoretical efforts, high performance computing (HPC) resources have become essential for carrying out the calculations necessary for the prediction and/or interpretation of experimental results. With the advent of exascale computing and advancements in algorithms and methods, new regimes of nuclear physics are beginning to be accessed and properly quantified.

The FSNN experimental program probes nuclei in a wide range of kinematics. This includes the low energy regime of beta decay used for absolute neutrino mass measurements, the intermediate momentum regime of neutrinoless double beta decay, and the quasieleastic regime relevant to precision short- and long-baseline experiments. Maximizing the discovery potential of these experiments will require a theoretical understanding of neutrino-nucleon and neutrino-nucleus interactions and cross sections over a wide range of energy and momentum transfer where different reaction mechanisms are at play. This is a challenging problem whose solution requires a combination of expertises, including lattice QCD, nuclear many-body methods, nuclear effective theories, phenomenology, and neutrino event generators to make reliable theory predictions relevant to the experimental programs [525].

Lattice QCD, a numerical method for solving QCD directly, provides information about these interactions, as well as interactions with non-standard BSM currents, at the level of quarks and gluons. These calculations form the basis for theory input for heavier nuclei, give direct Standard Model predictions to be confronted with experimental data in searches for new physics, and provide potential BSM interactions which have not yet been experimentally measured. Lattice QCD is at its core an HPC endeavor: even the simplest of calculations require significant allocations of time on the largest machines in the world. Currently, precision single-nucleon calculations are routinely being performed, while two-nucleon calculations at the physical point with all systematics in check have not yet been performed (though enormous progress toward this goal has been made). In particular, the need for computing resources scales exponentially with both lighter quark mass and number of nucleons, necessitating access to ever-larger machines and dedicated research into new techniques and algorithms to tackle this massive endeavor.

Similarly, HPC, applied mathematics, computer science, and statistics are required to advance precision calculations of nuclear structure and reactions with quantified uncertainties. *Ab inito* or microscopic approaches describe nuclei as a collection of nucleons interacting via two-, three-, and many-nucleon forces [634]. External probes, such as electrons, neutrinos, and photons interact with single-nucleon and clusters of correlated nucleons via standard and BSM many-nucleon currents. Computational methods used to solve the many-body problem of strongly correlated nucleons scale at best polynomially with the atomic number, making access to sustained and substantial computational resources along with storage capabilities critical for progress.

As outlined above, access to and availability of exascale computing and beyond is crucial for the advancement of nuclear physics across all of the energy regimes of relevance for FSNN. As HPC hardware continues its evolution, scientists in the U.S. must be prepared to take full advantage of it. The on-boarding of new machines promises disruptive progress for this field, but only if the necessary software has been created and optimized for use on these machines. As an example, Early Science time on Livermore's Sierra machine was used to produce a five-fold increase in statistics on a calculation of the nucleon axial charge in 2.5 weekends [635], a calculation which originally took 1 year on Titan combined with more than 2 years on Livermore clusters. This window of opportunity was short, as the machine is now utilized for classified research. *b.* **Recommendations:** A recent workshop on "Computational Nuclear Physics and AI/ML" was held on September 6-7, 2022 at SURA headquarters in Washington, DC. There, they set forth a resolution for the future of computational nuclear physics, which was endorsed at the 2022 Hot & Cold QCD and Nuclear Structure, Reactions and Astrophysics Town Hall meetings. The key elements of their recommended program are to:

- Strengthen and expand programs and partnerships to support immediate needs in HPC and AI/ML, and also to target development of emerging technologies, such as quantum computing, and other opportunities.
- 2. Take full advantage of exciting possibilities offered by new hardware and software and AI/ML within the nuclear physics community through educational and training activities.
- 3. Establish programs to support cutting-edge developments of a multi-disciplinary workforce and cross-disciplinary collaborations in high-performance computing and AI/ML.
- 4. Expand access to computational hardware through dedicated and high-performance computing resources.

We further endorse these resolutions, supplemented with recommendations particular to the goals of the FSNN community. Our recommendations are outlined below.

Preparing for new hardware and making full use of the hardware currently available requires a properly educated, dedicated workforce, allocation of resources with community goals in mind, and shared, readily available software for the variety of purposes discussed in this report. Software must be optimized for a variety of available and planned architectures. There are many strategies for performing this task, and utilizing synergies between the various fields that make up the FSNN community, as well as partnering with industry, will aid in the endeavor. For example, many former lattice QCD theorists leave the academic track to work with companies such as NVIDIA and Intel, and can provide assistance in building libraries specific to our needs for optimal use on a given platform. Efficiency in developing the tools necessary for achieving the broader goals of the community must also be pursued. Topical collaborations, DOE SciDAC awards, training programs for the use of software, and workshops designed for the sharing of ideas for software building will be necessary to meet these goals. Community averages for the various quantities of interest for FSNN are also crucial to these efforts, and should be carried out by a designated group of leaders from the various collaborations performing the calculations, in the spirit of the Particle Data Group and Flavour Lattice Averaging Group. Additionally, both DOE and NSF provide critical computing hardware and data storage and retrieval capabilities to support experimental and theoretical programs. For example, the Advanced Scientific Computing Research (ASCR) provides capability computing resources at leadership-class computing centers, through programs such as the ASCR Leadership Computing Challenge (ALCC).

These investments in the production, support, and modification of code, as well as the maintenance of community averages, must be sustained over time, typically on a time scale of at least a decade. Thus, there is an urgent need for long-term, software-focused positions through, e.g., permanent staff at national labs, SciDAC positions, and joint lab-university tenure-track appointments.

Computing allocations at leadership-class facilities are limited and highly competitive, but adequate access to these HPC resources is critical for the success of the FSNN program. Equally important is a concerted community effort for acquiring and maintaining this access. Successful examples are the USQCD collaboration of US-based lattice QCD theorists and the NUCLEI SciDAC collaboration of *ab initio* nuclear many-body practitioners, who collectively apply for large computing allocations. The resulting time is then distributed amongst the various collaborations with the broader scientific goals in mind.

2. AI/ML

a. **Background:** In the past decade, there has been an ever-accelerating growth in the field of Artificial Intelligence and Machine Learning that offers tremendous opportunities to the FSNN program and its related fields. Applications of AI/ML encompass instrumentation, experiment and theory [636, 637]: ML techniques offer powerful tools for modeling and controlling complex devices like accelerators and detectors; for classifying data and enhancing signal-to-noise ratios, which is particularly relevant for the rare processes the FSNN community is interested in; exploring correlations and patterns in data; and last but not least, for propagating and quantifying the uncertainties of theoretical simulations.

Within the FSNN experimental community, initial AI/ML efforts focused primarily on event classification. An early use of Artificial Neural Networks was to demonstrate discernment between neutral-current and charged-current solar neutrino interactions in the SNO (Sudbury Neutrino Observatory) experiment [638]. Many $0\nu\beta\beta$ experiments have demonstrated event classifiers based on Boosted Decision Trees, Artificial Neural Networks, Convolutional Neural Networks, and Recurrent Neural Networks [639–644]. In several of these cases, the use of neural network architectures led to improved sensitivity relative to the traditional analysis methods. Examples of event classification implementations can also be found in other settings, such as CRES (cyclotron radiation emission spectroscopy)-based neutrino mass measurements [645].

More recently, FSNN experiments have begun using machine learning techniques for a broader range of applications. Methods for detector design optimization that can replace some aspects of computationally-expensive simulations with ML/AI emulators have been used for the g-2 and KATRIN experiments [646, 647]. The MODE (Machine-learning Optimized Design of Experiments) Collaboration is seeking to develop a fully-differentiable model for every aspect of information extraction from experiments, with the goal of allowing automatic exploration of design choices [648]. Another major area of interest has been the use of AI/ML for real-time control and optimization of accelerators and detectors [636]. These techniques are a focus of Jefferson Laboratory computing activities, and will likely play an important role in the MOLLER and SoLID experimental programs [649].

As detailed in previous section, Lattice QCD continues to advance problems of relevance to the FSNN program, like the determination of specific reaction amplitudes as well as structure and response functions at the most fundamental theoretical level possible. Results may be directly relevant for experimental efforts, or they can provide important guidance for the construction of EFT descriptions (see, e.g., [22, 574, 650]. The lattice-gauge-theory community has been continuously exploring the use of ML techniques to overcome the sign problems and signal-to-noise ratio degradation that pose significant challenges in LQCD computations. New developments are occurring at a significant pace, and ML nowadays is deployed in all aspects of the lattice-gauge-theory program, from accelerating the generation of gauge-field configurations in Monte-Carlo-sampling-based methods, to assisting the computation of observables from hadronic correlation functions, to enhancing data-analysis techniques and observable estimations, including in inverse problems (see Refs. [637, 651–653] for details and references.)

Significant progress is still needed to achieve broad and reliable applications of ML in lattice gauge theory, with methods that need to be generalized to lattice-QCD problems of relevance to the NP and FSNN programs, and results that need to be statistically rigorous and predictive [654]. Many cross-disciplinary connections exist between the lattice-gauge-theory and ML communities, as well as with Applied Math and Computer Science communities, and collaborative developments must be emphasized and supported over the next decade. Physics-inspired algorithmic advances, such the incorporation of symmetries, developed and applied by lattice gauge theorists, have found their way in the broader ML community [655], and therefore, ML and lattice gauge theory can mutually benefit one another.

In nuclear many-body theory, ML techniques have seen significant use in the construction of computationally efficient surrogate models, also known as emulators. At a small fraction of the computational cost, they accurately predict the outcomes of computationally expensive applications like large-scale Den-
sity Functional Theory (DFT) calculations of nuclear masses or other bulk properties, or sophisticated *ab initio* many-body calculations. This makes it possible to explore the sensitivity of nuclear observables to the parameters of the underlying interactions, to propagate uncertainties of these parameters, and to ultimately perform a comprehensive statistical uncertainty quantification.

b. **Recommendations:** In Section IX A 1, we presented the recommendations from the workshop on "Computational Nuclear Physics and AI/ML" that was held on September 6-7, 2022 at SURA headquarters in Washington, DC, which were endorsed by the FSNN Town Hall after previous endorsements from the Hot & Cold QCD and Nuclear Structure, Reactions and Astrophysics Town Halls. AI and ML, in particular, were the focus of recommendation 3.

The AI/ML field is evolving at a rapid pace, and now is an excellent time to establish connections that ensure that the FSNN community can attract AI/ML talent to join collaborative efforts for reaching our goals, as well as benefit from cutting-edge developments. The observables and processes of highest interest to the FSNN community are more challenging than those targeted by prior applications, hence they offer exciting opportunities for exploring new ideas and approaches, and to achieve high-impact results. One of the key requirements for FSNN program is high precision in experiment and theory, which crucially depends on the statistically rigorous uncertainty quantification and propagation that can only be provided with the aid of emulation (see, e.g., [654, 656, 657] and references therein). Many cross-disciplinary connections already exist between the lattice gauge-theory, nuclear physics and ML communities, as well as with Applied Math and Computer Science communities, and collaborative developments must be emphasized and supported over the next decade, e.g., as key components in FSNN centers or a SciDAC collaboration. Moreover, physics-inspired algorithmic advances, such the incorporation of symmetries, developed and applied by lattice gauge theorists, have found their way into the broader ML community [655], and therefore there is a high potential for generating mutual benefit and interest.

While model reduction is a key thrust of the AI/ML efforts for FSNN and our affiliated communities, access to HPC resources, including leadership-class assets, remains crucially important: The quality of surrogate models for LQCD or nuclear many-body calculations relies on the availability of sufficient training data that must be generated with the full simulation codes. Likewise, the training of AI models for experimental applications like signal refinement or online control of devices can be a numerical challenge in itself.

3. Quantum computing, quantum sensing and R&D for the future

Nuclear physics has much to gain from, and contribute to, quantum information science (QIS) and quantum sensing. The precision measurements that are at the heart of the FSNN experimental effort are natural test beds for cutting edge quantum sensing technologies. While quantum simulation has great potential to revolutionize our simulation capabilities to tackle difficult theoretical problems relevant to FSNN.

To follow-up on the NSAC Subcommittee on QIS report from 2019, a whitepaper on QIS for the greater nuclear physics has been assembled [658]. It reiterates the need to increase investment in the areas of quantum sensing and simulation to capitalize on the rapid worldwide developments in these areas to meet the needs of nuclear physics and the nation at large. The recommendations tailored for the FSNN community are as follows:

We recommend increased investment to capitalize on the rapid worldwide development of quantum sensor technology and its timely implementation in NP.

Advances made over the past two decades in material science and cryogenic infrastructure have accelerated the development of quantum sensors and quantum integrated systems, and in some cases provide revolutionary approaches to historically inaccessible problems. Quantum sensors are already in use in: neutrinoless double-beta decay, neutrino mass measurements, sterile neutrino searches, precision tests of fundamental symmetries, permanent electric dipole moment searches, and as probes to rare and exotic processes. Their targeted use in NP continues to grow and expanding R&D in this area, including through investments in national and university facilities, is essential.

We recommend investment in exploratory research directions that aim to develop, integrate, and apply quantum-based simulation and computation techniques in NP.

Current classical-computation techniques are well advanced, providing—and will continue to provide—input to the broad range of NP problems. Nonetheless, they face challenges in simulating real-time dynamics of matter created in heavy-ion collisions or after the Big Bang, coherent neutrino oscillations in astrophysical environments, and of relevance to the FSNN program, a wealth of dynamical response functions, e.g., for neutrino-nucleus scattering, accurate rate of nuclear-reaction processes, and more. Quantum simulation has great potential to revolutionize our simulation capabilities in these problems. Furthermore, quantum information tools can guide the design of more efficient classical NP simulations, and quantum entanglement can serve as a new principle to enhance our understanding of NP phenomena and the underlying theory. The community needs to engage in the co-design of quantum-simulating devices dedicated to the NP program and be provided sustained access to quantum hardware. Programs and partnerships that enable collaborations across NP in QIS would be valuable.

We recommend strengthening the QIS expertise in NP training to create a diverse, quantum-ready, nuclear-capable workforce.

A diverse, quantum-ready workforce is a necessity for both communities. QIS can attract young talent from a variety of backgrounds to our programs, and empower them with skills in emerging quantum technology and computing trends. Increased investment in recruiting and training these young researchers will accelerate the development and integration of QIS technology in NP, and will improve sustainability of the field.

We recommend further development of research that leverages the knowledge base of NP that can help inform and solve outstanding problems in QIS, and to encourage cross-cutting research between the two research communities.

The nuclear community's knowledge of the interactions between particles and matter serves as a valuable asset in the development of a future quantum computer and a robust quantum workforce. For example, the expertise developed by nuclear physicists in shielding against cosmic rays, and in the development of radiopure materials for rare event searches, can play an important role in increasing the coherence times of next-generation qubits for a range of computing and sensing applications. We encourage support of these cross-disciplinary efforts that can potentially strengthen collaboration between the two communities.

4. Isotope Science and Accelerator Science

The nuclear component of the FSNN field has had a long and successful symbiotic relationship with facilities built for nuclear structure/nuclear astro (and neutron) physics. Nuclear beta decay is used to search for BSM currents and to determine precisely the up-down quark mixing element of the Cabibbo-Kobayashi-Maskawa matrix and test its unitarity. This work requires access to light short-lived isotopes around the N = Z line, where the symmetries and simple nuclear structure allow for selective decays that can isolate the effects of interest and be calculated accurately. The lightest of these isotopes can be produced

As we've discussed earlier, the community has begun to to take advantage of the sensitivity of heavy nuclear systems to EDMs and other manifestations of CPV or the violation of other symmetries. The heaviest nuclei benefit from large enhancements in sensitivity because of the high Z, large octupole deformation present in the region, and the possibility of extremely high effective electric fields if they are embedded in polar molecules. Long-lived isotopes of radium (or their thorium progenitors), of francium (or their actinium progenitors), and iof other nuclides in the region can be obtained from the Isotope Program to pursue the development of these promising approaches. The ability to produce these long-lived isotopes is not widespread and we often face competition from other areas to for this limited resource. The full potential of our new approaches will only be reached if these isotopes remain available to the FSNN program. Future isotope-harvesting capabilities at FRIB should alleviate some of these needs, but the highest sensitivity measurements will still require access to the higher intensities available through the Isotope Program.

5. Nuclear Data

High-accuracy nuclear data for particle-induced reactions, nuclear decay, and nuclear structure are essential for benchmarking high-fidelity models and theoretical calculations and for simulating particle interactions and transport in detectors, experimental setups and applications. In simulations of nuclear physics experiments, code packages such as Geant4 [659] and FLUKA [660] are commonly used. These packages rely on nuclear data to simulate detector response. For example, the data used in Geant4 for photon evaporation, radioactive decay, and nuclide properties are taken directly from the Evaluated Nuclear Structure Data File (ENSDF) [661], maintained at the National Nuclear Data Center at Brookhaven National Laboratory [662]. Neutron cross sections and final states are based on nuclear data libraries such as JEFF-3.3 [663] and ENDF/B-VII.1 [664] while the TENDL library [665] is used for interactions of incident protons with matter. The SAID database is used for proton, neutron and pion elastic, inelastic and charge exchange reaction cross sections for interactions with nucleons below 3 GeV [666]. Nuclear shell effects are based on the liquid drop model of the nucleus, including ground state deformations. Nuclear data are also required for the nuclear density profiles, photoelectric interactions, impact ionization, and optical reflectance, see Ref. [659] for more references and details.

In the case of fundamental symmetries, neutrons and neutrinos, experiments such as neutron and atomic electric dipole moment measurements, double beta decay experiments from modest prototypes to ton scale and beyond, and reactor antineutrino experiments all require nuclear data to simulate data rates and detector responses and efficiencies. Specific examples are given in the next paragraphs.

One proposed atomic electric dipole moment measurement involves studying nearly degenerate parity doublet nuclei with large octupole deformation. These pear-shaped nuclei have large intrinsic Schiff moments [667]. Nuclear data help inform which nuclei are good candidates for these measurements, such as ²²³Ra [668]. These deformed nuclei are significantly more sensitive to CP-violation in the nuclear medium. In addition, when these nuclei are part of molecules [669, 670], their sensitivity to new physics is enhanced by several orders of magnitude beyond the state of the art ¹⁹⁹Hg EDM experiments [671].

Double beta decay experiments rely on calculations of the matrix elements for $A(Z,N) \rightarrow A(Z+2,N-2)+e^-e^-$. These calculations in turn rely on accurate nuclear data, e.g., nuclear masses. Uncertainties in the nuclear data input to models used to compute the nuclear matrix elements are manifested as uncertainties in the calculations. When designing experiments for double beta decay, nuclear data are used to guide decisions on which isotopes are most promising in terms of the decay rate, the required size of the detector

to obtain a sufficiently high rate for a discovery measurement, and which measurement techniques result in the smallest systematic errors [153]. For example, ¹³⁶Xe is a promising isotope to search for neutrinoless double beta decay but building a ton-scale and beyond experiment based on Xe requires production of sufficient Xe for the vessel. Current Xe production from the steel industry is insufficient. Other ways of acquiring more Xe include reprocessing from nuclear fuel, since Xe is one of the most abundant fission products and is directly captured in air [672]. Xenon production rates via fission can be computed from fission product yield and neutron-induced fission cross section data.

Reactor antineutrinos are also of great interest since they can be employed to probe neutrino oscillations, determine the existence of a sterile neutrino, study coherent vN scattering and also have implications for nonproliferation. The KamLAND reactor experiment provided the first terrestrial observation of neutrino oscillations [673–675]. Such experiments are also a good example of how nuclear data can be employed to help resolve more fundamental physics questions. The antineutrino flux from the Daya Bay [676], Double Chooz [677], and RENO [678] reactor experiments, designed to study the θ_{13} mixing angle, was 5% lower than predicted by the Huber-Mueller method [679, 680] for calculating the expected antineutrino flux, referred to as the "reactor antineutrino anomaly". In addition, a significant excess in the measured antineutrino spectra at 5 MeV was observed compared to the Huber-Mueller predictions. Oscillations with a sterile neutrino were proposed as a potential solution to the anomaly: it could be caused by exotic neutrino oscillations with a fourth "sterile" neutrino. However, updated fission fragment yields from ²³⁵U and ²³⁹Pu point to the anomaly being due to an overestimate of certain fission fragment yields in the Huber-Mueller model [681]. Data from experiments such as PROSPECT [682] and STEREO [683], located near reactors using highly-enriched uranium fuel, could prove definitive.

Endorsement – Recognizing the relevant of nuclear data for nuclear science, the FSNN working group on nuclear data prepared the following statement, which the larger community endorses:

Nuclear data play an essential role in all facets of nuclear science. Access to reliable, complete and up-to-date recommended nuclear data is crucial for the fundamental nuclear physics research enterprise, as well as for the successes of applied missions in the areas of defense and security, nuclear energy, space exploration, isotope production, and nuclear medicine diagnostics and treatments. It is imperative to maintain an effective US role in the stewardship of nuclear data.

- We endorse support for identifying and prioritizing opportunities to advance and enhance the stewardship of nuclear data and efforts to build a diverse, equitable and inclusive workforce that maintains the currency and reliability of the nuclear databases.
- We recommend prioritizing opportunities that enhance the currency and quality of recommended nuclear data and its utility for propelling scientific progress in fundamental symmetry, neutrino and neutron projects and the broader nuclear science program.
- We endorse identifying interagency-supported crosscutting opportunities for nuclear data with other programs that enrich the utility of nuclear data in both science and society.

B. Facilities and Infrastructure

1. Overview

The field of Fundamental Symmetries, Neutrons, and Neutrinos (FSNN) is unique, as compared to other fields within the nuclear physics portfolio, in that there is no mission-centered nuclear physics-owned facility for FSNN [684]. Instead, as described below, FSNN research employs a broad range of different facilities with unique capabilities and challenges. In addition, small-scale FSNN experiments not connected to a dedicated facility play a valuable role in the community and present their own unique challenges.

2. Underground Facilities in the U.S.

The Sanford Underground Research Facility (SURF) [685] is the U.S.'s deepest underground laboratory and has been operating since 2007 as a dedicated scientific laboratory supporting underground research in rare-process physics, as well as offering research opportunities in other disciplines. The 4850-foot-level (i.e., 1500 meters, or 4300 m.w.e.) hosts a range of experiments, including those studying dark matter, neutrino properties, and nuclear astrophysics topics. In addition, the SURF facility offers several support capabilities, including low-background assays for materials as managed through the Black Hills State University (BHSU) underground campus, production of electroformed copper, management of up to 1.5 million liters of xenon, and through the holding of a Nuclear Regulatory Commissioning broad scope license for radioactive materials, with various gamma-ray and neutron survey instruments and a liquid scintillator counting system. As part of SURF's strategic plan, underground expansion possibilities are being explored, including expansion designs at the 4850L and a concept for laboratory space on the 7400L (i.e., 2300 meters, or 6500 m.w.e.), for which the cosmic ray muon flux is projected to be a factor of 30 times lower than at the 4850L.

Continued access to SURF is critically important for U.S. leadership in the worldwide neutrinoless double beta decay community, especially for material characterizations (i.e., radioassays), R&D on fabrication and handling methods, and material production, fabrication, and storage. Although the proposed ton-scale neutrinoless double decay experiments will likely be sited outside the U.S. (i.e., SNOLAB, LNGS), it is clear that it will be important to maintain successful partnerships with these international facilities as the ton-scale experiments move forward.

Nuclear physics, through its access to underground facilities with reduced environmental backgrounds and its expertise in low background techniques, can also have an impact on quantum information science [686]. Techniques for detecting and removing unwanted particle interactions, as has already been done in rare event searches (such as in solar neutrino and neutrinoless double beta decay experiments, etc.) can prove to be of great use to large quantum systems.

3. Parity-Violating Electron Scattering at Jefferson Laboratory

The energy, luminosity, and stability of the electron beam at Jefferson Laboratory are uniquely suited to carry out parity-violating electron scattering (PVES) measurements [687], including the MOLLER experiment and the SoLID PVDIS experiment. With the parity-violating asymmetries on the order of \sim 10's to \sim 1000's of ppb, sub-nrad, sub-nm, and sub-ppb levels of beam control are required. The high-intensity, high-polarization electron source is optimized for minimizing beam asymmetries. Required upgrades for the future PVES program include an upgrade to the injector for better control of beam asymmetries, an upgrade to the End Station Refrigerator (ESR-2) for increased cryopower, and an upgrade to the polarimetry for robust, high-precision measurements of the beam polarization.

4. Fundamental Symmetries at FRIB

An opportunity exists at FRIB [684, 688] to carry out isotope harvesting of several symmetry-violating "enhancer" pear-shaped isotopes, such as ²²⁵Ra and ²²⁹Pa, that will be produced in the water beam dump while beams are delivered to other experiments (i.e., "commensal operation"). However, support is required to transform the harvested isotopes into a chemical form needed for fundamental symmetries experiments. A dedicated beamline fed with harvested isotopes that then delivered beams insto a variety of experimental stations would more readily allow for long-integration-time precision measurements of fundamental symmetries.

5. Neutron Sources for Fundamental Neutron Physics

Within the U.S., research in fundamental neutron physics is currently carried out at three locations with complementary capabilities [684]: (a) the Fundamental Neutron Physics Beamline (FNPB) at the Spallation Neutron Source (SNS) at Oak Ridge National Laboratory (ORNL); (b) the NG-C Cold Neutron Beamline at the National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST); and (c) the Ultracold Neutron (UCN) Source at Los Alamos National Laboratory (LANL). Brief descriptions of these facilities are as follows.

FNPB at SNS at ORNL – The FNPB is one of 22 beam lines at the SNS, the world's most intense source of pulsed cold neutrons. The program of hadronic parity violation experiments NPDGamma and n³He have been completed on the FNPB, and the Nab neutron β decay experiment is currently commissioning. Construction of the nEDM@SNS experiment is projected to continue through the late-2020's.

NG-C at NIST – The NG-C Cold Neutron Beamline offers the highest-flux cold neutron beam in the U.S. for fundamental neutron physics. As a result of the recent (2023) Cold Source upgrade, the beamline's performance is comparable to the best in the world. This national resource is operated in service to the FSNN community, with a broad range of experiments in hadronic parity violation, neutron β decay angular correlations, and the neutron lifetime.

UCN Source at LANL – The UCN source at LANL is currently the only operating UCN source hosting fundamental neutron physics experiments in North America. The UCN source has hosted the UCNA and UCN τ experiments, and is also a R&D test-bed for the nEDM@SNS experiment. Experiments under development include the LANL nEDM experiment, and the β decay experiments UCN τ +, UCNA+, and UCNProBe. The LANSCE accelerator, delivering the proton beam for production of spallation neutrons which are moderated to the UCN regime in solid deuterium, is expected to continue operating for the next few decades.

All three of these locations leverage resources funded by other agencies. Investments are needed to support research and beamline operations at these three locations, including additional personnel, in order to realize the full potential of their physics programs, improve their capabilities, and provide continuity to the workforce of researchers [205].

Given the growing importance of U.S.-based UCN research to the worldwide fundamental neutron physics research community, there are several ongoing efforts to improve existing UCN sources and develop new UCN sources. To maintain the U.S.'s leadership in this field, it is critical that an investment be made in the development of next-generation UCN sources, to ensure the future of a vibrant community with capabilities for high-impact science. The U.S.-based UCN community has already developed ideas for next-generation UCN sources [205], which range from the conceptual R&D stage to those ready to be implemented soon. These ideas include: (a) a uranium neutron multiplier for the LANL UCN source; (b) a liquid-helium converter coupled to a spallation target at LANL or the SNS; (b) a liquid-helium converter coupled to a spallation target at LANL or the HFIR pressure vessel) at ORNL; and (d) a future UCN source at NIST. The UCN community is currently discussing and comparing these options. Modest support in the next decade for evaluating these possibilities will be crucial to avoid missing a key opportunity for a world-leading next-generation UCN source in the U.S. [205].

6. Small Scale Experiments

Small scale experiments [689], although not easily defined, can be considered to be those experiments which are not connected to a dedicated facility, are not a central component of a large project, are "table top" in size, and/or are innovative with higher risk. One such example of small-scale experiments is the robust program of nuclear β decay studies probing fundamental symmetries which occur at universities, the ARUNA laboratories [690], and also at national laboratories. Another example are the precision measurements performed using neutron interferometry at NIST [205] and proposed with UCN at LANSCE [691].

Such small scale experiments play a central role in the FSNN community through their coverage of a wide range of science and through their range of technologies, where new ideas are explored, cross-pollinated, and slowly gain traction in the community. These experiments are often cost effective, leveraging existing investments, equipment, and user programs, and also collectively offer a quicker turnaround time. Further, by their nature, these small scale experiments offer opportunities for workforce training in all aspects of an experiment: design, engineering, data analysis, publication, and leadership. However, much of this small scale work occurs in spaces not directly funded by nuclear physics, and as such, faces unique challenges [689], such as a lack of facility-level advocates, additional costs for infrastructure, engineering requirements, challenges for the small scale community to speak with one voice, etc. Support for these small scale experiments to these challenges must be identified.

C. Connections with High Energy Physics & Atomic and Molecular Physics

The DOE Office of Nuclear Physics and the NSF Nuclear Physics (NP) program both strongly support portfolios in fundamental symmetries and neutrinos. These are generally discovery-oriented campaigns, which similarly drive the traditional field of high-energy particle (HEP) physics; that is, they address questions related to the Standard Model (SM) and beyond (BSM). Both communities include experimental and theoretical efforts that establish the nature of the SM itself. This includes determination of the masses of the fundamental particles, the couplings of the forces, the structure of the interactions, the generational structure of the quarks and their hadronic manifestations, and the properties of the neutrinos.

The primary tools used in the HEP approach to probe BSM physics involve lepton or hadron colliders. The interaction regions are surrounded by generic, multi-purpose detectors that can reconstruct a wide variety of event types to search for new physics. The recent discovery of the Higgs, and the earlier discoveries of the W and Z bosons are wonderful examples. The tools used in NP are rather different. Instead of the direct approach to producing new high-mass particles,"Precision Frontier" experiments employ the phenomenon of quantum fluctuations to tease out the effects of very high mass candidate BSM particles as they might impact a delicate measurement. Very often, the mass scales probe greatly exceed anything that can be produced directly using a collider. Examples of this approach include the measurement of the Muon anomalous magnetic moment, the running of the weak proton charge, the violation of lepton flavor universality, the unitarity of the CKM mixing matrix, probes of CP violation, and tests of scalar or tensor components in the weak interaction. In each case, a unique, purpose-built experiment is needed; rarely do they provide a broad range of investigations. The HEP and NP approaches are complementary and both are required to investigate potential BSM models, providing needed clues and setting stringent limits. In this Long Range Plan (LRP) period, several neutron decay experiments will provide data to test CKM unitarity, MOLLER will provide a precision determination of $\sin^2 \Theta_W$, the neutron electron dipole moment (see below) will be probed, atoms and molecules will be used to study CP-violation in the nucleus, and new initiatives in beta and pion decay will be explored.

The NP and HEP communities also overlap in the field of neutrino physics where the dividing line is somewhat differently drawn. Neutrinos from accelerators and reactors are typically the venue of HEP where they study oscillation parameters, the mass hierarchy, sterile neutrinos, possible CP and electroweak physics, and coherent *nuclear* scattering; the latter is also an emerging NP topic. Neutrinos from the sun and from natural radioactive sources tend to drive the NP program. While the SNO experiment and others led to the oscillation model and proof of neutrino mass, a current NP focus is on directly measuring that mass. This campaign is ongoing with KATRIN and Project 8. One of the most exciting initiatives in neutrino physics is the test of the Majorana nature of the neutrino. A campaign of neutrinoless double beta decay experiments, with every increasing sensitivity, will directly probe lepton number violation, an important possible route needed to explain the baryon asymmetry of the universe. In this Long Range Plan, the major ton-scale experiments LEGEND, CUPID, and nEXO each hope to proceed along their design plans to build

experiments that probe the complete inverted hierarchy.

It would be remiss if one did not recognize the significant technological overlap of these fields. These include advances in accelerator physics, Monte Carlo modeling using GEANT, high-speed micro-electronics and ASIC readouts, wire chambers, calorimetry, detector physics, superconducting magnets, ROOT data analyses, just to mention a few. One can hardly find an area of experimental technique that is solely owned or used by only one community.

This support has also started to extend into the realm of atomic, molecular, and optical (AMO) physics, including for example searches for the electron EDM, hadronic CP-violating moments, parity violation, axions and axion-like particles, ultralight dark matter, and new forces. These efforts are of the precision measurement variety, and have both benefited from and contributed to the advances in the ability of AMO systems to leverage quantum control for maximum sensitivity.

Since AMO-based searches for the electron EDM became the most sensitive probe in the early 1960s, their sensitivity has improved by ten orders of magnitude, including two orders of magnitude since molecular experiments surpassed atomic ones in the last decade, driven by advances in AMO science. Many of these same advances are currently being translated to a much broader range of NP science, including hadronic CP- and P-violation searches. At the same time, much of the motivation for advancing AMO science, particularly in the areas of controlling complex species (including molecules), extending coherence times in applied fields, coherent control, new trapping technologies, controlling environmental interactions, and more, came from the need of these techniques for precision measurement of fundamental symmetries. There are also areas of research where the synergy between AMO and NP is not merely beneficial, but necessary. For example, AMO experiments using short-lived radioactive nuclei, which includes a broad range of hadronic CP- and P-violation searches, precision β -decay studies, and tailoring nuclear structures to make improved qubits, rely on the NP community. The production, handling, and study of these species requires NP experimental expertise, and the experimental design and interpretation of results requires NP theoretical expertise.

This strong synergy between precision measurement motivated by NP science goals, and the broader AMO community, has been extremely beneficial and is poised to grow significantly as interest in AMObased precision measurements increases. In terms of fraction of AMO or NP communities, their overlap is still small, but has been rapidly growing both in numbers and impact. Much of what is discussed in this LRP period is focused on actively fostering the interactions between those communities to foster and accelerate the science.

- Reaching for the horizon: The 2015 long range plan for nuclear science, https://www.osti.gov/biblio/ 1296778.
- [2] D. Geesaman et al., https://science.osti.gov/-/media/np/nsac/pdf/docs/2016/NLDBD_Report_ 2015_Final_Nov18.pdf (2015), November 15, 2015.
- [3] D. Adams et al., Progress in Particle and Nuclear Physics 122, 103902 (2022), ISSN 0146-6410.
- [4] G. Anton et al., Physical Review Letters **123** (2019).
- [5] M. Agostini et al., Physical Review Letters 125 (2020).
- [6] KamLAND-Zen Collaboration (2022), arXiv:2203.02139.
- [7] I. J. Arnquist et al. (2022), arXiv:2207.07638.
- [8] P. Novella et al. (NEXT Collaboration), Phys. Rev. C 105, 055501 (2022).
- [9] LEGEND Collaboration, N. Abgrall, et al. (2021), arXiv:2107.11462.
- [10] E. Armengaud et al. (CUPID-Mo Collaboration), Phys. Rev. Lett. 126, 181802 (2021).
- [11] C. Augier et al., Eur. Phys. J. C 82, 1033 (2022), arXiv:2202.08716.
- [12] O. Azzolini et al. (CUPID), Phys. Rev. Lett. 129, 111801 (2022), arXiv:2206.05130.
- [13] A. Allega et al. (SNO+), Phys. Rev. D 105, 112012 (2022), arXiv:2205.06400.
- [14] A. S. Inácio (SNO+), PoS PANIC2021, 274 (2022).
- [15] D. J. Auty et al., Nucl. Instrum. Meth. A 1051, 168204 (2023), arXiv:2212.12444.
- [16] R. Arnold et al., Eur. Phys. J. C 70, 927 (2010).
- [17] C. Chambers et al., Nature 569, 203 (2019).
- [18] P. Thapa et al., Sci. Rep. 9, 15097 (2019).
- [19] P. Thapa et al., ACS Sensors 6, 192 (2021), pMID: 33400506.
- [20] Topical Collaboration on Nuclear Theory for Double Beta Decay and Fundamental Symmetries, https:// a51.lbl.gov/~Onubb/webhome/.
- [21] V. Cirigliano et al., JHEP 12, 097 (2018), arXiv:1806.02780.
- [22] V. Cirigliano et al., Phys. Rev. Lett. 120, 202001 (2018), arXiv:1802.10097.
- [23] V. Cirigliano et al., Phys. Rev. Lett. 126, 172002 (2021), arXiv:2012.11602.
- [24] A. Nicholson et al., Phys. Rev. Lett. 121, 172501 (2018), arXiv:1805.02634.
- [25] X. Feng et al., Phys. Rev. Lett. 122, 022001 (2019), arXiv:1809.10511.
- [26] X.-Y. Tuo, X. Feng, and L.-C. Jin, Phys. Rev. D 100, 094511 (2019), arXiv:1909.13525.
- [27] W. Detmold and others. (2022), arXiv:2208.05322.
- [28] J. M. Yao, B. Bally, J. Engel, R. Wirth, T. R. Rodríguez, and H. Hergert, Phys. Rev. Lett. 124, 232501 (2020), arXiv:1908.05424.
- [29] A. Belley, C. G. Payne, S. R. Stroberg, T. Miyagi, and J. D. Holt, Phys. Rev. Lett. 126, 042502 (2021), arXiv:2008.06588.
- [30] S. Novario, P. Gysbers, J. Engel, G. Hagen, G. R. Jansen, T. D. Morris, P. Navrátil, T. Papenbrock, and S. Quaglioni, Phys. Rev. Lett. 126, 182502 (2021), arXiv:2008.09696.
- [31] J. M. Yao, A. Belley, R. Wirth, T. Miyagi, C. G. Payne, S. R. Stroberg, H. Hergert, and J. D. Holt, Phys. Rev. C 103, 014315 (2021), arXiv:2010.08609.
- [32] R. Wirth, J. M. Yao, and H. Hergert, Phys. Rev. Lett. 127, 242502 (2021), arXiv:2105.05415.
- [33] F. F. Deppisch, L. Graf, J. Harz, and W.-C. Huang, Phys. Rev. D 98, 055029 (2018), arXiv:1711.10432.
- [34] G. Li, M. Ramsey-Musolf, and J. C. Vasquez, Phys. Rev. Lett. 126, 151801 (2021), arXiv:2009.01257.
- [35] G. Li et al., Physical Review D 105 (2022), arXiv:2109.08172.
- [36] J. Harz et al. (2021), arXiv:2106.10838.
- [37] M. L. Graesser et al., JHEP **2022** (2022), arXiv:2202.01237.
- [38] M. W. Ahmed et al., JINST 14, P11017 (2019), arXiv:1908.09937.
- [39] T. M. Ito et al., Phys. Rev. C 97, 012501 (2018), arXiv:1710.05182.
- [40] D. K. T. Wong et al. (2022), arXiv:2209.00003.
- [41] B. Graner, Y. Chen, E. G. Lindahl, and B. R. Heckel, Phys. Rev. Lett. 116, 161601 (2016), [Erratum: Phys.Rev.Lett. 119, 119901 (2017)], arXiv:1601.04339.
- [42] R. H. Parker, M. R. Dietrich, M. R. Kalita, N. D. Lemke, K. G. Bailey, M. Bishof, J. P. Greene, R. J. Holt, W. Korsch, Z.-T. Lu, et al., Physical Review Letters 114, 233002 (2015), ISSN 0031-9007.
- [43] M. Bishof, R. H. Parker, K. G. Bailey, J. P. Greene, R. J. Holt, M. R. Kalita, W. Korsch, N. D. Lemke, Z.-T. Lu, P. Mueller, et al., Physical Review C 94, 025501 (2016), ISSN 2469-9985.

- [44] F. Allmendinger, I. Engin, W. Heil, S. Karpuk, H.-J. Krause, B. Niederländer, A. Offenhäusser, M. Repetto, U. Schmidt, and S. Zimmer, Physical Review A 100, 022505 (2019), ISSN 2469-9926.
- [45] N. Sachdeva, I. Fan, E. Babcock, M. Burghoff, T. E. Chupp, S. Degenkolb, P. Fierlinger, S. Haude, E. Kraegeloh, W. Kilian, et al., Physical Review Letters 123, 143003 (2019), ISSN 0031-9007.
- [46] T. A. Zheng, Y. A. Yang, S.-Z. Wang, J. T. Singh, Z.-X. Xiong, T. Xia, and Z.-T. Lu, Physical Review Letters 129, 083001 (2022), ISSN 0031-9007.
- [47] G. Arrowsmith-Kron, M. Athanasakis-Kaklamanakis, M. Au, J. Ballof, R. Berger, A. Borschevsky, A. A. Breier, F. Buchinger, D. Budker, L. Caldwell, et al. (2023), arXiv:2302.02165.
- [48] R. F. Garcia Ruiz, R. Berger, J. Billowes, C. Binnersley, M. Bissell, A. Breier, A. Brinson, K. Chrysalidis, T. Cocolios, B. Cooper, et al., Nature 581, 396 (2020).
- [49] M. Fan, C. A. Holliman, X. Shi, H. Zhang, M. W. Straus, X. Li, S. W. Buechele, and A. M. Jayich, Physical Review Letters 126, 023002 (2021), ISSN 0031-9007.
- [50] P. Yu and N. R. Hutzler, Physical Review Letters **126**, 023003 (2021), ISSN 0031-9007.
- [51] V. Andreev, D. G. Ang, D. DeMille, J. M. Doyle, G. Gabrielse, J. Haefner, N. R. Hutzler, Z. Lasner, C. Meisenhelder, B. R. O'Leary, et al., Nature 562, 355 (2018), ISSN 0028-0836.
- [52] W. B. Cairncross, D. N. Gresh, M. Grau, K. C. Cossel, T. S. Roussy, Y. Ni, Y. Zhou, J. Ye, and E. A. Cornell, Physical review letters 119, 153001 (2017).
- [53] T. S. Roussy, L. Caldwell, T. Wright, W. B. Cairneross, Y. Shagam, K. B. Ng, N. Schlossberger, S. Y. Park, A. Wang, J. Ye, et al. (2022).
- [54] J. J. Hudson, D. M. Kara, I. J. Smallman, B. E. Sauer, M. R. Tarbutt, and E. A. Hinds, Nature 473, 493 (2011), ISSN 1476-4687.
- [55] P. Aggarwal, H. L. Bethlem, A. Borschevsky, M. Denis, K. Esajas, P. A. B. Haase, Y. Hao, S. Hoekstra, K. Jungmann, T. B. Meijknecht, et al., The European Physical Journal D 72, 197 (2018), ISSN 1434-6060.
- [56] X. Alauze, J. Lim, M. A. Trigatzis, S. Swarbrick, F. J. Collings, N. J. Fitch, B. E. Sauer, and M. R. Tarbutt, Quantum Science and Technology 6, 044005 (2021), ISSN 2058-9565.
- [57] P. Aggarwal, Y. Yin, K. Esajas, H. L. Bethlem, A. Boeschoten, A. Borschevsky, S. Hoekstra, K. Jungmann, V. R. Marshall, T. B. Meijknecht, et al., Physical Review Letters 127, 173201 (2021), ISSN 0031-9007.
- [58] C. Tang, T. Zhang, and D. S. Weiss, Phys. Rev. A 97, 033404 (2018), ISSN 2469-9926.
- [59] T. Hayamizu, H. Haba, K. Nakamura, T. Aoki, H. Nagahama, K. S. Tanaka, N. Ozawa, M. Ohtsuka, and Y. Sakemi, Few-Body Systems 63, 11 (2022), ISSN 0177-7963.
- [60] I. Kozyryev and N. R. Hutzler, Physical Review Letters **119**, 133002 (2017), ISSN 0031-9007.
- [61] L. Anderegg, N. B. Vilas, C. Hallas, P. Robichaud, A. Jadbabaie, J. M. Doyle, and N. R. Hutzler (2023), arXiv:2301.08656.
- [62] S. J. Li, H. D. Ramachandran, R. Anderson, and A. C. Vutha (2022), 2207.07279.
- [63] O. Grasdijk, O. Timgren, J. Kastelic, T. Wright, S. Lamoreaux, D. DeMille, K. Wenz, M. Aitken, T. Zelevinsky, T. Winick, et al., Quantum Science and Technology 6, 044007 (2021), ISSN 2058-9565.
- [64] N. H. Pilgram, A. Jadbabaie, Y. Zeng, N. R. Hutzler, and T. C. Steimle, The Journal of Chemical Physics 154, 244309 (2021), ISSN 0021-9606.
- [65] C. J. Ho, J. Lim, B. E. Sauer, and M. R. Tarbutt, Frontiers in Physics 11 (2023), ISSN 2296-424X.
- [66] J. Brod, U. Haisch, and J. Zupan, JHEP 11, 180 (2013), arXiv:1310.1385.
- [67] V. Cirigliano, W. Dekens, J. de Vries, and E. Mereghetti, Phys. Rev. D 94, 034031 (2016), arXiv:1605.04311.
- [68] V. Cirigliano, A. Crivellin, W. Dekens, J. de Vries, M. Hoferichter, and E. Mereghetti, Phys. Rev. Lett. 123, 051801 (2019), arXiv:1903.03625.
- [69] J. Brod, J. M. Cornell, D. Skodras, and E. Stamou, JHEP 08, 294 (2022), arXiv:2203.03736.
- [70] A. V. Gritsan et al. (2022), arXiv:2205.07715.
- [71] M. J. Ramsey-Musolf, JHEP 09, 179 (2020), arXiv:1912.07189.
- [72] Z. Wang, X. Zhu, E. E. Khoda, S.-C. Hsu, N. Konstantinidis, K. Li, S. Li, M. J. Ramsey-Musolf, Y. Wu, and Y. E. Zhang, in 2022 Snowmass Summer Study (2022), arXiv:2203.10184.
- [73] T. Bhattacharya, V. Cirigliano, R. Gupta, H.-W. Lin, and B. Yoon, Phys. Rev. Lett. 115, 212002 (2015), arXiv:1506.04196.
- [74] R. Gupta, B. Yoon, T. Bhattacharya, V. Cirigliano, Y.-C. Jang, and H.-W. Lin, Phys. Rev. D 98, 091501 (2018), arXiv:1808.07597.
- [75] J. Dragos, T. Luu, A. Shindler, J. de Vries, and A. Yousif, Phys. Rev. C 103, 015202 (2021), arXiv:1902.03254.
- [76] C. Alexandrou, A. Athenodorou, K. Hadjiyiannakou, and A. Todaro, Phys. Rev. D 103, 054501 (2021), arXiv:2011.01084.

- [77] T. Bhattacharya, V. Cirigliano, R. Gupta, E. Mereghetti, and B. Yoon, Phys. Rev. D 103, 114507 (2021), arXiv:2101.07230.
- [78] J. Liang, A. Alexandru, T. Draper, K.-F. Liu, B. Wang, G. Wang, and Y.-B. Yang (2023), arXiv:2301.04331.
- [79] M. Abramczyk, S. Aoki, T. Blum, T. Izubuchi, H. Ohki, and S. Syritsyn, Phys. Rev. D 96, 014501 (2017), arXiv:1701.07792.
- [80] T. Bhattacharya, V. Cirigliano, R. Gupta, E. Mereghetti, and B. Yoon, PoS LATTICE2021, 567 (2022), arXiv:2203.03746.
- [81] Y. Aoki et al. (Flavour Lattice Averaging Group (FLAG)), Eur. Phys. J. C 82, 869 (2022), arXiv:2111.09849.
- [82] J. Engel, M. J. Ramsey-Musolf, and U. van Kolck, Prog. Part. Nucl. Phys. 71, 21 (2013), arXiv:1303.2371.
- [83] J. Dobaczewski, J. Engel, M. Kortelainen, and P. Becker, Phys. Rev. Lett. 121, 232501 (2018), arXiv:1807.09581.
- [84] K. Yanase and N. Shimizu, Phys. Rev. C 102, 065502 (2020), arXiv:2006.15142.
- [85] R. Alarcon et al., in 2022 Snowmass Summer Study (2022), arXiv:2203.08103.
- [86] D. Androić et al. (Qweak), Nature 557, 207 (2018), arXiv:1905.08283.
- [87] D. Adhikari et al. (PREX), Phys. Rev. Lett. 126, 172502 (2021), arXiv:2102.10767.
- [88] D. Adhikari et al. (CREX), Phys. Rev. Lett. 129, 042501 (2022), arXiv:2205.11593.
- [89] J. C. Hardy and I. S. Towner, Phys. Rev. C 102, 045501 (2020).
- [90] P. D. Shidling, D. Melconian, S. Behling, B. Fenker, J. C. Hardy, V. E. Iacob, E. McCleskey, M. McCleskey, M. Mehlman, H. I. Park, et al., Phys. Rev. C 90, 032501 (2014).
- [91] P. D. Shidling, R. S. Behling, B. Fenker, J. C. Hardy, V. E. Iacob, M. Mehlman, H. I. Park, B. T. Roeder, and D. Melconian, Phys. Rev. C 98, 015502 (2018).
- [92] J. Long, T. Ahn, J. Allen, D. W. Bardayan, F. D. Becchetti, D. Blankstein, M. Brodeur, D. Burdette, B. Frentz, M. R. Hall, et al., Phys. Rev. C 96, 015502 (2017).
- [93] A. A. Valverde, M. Brodeur, T. Ahn, J. Allen, D. W. Bardayan, F. D. Becchetti, D. Blankstein, G. Brown, D. P. Burdette, B. Frentz, et al., Phys. Rev. C 97, 035503 (2018).
- [94] J. Long, C. R. Nicoloff, D. W. Bardayan, F. D. Becchetti, D. Blankstein, C. Boomershine, D. P. Burdette, M. A. Caprio, L. Caves, P. J. Fasano, et al., Phys. Rev. C 106, 045501 (2022).
- [95] D. P. Burdette, M. Brodeur, D. W. Bardayan, F. D. Becchetti, D. Blankstein, C. Boomershine, L. Caves, S. L. Henderson, J. J. Kolata, B. Liu, et al., Phys. Rev. C 101, 055504 (2020).
- [96] J. Long, M. Brodeur, M. Baines, D. W. Bardayan, F. D. Becchetti, D. Blankstein, C. Boomershine, D. P. Burdette, A. M. Clark, B. Frentz, et al., Phys. Rev. C 101, 015501 (2020).
- [97] K. Gulyuz, G. Bollen, M. Brodeur, R. A. Bryce, K. Cooper, M. Eibach, C. Izzo, E. Kwan, K. Manukyan, D. J. Morrissey, et al., Phys. Rev. Lett. 116, 012501 (2016).
- [98] M. Eibach, G. Bollen, M. Brodeur, K. Cooper, K. Gulyuz, C. Izzo, D. J. Morrissey, M. Redshaw, R. Ringle, R. Sandler, et al., Phys. Rev. C 92, 045502 (2015).
- [99] B. Fenker, A. Gorelov, D. Melconian, J. A. Behr, M. Anholm, D. Ashery, R. S. Behling, I. Cohen, I. Craiciu, G. Gwinner, et al., Phys. Rev. Lett. 120, 062502 (2018).
- [100] W. Byron et al. (2022), arXiv:2209.02870.
- [101] M. G. Sternberg, R. Segel, N. D. Scielzo, G. Savard, J. A. Clark, P. F. Bertone, F. Buchinger, M. Burkey, S. Caldwell, A. Chaudhuri, et al., Phys. Rev. Lett. 115, 182501 (2015).
- [102] M. T. Burkey, G. Savard, A. T. Gallant, N. D. Scielzo, J. A. Clark, T. Y. Hirsh, L. Varriano, G. H. Sargsyan, K. D. Launey, M. Brodeur, et al., Phys. Rev. Lett. **128**, 202502 (2022).
- [103] A. T. Gallant et al. (2022), submitted to Phys. Rev. Lett.
- [104] P. Müller et al., Phys. Rev. Lett. **129**, 182502 (2022).
- [105] C.-Y. Seng, M. Gorchtein, H. H. Patel, and M. J. Ramsey-Musolf, Phys. Rev. Lett. 121, 241804 (2018), arXiv:1807.10197.
- [106] M. Gorchtein, Phys. Rev. Lett. 123, 042503 (2019), 1812.04229.
- [107] F. M. Gonzalez et al. (UCNτ), Phys. Rev. Lett. **127**, 162501 (2021), arXiv:2106.10375.
- [108] Z. Tang et al., Phys. Rev. Lett. 121, 022505 (2018), arXiv:1802.01595.
- [109] M. A. P. Brown et al. (UCNA), Phys. Rev. C 97, 035505 (2018), arXiv:1712.00884.
- [110] K. P. Hickerson et al., Phys. Rev. C 96, 042501 (2017), [Addendum: Phys.Rev.C 96, 059901 (2017)], arXiv:1707.00776.
- [111] X. Sun et al. (UCNA), Phys. Rev. C 101, 035503 (2020), arXiv:1911.05829.
- [112] X. Sun et al. (UCNA), Phys. Rev. C 97, 052501 (2018), arXiv:1803.10890.
- [113] G. Darius et al., Phys. Rev. Lett. **119**, 042502 (2017).

- [114] M. T. Hassan et al., Phys. Rev. C 103, 045502 (2021), arXiv:2012.14379.
- [115] M. J. Bales et al. (RDK II), Phys. Rev. Lett. 116, 242501 (2016), arXiv:1603.00243.
- [116] J. Fry et al., EPJ Web Conf. 219, 04002 (2019), arXiv:1811.10047.
- [117] C. C. Chang, A. N. Nicholson, E. Rinaldi, E. Berkowitz, N. Garron, D. A. Brantley, H. Monge-Camacho, C. J. Monahan, C. Bouchard, M. A. Clark, et al., Nature 558, 91 (2018), ISSN 14764687, arXiv:1805.12130.
- [118] A. Walker-Loud, E. Berkowitz, A. S. Gambhir, D. Brantley, P. Vranas, C. Bouchard, M. Clark, N. Garron, C. C. Chang, B. Joo, et al., in *Proceedings of The 9th International workshop on Chiral Dynamics PoS(CD2018)* (Sissa Medialab, Trieste, Italy, 2020), September, p. 020, arXiv:1912.08321.
- [119] V. Cirigliano, J. de Vries, L. Hayen, E. Mereghetti, and A. Walker-Loud, Phys. Rev. Lett. 129, 121801 (2022), arXiv:2202.10439.
- [120] S. Pastore, A. Baroni, J. Carlson, S. Gandolfi, S. C. Pieper, R. Schiavilla, and R. B. Wiringa, Phys. Rev. C 97, 022501 (2018), arXiv:1709.03592.
- [121] P. Gysbers et al., Nature Phys. 15, 428 (2019), arXiv:1903.00047.
- [122] B. Abi et al. (Muon g-2), Phys. Rev. Lett. 126, 141801 (2021), arXiv:2104.03281.
- [123] T. Albahri et al. (Muon g-2), Phys. Rev. A 103, 042208 (2021), arXiv:2104.03201.
- [124] T. Albahri et al. (Muon g-2), Phys. Rev. D 103, 072002 (2021), arXiv:2104.03247.
- [125] T. Albahri et al. (Muon g-2), Phys. Rev. Accel. Beams 24, 044002 (2021), arXiv:2104.03240.
- [126] G. W. Bennett et al. (Muon g-2), Phys. Rev. D 73, 072003 (2006), hep-ex/0602035.
- [127] D. Blyth et al. (NPDGamma), Phys. Rev. Lett. 121, 242002 (2018), arXiv:1807.10192.
- [128] M. T. Gericke et al. (n3He), Phys. Rev. Lett. **125**, 131803 (2020), arXiv:2004.11535.
- [129] H. E. Swanson et al., Phys. Rev. C 100, 015204 (2019), arXiv:1902.08026.
- [130] E. Altuntas, J. Ammon, S. B. Cahn, and D. DeMille, Phys. Rev. Lett. 120, 142501 (2018), arXiv:1801.05316.
- [131] D. R. Phillips, D. Samart, and C. Schat, Phys. Rev. Lett. 114, 062301 (2015).
- [132] M. R. Schindler, R. P. Springer, and J. Vanasse, Phys. Rev. C 93, 025502 (2016).
- [133] S. Gardner, W. C. Haxton, and B. R. Holstein, Ann. Rev. Nucl. Part. Sci. 67, 69 (2017), arXiv:1704.02617.
- [134] L. J. Broussard et al., Phys. Rev. Lett. **128**, 212503 (2022), arXiv:2111.05543.
- [135] A. Addazi et al., J. Phys. G 48, 070501 (2021), arXiv:2006.04907.
- [136] M. Aker et al. (KATRIN), Nature Phys. 18, 160 (2022), arXiv:2105.08533.
- [137] M. Aker et al. (KATRIN), Phys. Rev. Lett. 126, 091803 (2021), arXiv:2011.05087.
- [138] M. Aker et al. (KATRIN), Phys. Rev. D 105, 072004 (2022), arXiv:2201.11593.
- [139] A. Ashtari Esfahani et al. (Project 8) (2022), arXiv:2212.05048.
- [140] S. Friedrich et al., Phys. Rev. Lett. 126, 021803 (2021), arXiv:2010.09603.
- [141] D. K. Keblbeck, R. Bhandari, N. D. Gamage, M. H. Gamage, K. G. Leach, X. Mougeot, and M. Redshaw, Phys. Rev. C 107, 015504 (2023), arXiv:2201.08790.
- [142] C. J. Martoff, F. Granato, V. Palmaccio, X. Yu, P. F. Smith, E. R. Hudson, P. Hamilton, C. Schneider, E. Chang, A. Renshaw, et al., QUANTUM SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY 6 (2021), ISSN 2058-9565.
- [143] D. Akimov et al. (COHERENT), Science 357, 1123 (2017), arXiv:1708.01294.
- [144] D. Akimov et al. (COHERENT), Phys. Rev. Lett. 126, 012002 (2021), arXiv:2003.10630.
- [145] A. Lovato, J. Carlson, S. Gandolfi, N. Rocco, and R. Schiavilla, Phys. Rev. X 10, 031068 (2020), arXiv:2003.07710.
- [146] K. N. Abazajian et al. (2022), arXiv:2203.07377.
- [147] N. Aghanim et al. (Planck), Astron. Astrophys. 641, A6 (2020), [Erratum: Astron.Astrophys. 652, C4 (2021)], arXiv:1807.06209.
- [148] S. Aiola et al. (ACT), JCAP 12, 047 (2020), arXiv:2007.07288.
- [149] L. Balkenhol et al. (SPT-3G), Phys. Rev. D 104, 083509 (2021), arXiv:2103.13618.
- [150] M. G. Aartsen et al. (IceCube), Nature 551, 596 (2017), arXiv:1711.08119.
- [151] R. Abbasi, M. Ackermann, J. Adams, J. A. Aguilar, M. Ahlers, M. Ahrens, C. Alispach, A. A. Alves, N. M. Amin, K. Andeen, et al. (IceCube Collaboration), Phys. Rev. D 104, 022001 (2021).
- [152] B. Heacock et al., Science 373, 1239 (2021), https://www.science.org/doi/pdf/10.1126/science.abc2794.
- [153] C. Adams et al. (2022), arXiv:2212.11099.
- [154] J. Schechter and J. W. F. Valle, Phys. Rev. D25, 2951 (1982).
- [155] S. Davidson, E. Nardi, and Y. Nir, Phys. Rept. 466, 105 (2008), 0802.2962.
- [156] R. L. Workman et al. (Particle Data Group), PTEP 2022, 083C01 (2022).
- [157] M. Agostini et al. (2022), arXiv:2202.01787.
- [158] L. Gráf, M. Lindner, and O. Scholer, Phys. Rev. D 106, 035022 (2022), arXiv:2204.10845.

- [159] K. Blum, Y. Nir, and M. Shavit, Phys. Lett. B 785, 354 (2018), arXiv:1802.08019.
- [160] F. F. Deppisch, L. Graf, and F. Šimkovic, Phys. Rev. Lett. 125, 171801 (2020), arXiv:2003.11836.
- [161] V. Cirigliano, Z. Davoudi, J. Engel, R. J. Furnstahl, G. Hagen, U. Heinz, H. Hergert, M. Horoi, C. W. Johnson, A. Lovato, et al., Journal of Physics G: Nuclear and Particle Physics 49, 120502 (2022).
- [162] M. Agostini, G. Benato, and J. A. Detwiler, Phys. Rev. D 96, 053001 (2017).
- [163] J. Barea, J. Kotila, and F. Iachello, Phys. Rev. D 92, 093001 (2015).
- [164] J. Menéndez, J. Phys. G 45, 014003 (2018), arXiv:1804.02105.
- [165] M. Horoi and A. Neacsu, Phys. Rev. C 93, 024308 (2016), arXiv:1511.03711.
- [166] L. Coraggio and others., Phys. Rev. C 101, 044315 (2020), arXiv:2001.00890.
- [167] L. Coraggio et al., Phys. Rev. C 105, 034312 (2022), arXiv:2203.01013.
- [168] M. T. Mustonen and J. Engel, Phys. Rev. C 87, 064302 (2013), arXiv:1301.6997.
- [169] J. Hyvärinen and J. Suhonen, Phys. Rev. C 91, 024613 (2015).
- [170] F. Šimkovic, A. Smetana, and P. Vogel, Phys. Rev. C 98, 064325 (2018), arXiv:1808.05016.
- [171] D.-L. Fang, A. Faessler, and F. Simkovic, Phys. Rev. C 97, 045503 (2018), arXiv:1803.09195.
- [172] J. Terasaki, Phys. Rev. C 102, 044303 (2020), arXiv:2003.03542.
- [173] T. R. Rodriguez and G. Martinez-Pinedo, Phys. Rev. Lett. 105, 252503 (2010), arXiv:1008.5260.
- [174] N. López Vaquero, T. R. Rodríguez, and J. L. Egido, Phys. Rev. Lett. 111, 142501 (2013), arXiv:1401.0650.
- [175] L. S. Song et al., Phys. Rev. C 95, 024305 (2017), arXiv:1702.02448.
- [176] J. Barea, J. Kotila, and F. Iachello, Phys. Rev. C 91, 034304 (2015), arXiv:1506.08530.
- [177] F. F. Deppisch et al., Phys. Rev. D 102, 095016 (2020), arXiv:2009.10119.
- [178] C. F. Jiao, J. Engel, and J. D. Holt, Phys. Rev. C 96, 054310 (2017), arXiv:1707.03940.
- [179] M. Agostini et al., Phys. Rev. C 104, L042501 (2021), arXiv:2107.09104.
- [180] The CUPID Interest Group (2019), arXiv:1907.09376.
- [181] D. Q. Adams et al., Nature **604**, 53 (2022).
- [182] I. C. Bandac et al. (CROSS), JHEP 01, 018 (2020), arXiv:1906.10233.
- [183] A. Armatol and others. (2022), arXiv:2203.08386.
- [184] nEXO Collaboration, S. A. Kharusi, et al. (2018), arXiv:1805.11142.
- [185] G. Gallina et al., Eur. Phys. J. C 82, 1125 (2022), 2209.07765.
- [186] M. HFE-7000, http://www.3m.com.
- [187] G. Adhikari et al., J. Phys. G: Nucl. Part. Phys. 49, 015104 (2021).
- [188] J. B. Albert et al. (EXO-200), Phys. Rev. C92, 015503 (2015), 1503.06241.
- [189] M. B. Gavela, P. Hernandez, J. Orloff, and O. Pene, Mod. Phys. Lett. A9, 795 (1994), hep-ph/9312215.
- [190] M. B. Gavela, M. Lozano, J. Orloff, and O. Pene, Nucl. Phys. B430, 345 (1994), hep-ph/9406288.
- [191] P. Huet and E. Sather, Phys. Rev. D51, 379 (1995), hep-ph/9404302.
- [192] T. S. Roussy et al. (2022), arXiv:2212.11841.
- [193] T. Chupp, P. Fierlinger, M. Ramsey-Musolf, and J. Singh, Rev. Mod. Phys. **91**, 015001 (2019), arXiv:1710.02504.
- [194] R. J. Crewther, P. Di Vecchia, G. Veneziano, and E. Witten, Phys. Lett. B 88, 123 (1979), [Erratum: Phys.Lett.B 91, 487 (1980)].
- [195] M. Pospelov and A. Ritz, Annals Phys. 318, 119 (2005), hep-ph/0504231.
- [196] J. D. Bowman and V. Gudkov, Phys. Rev. C 90, 065503 (2014), arXiv:1407.7004.
- [197] M. J. Ramsey-Musolf and J. C. Vasquez, Physics Letters B 815, 136136 (2021), ISSN 0370-2693.
- [198] S. Gardner and D. He, Phys. Rev. D 87, 116012 (2013).
- [199] S. Gardner and J. Shi, Phys. Rev. D 101, 115038 (2020), arXiv:1903.11617.
- [200] S. Shimizu, K. Horie, Y. Igarashi, H. Ito, K. Kamada, S. Kimura, A. Kobayashi, M. Mihara, A. Yamaji, and A. Yoshikawa, Nucl. Instrum. Meth. A 945, 162587 (2019).
- [201] C. Abel et al., Phys. Rev. Lett. 124, 081803 (2020), arXiv:2001.11966.
- [202] C. A. Baker et al., Phys. Rev. Lett. 97, 131801 (2006), hep-ex/0602020.
- [203] C. A. Baker et al., Nucl. Instrum. Meth. A 736, 184 (2014), arXiv:1305.7336.
- [204] J. M. Pendlebury et al., Phys. Rev. D 92, 092003 (2015), arXiv:1509.04411.
- [205] R. Alarcon et al., https://indico.phy.ornl.gov/event/209/attachments/851/2602/ neutron-physics.pdf.
- [206] R. Golub and S. K. Lamoreaux, Phys. Rept. 237, 1 (1994).
- [207] T. M. Ito et al., Rev. Sci. Instrum. 87, 045113 (2016), arXiv:1510.06068.
- [208] N. S. Phan, W. Wei, B. Beaumont, N. Bouman, S. M. Clayton, S. A. Currie, T. M. Ito, J. C. Ramsey, and G. M.

Seidel, J. Appl. Phys. 129, 083301 (2021), arXiv:2011.08844.

- [209] T. M. Ito et al., Phys. Rev. C 97, 012501 (2018), arXiv:1710.05182.
- [210] D. K. T. Wong et al., Nucl. Instrum. Meth. A 1050, 168105 (2023), arXiv:2209.00003.
- [211] R. Alarcon, J. Alexander, V. Anastassopoulos, T. Aoki, R. Baartman, S. Baeßler, L. Bartoszek, D. H. Beck, F. Bedeschi, R. Berger, et al., arxiv:2203.08103 (2022), arXiv:2203.08103.
- [212] M. S. Safronova, D. Budker, D. DeMille, D. F. J. Kimball, A. Derevianko, and C. W. Clark, Rev. Mod. Phys. 90, 025008 (2018), ISSN 0034-6861.
- [213] T. E. Chupp, P. Fierlinger, M. J. Ramsey-Musolf, and J. T. Singh, Rev. Mod. Phys. 91, 015001 (2019), ISSN 0034-6861.
- [214] C. Abel, S. Afach, N. J. Ayres, C. A. Baker, G. Ban, G. Bison, K. Bodek, V. Bondar, M. Burghoff, E. Chanel, et al., Physical Review Letters 124, 081803 (2020), ISSN 0031-9007.
- [215] B. Graner, Y. Chen, E. G. Lindahl, and B. R. Heckel, Phys. Rev. Lett. 116, 161601 (2016).
- [216] J. Ginges and V. Flambaum, Physics Reports **397**, 63 (2004), ISSN 03701573, 0309054.
- [217] V. V. Flambaum, M. Pospelov, A. Ritz, and Y. V. Stadnik, Phys. Rev. D 102, 035001 (2020), arXiv:1912.13129.
- [218] F. Allmendinger, I. Engin, W. Heil, S. Karpuk, H.-J. Krause, B. Niederländer, A. Offenhäusser, M. Repetto, U. Schmidt, and S. Zimmer, Phys. Rev. A 100, 022505 (2019), ISSN 2469-9926.
- [219] N. Sachdeva, I. Fan, E. Babcock, M. Burghoff, T. E. Chupp, S. Degenkolb, P. Fierlinger, S. Haude, E. Kraegeloh, W. Kilian, et al., Phys. Rev. Lett. 123, 143003 (2019), ISSN 0031-9007.
- [220] E. R. Tardiff, J. A. Behr, T. E. Chupp, K. Gulyuz, R. S. Lefferts, W. Lorenzon, S. R. Nuss-Warren, M. R. Pearson, N. Pietralla, G. Rainovski, et al., Phys. Rev. C 77, 052501 (2008).
- [221] N. H. Pilgram, A. Jadbabaie, Y. Zeng, N. R. Hutzler, and T. C. Steimle, The Journal of Chemical Physics 154, 244309 (2021), ISSN 0021-9606.
- [222] N. R. Hutzler, Quantum Science and Technology 5, 044011 (2020), ISSN 2058-9565.
- [223] N. Fitch and M. Tarbutt, Adv. At. Mol. Opt. Phys. 70, 157 (2021).
- [224] V. V. Flambaum, D. DeMille, and M. G. Kozlov, Physical Review Letters 113, 103003 (2014).
- [225] W. C. Haxton and E. M. Henley, Phys. Rev. Lett. 51, 1937 (1983), ISSN 0031-9007.
- [226] N. Auerbach, V. V. Flambaum, and V. Spevak, Phys. Rev. Lett. 76, 4316 (1996), ISSN 0031-9007.
- [227] J. Dobaczewski and J. Engel, Phys. Rev. Lett. 94, 232502 (2005), ISSN 0031-9007.
- [228] O. P. Sushkov, V. V. Flambaum, and I. B. Khriplovich, JETP 60, 873 (1985).
- [229] V. V. Flambaum and J. S. M. Ginges, Phys. Rev. A 65, 032113 (2002), ISSN 1050-2947.
- [230] D. Booth, T. Rabga, R. Ready, K. Bailey, M. Bishof, M. Dietrich, J. Greene, P. Mueller, T. O'Connor, and J. Singh, Spectrochimica Acta Part B: Atomic Spectroscopy 172, 105967 (2020).
- [231] R. A. Ready, G. Arrowsmith-Kron, K. G. Bailey, D. Battaglia, M. Bishof, D. Coulter, M. R. Dietrich, R. Fang, B. Hanley, J. Huneau, et al., Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research Section A: Accelerators, Spectrometers, Detectors and Associated Equipment **1014**, 165738 (2021).
- [232] E. P. Abel, M. Avilov, V. Ayres, E. Birnbaum, G. Bollen, G. Bonito, T. Bredeweg, H. Clause, A. Couture, J. DeVore, et al., Journal of Physics G: Nuclear and Particle Physics 46, 100501 (2019), ISSN 0954-3899.
- [233] T. A. Isaev, A. V. Zaitsevskii, and E. Eliav, Journal of Physics B 50, 225101 (2017), ISSN 0953-4075.
- [234] R. F. Garcia Ruiz, R. Berger, J. Billowes, C. L. Binnersley, M. L. Bissell, A. A. Breier, A. J. Brinson, K. Chrysalidis, T. E. Cocolios, B. S. Cooper, et al., Nature 581, 396 (2020), ISSN 0028-0836.
- [235] J. Benesch et al. (MOLLER) (2014), arXiv:1411.4088.
- [236] J. Arrington et al. (Jefferson Lab SoLID) (2022), arXiv:2209.13357.
- [237] P. A. Zyla et al. (Particle Data Group), PTEP 2020, 083C01 (2020).
- [238] P. L. Anthony et al. (SLAC E158), Phys. Rev. Lett. 95, 081601 (2005), hep-ex/0504049.
- [239] C. S. Wood, S. C. Bennett, D. Cho, B. P. Masterson, J. L. Roberts, C. E. Tanner, and C. E. Wieman, Science 275, 1759 (1997).
- [240] J. Guena, M. Lintz, and M.-A. Bouchiat, Mod. Phys. Lett. A 20, 375 (2005), physics/0503143.
- [241] G. Toh, A. Damitz, C. E. Tanner, W. R. Johnson, and D. S. Elliott, Phys. Rev. Lett. 123, 073002 (2019), arXiv:1905.02768.
- [242] D. Androic et al. (Qweak), Phys. Rev. Lett. 111, 141803 (2013), arXiv:1307.5275.
- [243] D. Androić et al. (Qweak), Nature 557, 207 (2018), arXiv:1905.08283.
- [244] D. Becker et al., Eur. Phys. J. A 54, 208 (2018), arXiv:1802.04759.
- [245] C. Y. Prescott et al., Phys. Lett. B 77, 347 (1978).
- [246] C. Y. Prescott et al., Phys. Lett. B 84, 524 (1979).
- [247] D. Wang et al. (PVDIS), Nature 506, 67 (2014).

- [248] J. Erler and R. Ferro-Hernández, JHEP 03, 196 (2018), arXiv:1712.09146.
- [249] J. Erler and M. J. Ramsey-Musolf, Phys. Rev. D 72, 073003 (2005), hep-ph/0409169.
- [250] K. S. Kumar, S. Mantry, W. J. Marciano, and P. A. Souder, Ann. Rev. Nucl. Part. Sci. 63, 237 (2013), arXiv:1302.6263.
- [251] V. Cirigliano and M. J. Ramsey-Musolf, Prog. Part. Nucl. Phys. 71, 2 (2013), arXiv:1304.0017.
- [252] J. Erler and S. Su, Prog. Part. Nucl. Phys. 71, 119 (2013), arXiv:1303.5522.
- [253] J. Erler and M. Schott, Prog. Part. Nucl. Phys. 106, 68 (2019), arXiv:1902.05142.
- [254] M. J. Ramsey-Musolf and S. Su, Phys. Rept. 456, 1 (2008), hep-ph/0612057.
- [255] V. Cirigliano, A. Kurylov, M. J. Ramsey-Musolf, and P. Vogel, Phys. Rev. D 70, 075007 (2004), hepph/0404233.
- [256] H. Davoudiasl, H.-S. Lee, and W. J. Marciano, Phys. Rev. D 85, 115019 (2012), arXiv:1203.2947.
- [257] H. Davoudiasl, H.-S. Lee, and W. J. Marciano, Phys. Rev. Lett. 109, 031802 (2012), arXiv:1205.2709.
- [258] J. Erler, C. J. Horowitz, S. Mantry, and P. A. Souder, Ann. Rev. Nucl. Part. Sci. 64, 269 (2014), arXiv:1401.6199.
- [259] R. Boughezal, F. Petriello, and D. Wiegand, Phys. Rev. D 104, 016005 (2021), arXiv:2104.03979.
- [260] A. Falkowski and K. Mimouni, JHEP **02**, 086 (2016), arXiv:1511.07434.
- [261] P. L. Anthony et al. (SLAC E158), Phys. Rev. Lett. 95, 081601 (2005), hep-ex/0504049.
- [262] P. S. B. Dev, M. J. Ramsey-Musolf, and Y. Zhang, Phys. Rev. D 98, 055013 (2018), arXiv:1806.08499.
- [263] S. Gardner and X. Yan, Phys. Rev. D 102, 075016 (2020), arXiv:1907.12571.
- [264] A. Kurylov, M. J. Ramsey-Musolf, and S. Su, Phys. Rev. D 68, 035008 (2003), hep-ph/0303026.
- [265] J. Erler, P. Langacker, S. Munir, and E. Rojas (2011), arXiv:1108.0685.
- [266] M. R. Buckley and M. J. Ramsey-Musolf, Phys. Lett. B 712, 261 (2012), arXiv:1203.1102.
- [267] M. González-Alonso and M. J. Ramsey-Musolf, Phys. Rev. D 87, 055013 (2013), arXiv:1211.4581.
- [268] J. L. Abelleira Fernandez et al. (LHeC Study Group), J. Phys. G 39, 075001 (2012), arXiv:1206.2913.
- [269] P. Agostini et al. (LHeC, FCC-he Study Group), J. Phys. G 48, 110501 (2021), arXiv:2007.14491.
- [270] A. Abada et al. (FCC), Eur. Phys. J. C 79, 474 (2019).
- [271] A. Abada et al. (FCC), Eur. Phys. J. ST 228, 261 (2019).
- [272] D. Britzger, M. Klein, and H. Spiesberger, Eur. Phys. J. C 80, 831 (2020), arXiv:2007.11799.
- [273] R. Boughezal, A. Emmert, T. Kutz, S. Mantry, M. Nycz, F. Petriello, K. Şimşek, D. Wiegand, and X. Zheng, Phys. Rev. D 106, 016006 (2022), arXiv:2204.07557.
- [274] J. R. Ellis and R. A. Flores, Phys. Lett. B 377, 83 (1996), hep-ph/9602211.
- [275] T. Bhattacharya, V. Cirigliano, and R. Gupta, PoS LATTICE2012, 179 (2012), arXiv:1212.4918.
- [276] M. Pitschmann, C.-Y. Seng, C. D. Roberts, and S. M. Schmidt, Phys. Rev. D 91, 074004 (2015), arXiv:1411.2052.
- [277] S.-S. Xu, C. Chen, I. C. Cloet, C. D. Roberts, J. Segovia, and H.-S. Zong, Phys. Rev. D 92, 114034 (2015), arXiv:1509.03311.
- [278] J.-P. Chen, H. Gao (contact), J.-C. Peng, X. Qian, et al., (2010 with 2022 update), Jefferson Lab Experiment E12-10-006.
- [279] J.-P. Chen (contact), J. Huang, C. Peng, W.-B. Yan, et al., (2011 with 2022 update), Jefferson Lab Experiment E12-11-007.
- [280] J.-P. Chen, H. Gao (contact), V. Khachatryan, X. Li, Z.-E. Meziani, et al., (2011 with 2022 update), Jefferson Lab Experiment E12-11-108.
- [281] S. Aoki et al. (Flavour Lattice Averaging Group), Eur. Phys. J. C 80, 113 (2020), arXiv:1902.08191.
- [282] R. Gupta, Y.-C. Jang, B. Yoon, H.-W. Lin, V. Cirigliano, and T. Bhattacharya ([Precision Neutron Decay Matrix Elements (PNDME) Collaboration]), Phys. Rev. D **98**, 034503 (2018).
- [283] C. Alexandrou, S. Bacchio, M. Constantinou, J. Finkenrath, K. Hadjiyiannakou, K. Jansen, G. Koutsou, and A. V. Aviles-Casco, Phys. Rev. D 102, 054517 (2020).
- [284] L. Gamberg, Z.-B. Kang, D. Pitonyak, A. Prokudin, N. Sato, and R. Seidl, Physics Letters B 816, 136255 (2021), ISSN 0370-2693.
- [285] R. Abdul Khalek et al., Nucl. Phys. A 1026, 122447 (2022), arXiv:2103.05419.
- [286] T. Liu, Z. Zhao, and H. Gao, Phys. Rev. D 97, 074018 (2018), arXiv:1704.00113.
- [287] Z. Ye et al., Phys. Lett. B 767, 91 (2017), arXiv:1609.02449.
- [288] M. Gonzalez-Alonso, O. Naviliat-Cuncic, and N. Severijns, Progress in Particle and Nuclear Physics 104, 165 (2019), ISSN 0146-6410.
- [289] M. Brodeur et al. (2023), arXiv:2301.03975.

- [290] V. Cirigliano, A. Crivellin, M. Hoferichter, and M. Moulson (2022), arXiv:2208.11707.
- [291] W. J. Marciano and A. Sirlin, Phys. Rev. Lett. 96, 032002 (2006), hep-ph/0510099.
- [292] A. Czarnecki, W. J. Marciano, and A. Sirlin, Phys. Rev. D100, 073008 (2019), 1907.06737.
- [293] C.-Y. Seng, X. Feng, M. Gorchtein, and L.-C. Jin, Phys. Rev. D 101, 111301 (2020), arXiv:2003.11264.
- [294] K. Shiells, P. G. Blunden, and W. Melnitchouk, Phys. Rev. D 104, 033003 (2021), arXiv:2012.01580.
- [295] L. Hayen, Phys. Rev. D 103, 113001 (2021), arXiv:2010.07262.
- [296] V. Cirigliano, W. Dekens, J. de Vries, E. Mereghetti, and T. Tong, Phys. Rev. D 106, 075001 (2022), arXiv:2204.08440.
- [297] M. Blennow, P. Coloma, E. Fernández-Martínez, and M. González-López, Phys. Rev. D 106, 073005 (2022), arXiv:2204.04559.
- [298] E. Bagnaschi, J. Ellis, M. Madigan, K. Mimasu, V. Sanz, and T. You, JHEP 08, 308 (2022), arXiv:2204.05260.
- [299] C. Y. Seng, M. Gorchtein, and M. J. Ramsey-Musolf, Phys. Rev. D 100, 013001 (2019), arXiv:1812.03352.
- [300] B. Märkisch et al., Phys. Rev. Lett. 122, 242501 (2019), arXiv:1812.04666.
- [301] S. Alioli, V. Cirigliano, W. Dekens, J. de Vries, and E. Mereghetti, JHEP 05, 086 (2017), arXiv:1703.04751.
- [302] Y. Aoki, T. Blum, G. Colangelo, S. Collins, M. Della Morte, P. Dimopoulos, S. Dürr, X. Feng, H. Fukaya, M. Golterman, et al., The European Physical Journal C 80 (2021), ISSN 1434-6044, arXiv:2111.09849.
- [303] V. Cirigliano, M. Gonzalez-Alonso, and M. L. Graesser, JHEP 02, 046 (2013), arXiv:1210.4553.
- [304] S. Alioli, W. Dekens, M. Girard, and E. Mereghetti, JHEP 08, 205 (2018), arXiv:1804.07407.
- [305] R. Boughezal, E. Mereghetti, and F. Petriello, Phys. Rev. D 104, 095022 (2021), arXiv:2106.05337.
- [306] L. Allwicher, D. A. Faroughy, F. Jaffredo, O. Sumensari, and F. Wilsch (2022), arXiv:2207.10714.
- [307] L. Allwicher, D. A. Faroughy, F. Jaffredo, O. Sumensari, and F. Wilsch (2022), arXiv:2207.10756.
- [308] A. Falkowski, M. González-Alonso, and O. Naviliat-Cuncic, JHEP 04, 126 (2021), arXiv:2010.13797.
- [309] L. Hayen, N. Severijns, K. Bodek, D. Rozpedzik, and X. Mougeot, Reviews of Modern Physics 90, 015008 (2018), ISSN 0034-6861, 1709.07530.
- [310] A. Glick-Magid and D. Gazit, Journal of Physics G: Nuclear and Particle Physics 49, 105105 (2022).
- [311] G. B. King, A. Baroni, V. Cirigliano, S. Gandolfi, L. Hayen, E. Mereghetti, S. Pastore, and M. Piarulli (2022), arXiv:2207.11179.
- [312] A. Glick-Magid, C. Forssén, D. Gazda, D. Gazit, P. Gysbers, and P. Navrátil, Physics Letters B 832, 137259 (2022), ISSN 03702693, arXiv:2107.10212.
- [313] G. H. Sargsyan, K. D. Launey, M. T. Burkey, A. T. Gallant, N. D. Scielzo, G. Savard, A. Mercenne, T. Dytrych, D. Langr, L. Varriano, et al., Phys. Rev. Lett. 128, 202503 (2022).
- [314] V. Zelevinsky, N. Auerbach, and B. M. Loc, Phys. Rev. C 96, 044319 (2017).
- [315] O. Naviliat-Cuncic and N. Severijns, Phys. Rev. Lett. 102, 142302 (2009).
- [316] L. Hayen and A. R. Young (2020), arXiv:2009.11364.
- [317] I. Iacob et al. (2022), in preparation.
- [318] A. Ozmetin et al. (2022), in preparation.
- [319] B. Fenker, J. A. Behr, D. Melconian, R. M. A. Anderson, M. Anholm, D. Ashery, R. S. Behling, I. Cohen, I. Craiciu, J. M. Donohue, et al., New Journal of Physics 18, 073028 (2016).
- [320] S. Fretwell, K. G. Leach, C. Bray, G. B. Kim, J. Dilling, A. Lennarz, X. Mougeot, F. Ponce, C. Ruiz, J. Stackhouse, et al., Physical Review Letters 125, 32701 (2020), ISSN 10797114.
- [321] S. Friedrich, G. B. Kim, C. Bray, R. Cantor, J. Dilling, S. Fretwell, J. A. Hall, A. Lennarz, V. Lordi, P. Machule, et al., Physical Review Letters 126, 021803 (2021), ISSN 0031-9007, arXiv:2010.09603.
- [322] C.-Y. Seng and M. Gorchtein (2022), arXiv:2208.03037.
- [323] C.-Y. Seng (2022), arXiv:2212.02681.
- [324] P. Shidling et al., Int. J. Mass Spectr. 468, 116636 (2021).
- [325] M. Brodeur, J. Kelly, J. Long, C. Nicoloff, and B. Schultz, Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research Section B: Beam Interactions with Materials and Atoms 376, 281 (2016), ISSN 0168-583X, proceedings of the XVIIth International Conference on Electromagnetic Isotope Separators and Related Topics (EMIS2015), Grand Rapids, MI, U.S.A., 11-15 May 2015.
- [326] P. O'Malley, M. Brodeur, D. Burdette, J. Klimes, A. Valverde, J. Clark, G. Savard, R. Ringle, and V. Varentsov, Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research Section B: Beam Interactions with Materials and Atoms 463, 488 (2020), ISSN 0168-583X.
- [327] A. Falkowski, M. González-Alonso, and O. Naviliat-Cuncic, J. High Energ. Phys. 04, 126 (2021).
- [328] D. M. Asner, R. F. Bradley, L. de Viveiros, P. J. Doe, J. L. Fernandes, M. Fertl, E. C. Finn, J. A. Formaggio, D. Furse, A. M. Jones, et al. (Project 8 Collaboration), Phys. Rev. Lett. 114, 162501 (2015).

- [329] W. Byron et al. (2022), arXiv:2209.02870.
- [330] C. J. Martoff et al., Quantum Sci. Technol. 6, 024008 (2021).
- [331] A. A. Esfahani et al. (Project 8), in 2022 Snowmass Summer Study (2022), arXiv:2203.07349.
- [332] C. M. Cattadori, M. De Deo, M. Laubenstein, L. Pandola, and V. I. Tretyak, Physics of Atomic Nuclei 70, 127 (2007).
- [333] M. T. Mustonen and J. Suhonen, J. Phys. G: Nucl. Part. Phys. 37, 064008 (2010).
- [334] M. T. Mustonen and J. Suhonen, AIP Conf. Proc. 1304, 401 (2010).
- [335] M. Mustonen and J. Suhonen, Physics Letters B 703, 370 (2011), ISSN 0370-2693.
- [336] J. Haaranen, M.and Suhonen, The European Physical Journal A 49, 93 (2013), ISSN 1434-601X.
- [337] J. Suhonen, Physica Scripta 89, 054032 (2014).
- [338] N. D. Gamage, R. Bhandari, M. H. Gamage, R. Sandler, and M. Redshaw, Hyp. Int. 240, 43 (2019).
- [339] D. K. Keblbeck, R. Bhandari, N. D. Gamage, M. H. Gamage, and M. Redshaw, arXiv:2201.08790 (2022).
- [340] M. Horana Gamage, R. Bhandari, G. Bollen, N. D. Gamage, A. Hamaker, D. Puentes, M. Redshaw, R. Ringle, S. Schwarz, C. S. Sumithrarachchi, et al., arXiv:2208.11182 (2022).
- [341] M. Ramalho, Z. Ge, T. Eronen, D. A. Nesterenko, J. Jaatinen, A. Jokinen, A. Kankainen, J. Kostensalo, J. Kotila, M. I. Krivoruchenko, et al., Phys. Rev. C 106, 015501 (2022).
- [342] Z. Ge, T. Eronen, A. de Roubin, K. Tyrin, L. Canete, S. Geldhof, A. Jokinen, A. Kankainen, J. Kostensalo, J. Kotila, et al., Physics Letters B 832, 137226 (2022).
- [343] T. Eronen, Z. Ge, A. de Roubin, M. Ramalho, J. Kostensalo, J. Kotila, O. Beliushkina, C. Delafosse, S. Geldhof, W. Gins, et al., Physics Letters B 830, 137135 (2022).
- [344] Z. Ge, T. Eronen, K. S. Tyrin, J. Kotila, J. Kostensalo, D. A. Nesterenko, O. Beliuskina, R. de Groote, A. de Roubin, S. Geldhof, et al., Phys. Rev. Lett. 127, 272301 (2021).
- [345] A. de Roubin, J. Kostensalo, T. Eronen, L. Canete, R. P. de Groote, A. Jokinen, A. Kankainen, D. A. Nesterenko, I. D. Moore, S. Rinta-Antila, et al., Phys. Rev. Lett. 124, 222503 (2020).
- [346] D. Carney, K. G. Leach, and D. C. Moore (2022), arXiv:2207.05883.
- [347] S. Dodelson and L. M. Widrow, Phys. Rev. Lett. 72, 17 (1994).
- [348] R. Adhikari, M. Agostini, N. A. Ky, T. Araki, M. Archidiacono, M. Bahr, J. Baur, J. Behrens, F. Bezrukov, P. B. Dev, et al., Journal of Cosmology and Astroparticle Physics 2017, 025 (2017).
- [349] A. Boyarsky, M. Drewes, T. Lasserre, S. Mertens, and O. Ruchayskiy, Progress in Particle and Nuclear Physics 104, 1 (2019), ISSN 0146-6410.
- [350] K. G. Leach and S. Friedrich (BeEST), in 19th International Workshop on Low Temperature Detectors (2021), arXiv:2112.02029.
- [351] M. Fallot, S. Cormon, M. Estienne, A. Algora, V. M. Bui, A. Cucoanes, M. Elnimr, L. Giot, D. Jordan, J. Martino, et al., Phys. Rev. Lett. 109, 202504 (2012).
- [352] A. C. Hayes, J. L. Friar, G. T. Garvey, G. Jungman, and G. Jonkmans, Phys. Rev. Lett. 112, 202501 (2014).
- [353] A. A. Sonzogni, T. D. Johnson, and E. A. McCutchan, Phys. Rev. C 91, 011301 (2015).
- [354] B. C. Rasco, M. Wolińska-Cichocka, A. Fijałkowska, K. P. Rykaczewski, M. Karny, R. K. Grzywacz, K. C. Goetz, C. J. Gross, D. W. Stracener, E. F. Zganjar, et al., Phys. Rev. Lett. 117, 092501 (2016).
- [355] A. Fijałkowska, M. Karny, K. P. Rykaczewski, B. Rasco, R. Grzywacz, C. J. Gross, M. Woli ńska Cichocka, K. C. Goetz, D. W. Stracener, W. Bielewski, et al., Phys. Rev. Lett. **119**, 052503 (2017).
- [356] M. Estienne, M. Fallot, A. Algora, J. Briz-Monago, V. M. Bui, S. Cormon, W. Gelletly, L. Giot, V. Guadilla, D. Jordan, et al., Phys. Rev. Lett. 123, 022502 (2019).
- [357] L. Hayen, J. Kostensalo, N. Severijns, and J. Suhonen, Phys. Rev. C 100, 054323 (2019).
- [358] M. Stukel, L. Hariasz, P. C. F. Di Stefano, B. C. Rasco, K. P. Rykaczewski, N. T. Brewer, D. W. Stracener, Y. Liu, Z. Gai, C. Rouleau, et al. (2022).
- [359] B. Fornal and B. Grinstein, Phys. Rev. Lett. 120, 191801 (2018).
- [360] J. M. Berryman, S. Gardner, and M. Zakeri, Symmetry 14 (2022), ISSN 2073-8994.
- [361] M. Pfützner and K. Riisager, Phys. Rev. C 97, 042501 (2018).
- [362] Y. Ayyad, B. Olaizola, W. Mittig, G. Potel, V. Zelevinsky, M. Horoi, S. Beceiro-Novo, M. Alcorta, C. Andreoiu, T. Ahn, et al., Phys. Rev. Lett. 123, 082501 (2019).
- [363] Y. Ayyad, W. Mittig, T. Tang, B. Olaizola, G. Potel, N. Rijal, N. Watwood, H. Alvarez-Pol, D. Bazin, M. Caamaño, et al., Phys. Rev. Lett. 129, 012501 (2022).
- [364] E. Lopez-Saavedra, S. Almaraz-Calderon, B. W. Asher, L. T. Baby, N. Gerken, K. Hanselman, K. W. Kemper, A. N. Kuchera, A. B. Morelock, J. F. Perello, et al., Phys. Rev. Lett. **129**, 012502 (2022).
- [365] K. Riisager, M. J. G. Borge, J. A. Briz, M. Carmona-Gallardo, O. Forstner, L. M. Fraile, H. O. U. Fynbo,

A. G. Camacho, J. G. Johansen, B. Jonson, et al., The European Physical Journal A 56, 100 (2020), ISSN 1434-601X.

- [366] H. Savajols, private communication.
- [367] P. Delahaye, E. Lienard, I. Moore, M. Benali, M. L. Bissell, L. Canete, T. Eronen, A. Falkowski, X. Flechard, M. Gonzalez-Alonso, et al., HYPERFINE INTERACTIONS 240 (2019), ISSN 0304-3843, 7th International Conference on Trapped Charged Particles and Fundamental Physics (TCP), Traverse City, MI, SEP 30-OCT 05, 2018.
- [368] M. Benali, G. Quemener, P. Delahaye, X. Flechard, E. Lienard, and B. M. Retailleau, EUROPEAN PHYSICAL JOURNAL A 56 (2020), ISSN 1434-6001.
- [369] J. A. Behr, M. Ozen, F. Klose, A. Gorelov, J. C. McNeil, D. G. Melconian, G. Gwinner, and M. Anholm, Bulletin of the American Physical Society Fall 2022 Meeting of the APS Division of Nuclear Physics, MH.00005 (2022).
- [370] Bodek, K., De Keukeleere, L., Kolodziej, M., Kozela, A., Kuzniak, M., Lojek, K., Perkowski, M., Przybilski, H., Pysz, K., Rozpedzik, D., et al., EPJ Web Conf. 219, 04001 (2019).
- [371] K. Dhanmeher, K. Bodek, J. Choi, L. De Keukeleere, M. Engler, G. Gupta, A. Kozela, K. Lojek, K. Pysz, D. Ries, et al., Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research Section A: Accelerators, Spectrometers, Detectors and Associated Equipment **1048**, 167955 (2023), ISSN 0168-9002.
- [372] H. P. Mumm, T. E. Chupp, R. L. Cooper, K. P. Coulter, S. J. Freedman, B. K. Fujikawa, A. García, G. L. Jones, J. S. Nico, A. K. Thompson, et al., Phys. Rev. Lett. **107**, 102301 (2011).
- [373] E. M. Scott, J. Caylor, M. S. Dewey, J. Gao, C. Heikes, S. F. Hoogerheide, H. P. Mumm, J. S. Nico, J. Stevens, J. Ullom, et al., JOURNAL OF LOW TEMPERATURE PHYSICS 209, 502 (2022), ISSN 0022-2291.
- [374] W. Mampe, L. N. Bondarenko, V. I. Morozov, Y. N. Panin, and A. I. Fomin, Sov. Phys. JETP 57, 82 (1993).
- [375] A. Serebrov, V. Varlamov, A. Kharitonov, A. Fomin, Y. Pokotilovski, P. Geltenbort, J. Butterworth, I. Krasnoschekova, M. Lasakov, R. Tal'daev, et al., Physics Letters B 605, 72 (2005), ISSN 0370-2693.
- [376] A. Pichlmaier, V. Varlamov, K. Schreckenbach, and P. Geltenbort, Phys. Lett. B693, 221 (2010).
- [377] A. Steyerl et al., Phys. Rev. C 85, 055505 (2012).
- [378] S. Arzumanov, L. Bondarenko, S. Chernyavsky, P. Geltenbort, V. Morozov, V. Nesvizhevsky, Y. Panin, and A. Strepetov, Physics Letters B 745, 79 (2015), ISSN 0370-2693.
- [379] A. P. Serebrov, E. A. Kolomensky, A. K. Fomin, I. A. Krasnoshchekova, A. V. Vassiljev, D. M. Prudnikov, I. V. Shoka, A. V. Chechkin, M. E. Chaikovskiy, V. E. Varlamov, et al., Phys. Rev. C 97, 055503 (2018).
- [380] V. F. Ezhov, A. Z. Andreev, G. Ban, B. A. Bazarov, P. Geltenbort, A. G. Glushkov, V. A. Knyazkov, N. A. Kovrizhnykh, G. B. Krygin, O. Naviliat-Cuncic, et al., JETP Letters 107, 671 (2018), ISSN 1090-6487.
- [381] F. M. Gonzalez, E. M. Fries, C. Cude-Woods, T. Bailey, M. Blatnik, L. J. Broussard, N. B. Callahan, J. H. Choi, S. M. Clayton, S. A. Currie, et al. (UCNτ Collaboration), Phys. Rev. Lett. 127, 162501 (2021).
- [382] J. Byrne, P. G. Dawber, C. G. Habeck, S. J. Smidt, J. A. Spain, and A. P. Williams, EPL (Europhysics Letters) 33, 187 (1996).
- [383] A. T. Yue, M. S. Dewey, D. M. Gilliam, G. L. Greene, A. B. Laptev, J. S. Nico, W. M. Snow, and F. E. Wietfeldt, Phys. Rev. Lett. 111, 222501 (2013).
- [384] N. Nagakura, K. Hirota, S. Ieki, T. Ino, Y. Iwashita, M. Kitaguchi, R. Kitahara, K. Mishima, A. Morishita, H. Oide, et al. (2017), arXiv:1702.03099v1.
- [385] R. L. Workman and Others (Particle Data Group), PTEP 2022, 083C01 (2022).
- [386] P. Bopp et al., Phys. Rev. Lett. 56, 919 (1986).
- [387] B. Yerozolimsky, I. Kuznetsov, Y. Mostovoy, and I. Stepanenko, Phys. Lett. B 412, 240 (1997).
- [388] P. Liaud, K. Schreckenbach, R. Kossakowski, H. Nastoll, A. Bussie, J. Guillaud, and L. Beck, Nucl. Phys. A 612, 53 (1997), ISSN 0375-9474.
- [389] D. Mund, B. Märkisch, M. Deissenroth, J. Krempel, M. Schumann, H. Abele, A. Petoukhov, and T. Soldner, Phys. Rev. Lett. 110, 172502 (2013).
- [390] M. A.-P. Brown, E. B. Dees, E. Adamek, B. Allgeier, M. Blatnik, T. J. Bowles, L. J. Broussard, R. Carr, S. Clayton, C. Cude-Woods, et al. (UCNA Collaboration), Phys. Rev. C 97, 035505 (2018).
- [391] B. Märkisch, H. Mest, H. Saul, X. Wang, H. Abele, D. Dubbers, M. Klopf, A. Petoukhov, C. Roick, T. Soldner, et al., Phys. Rev. Lett. 122, 242501 (2019).
- [392] Y. A. Mostovoi, I. A. Kuznetsov, V. A. Solovei, I. V. Serebrov, A P and Stepanenko, T. K. Baranova, A. V. Vasiliev, Y. P. Rudnev, B. G. Yero zolimsky, M. S. Dewey, F. Wietfeldt, et al., Phys. Atomic Nucl. 64, 1955 (2001).
- [393] M. Schumann, M. Kreuz, M. Deissenroth, F. Glück, J. Krempel, B. Märkisch, D. Mund, A. Petoukhov,

T. Soldner, and H. Abele, Phys. Rev. Lett. 99, 191803 (2007), 0706.3788.

- [394] C. Stratowa, R. Dobrozemsky, and P. Weinzierl, Phys. Rev. D 18 (1978).
- [395] M. Beck, F. Ayala Guardia, M. Borg, J. Kahlenberg, R. Muñoz Horta, C. Schmidt, A. Wunderle, W. Heil, R. Maisonobe, M. Simson, et al., Phys. Rev. C 101, 055506 (2020).
- [396] M. T. Hassan, W. A. Byron, G. Darius, C. DeAngelis, F. E. Wietfeldt, B. Collett, G. L. Jones, A. Komives, G. Noid, E. J. Stephenson, et al., Phys. Rev. C 103, 045502 (2021).
- [397] R. W. Pattie, N. B. Callahan, C. Cude-Woods, E. R. Adamek, L. J. Broussard, S. M. Clayton, S. A. Currie, E. B. Dees, X. Ding, E. M. Engel, et al., Science 360, 627 (2018).
- [398] A. Saunders, M. Makela, Y. Bagdasarova, H. O. Back, J. Boissevain, L. J. Broussard, T. J. Bowles, R. Carr, S. A. Currie, B. Filippone, et al., Review of Scientific Instruments 84, 013304 (2013).
- [399] Z. Tang, M. Blatnik, L. J. Broussard, J. H. Choi, S. M. Clayton, C. Cude-Woods, S. Currie, D. E. Fellers, E. M. Fries, P. Geltenbort, et al., Phys. Rev. Lett. 121, 022505 (2018).
- [400] M. J. Bales, R. Alarcon, C. D. Bass, E. J. Beise, H. Breuer, J. Byrne, T. E. Chupp, K. J. Coakley, R. L. Cooper, M. S. Dewey, et al. (RDK II Collaboration), Phys. Rev. Lett. 116, 242501 (2016).
- [401] J. T. Wilson, D. J. Lawrence, P. N. Peplowski, V. R. Eke, and J. A. Kegerreis, Phys. Rev. C 104, 045501 (2021).
- [402] D. Dubbers, H. Saul, B. Märkisch, T. Soldner, and H. Abele, Physics Letters B 791, 6 (2019), ISSN 0370-2693. [403] Z. Berezhiani, The European Physical Journal C 64, 421 (2009), ISSN 1434-6052.
- [404] L. J. Broussard, J. L. Barrow, L. DeBeer-Schmitt, T. Dennis, M. R. Fitzsimmons, M. J. Frost, C. E. Gilbert, F. M. Gonzalez, L. Heilbronn, E. B. Iverson, et al., Phys. Rev. Lett. 128, 212503 (2022).
- [405] B. Märkisch, H. Mest, H. Saul, X. Wang, H. Abele, D. Dubbers, M. Klopf, A. Petoukhov, C. Roick, T. Soldner, et al., Phys. Rev. Lett. 122, 242501 (2019).
- [406] X. Sun, E. Adamek, B. Allgeier, M. Blatnik, T. J. Bowles, L. J. Broussard, M. A.-P. Brown, R. Carr, S. Clayton, C. Cude-Woods, et al. (UCNA Collaboration), Phys. Rev. C 97, 052501 (2018).
- [407] K. P. Hickerson, X. Sun, Y. Bagdasarova, D. Bravo-Berguño, L. J. Broussard, M. A.-P. Brown, R. Carr, S. Currie, X. Ding, B. W. Filippone, et al. (UCNA Collaboration), Phys. Rev. C 96, 042501 (2017).
- [408] X. Sun, E. Adamek, B. Allgeier, Y. Bagdasarova, D. B. Berguno, M. Blatnik, T. J. Bowles, L. J. Broussard, M. A.-P. Brown, R. Carr, et al. (UCNA Collaboration), Phys. Rev. C 101, 035503 (2020).
- [409] G. Darius, W. A. Byron, C. R. DeAngelis, M. T. Hassan, F. E. Wietfeldt, B. Collett, G. L. Jones, M. S. Dewey, M. P. Mendenhall, J. S. Nico, et al., Phys. Rev. Lett. 119, 042502 (2017).
- [410] D. J. Lawrence, J. T. Wilson, and P. N. Peplowski, Nucl. Instrum. Meth. A 988, 164919 (2021), arXiv:2011.06095.
- [411] S. Baeßler, J. D. Bowman, S. Penttilä, and D. Počanić, Journal of Physics G: Nuclear and Particle Physics 41, 114003 (2014).
- [412] Fry, J., Alarcon, R., Baeßler, S., Balascuta, S., Palos, L. Barrón, Bailey, T., Bass, K., Birge, N., Blose, A., Borissenko, D., et al., EPJ Web Conf. 219, 04002 (2019).
- [413] T. P. Gorringe and D. W. Hertzog, Prog. Part. Nucl. Phys. 84, 73 (2015), arXiv:1506.01465.
- [414] W. Altmannshofer et al. (PIONEER) (2022), arXiv:2203.01981.
- [415] T. Aoyama et al., Phys. Rept. 887, 1 (2020), arXiv:2006.04822.
- [416] A. M. Coutinho, A. Crivellin, and C. A. Manzari, Phys. Rev. Lett. 125, 071802 (2020), arXiv:1912.08823.
- [417] A. Crivellin and M. Hoferichter (2020), arXiv:2002.07184.
- [418] V. Cirigliano and I. Rosell, JHEP 10, 005 (2007), 0707.4464.
- [419] R. E. Shrock, Phys. Lett. B 96, 159 (1980).
- [420] R. E. Shrock, Phys. Rev. D 24, 1232 (1981).
- [421] R. Abela, M. Daum, G. H. Eaton, R. Frosch, B. Jost, P. R. Kettle, and E. Steiner, Phys. Lett. B 105, 263 (1981), [Erratum: Phys. Lett. B 106, 513 (1981)].
- [422] R. C. Minehart, K. O. H. Ziock, R. Marshall, W. A. Stephens, M. Daum, B. Jost, and P. R. Kettle, Phys. Rev. Lett. 52, 804 (1984).
- [423] D. A. Bryman, R. Dubois, T. Numao, B. Olaniyi, A. Olin, M. S. Dixit, J. M. Poutissou, and J. A. Macdonald, Phys. Rev. Lett. 50, 1546 (1983).
- [424] G. Azuelos et al., Phys. Rev. Lett. 56, 2241 (1986).
- [425] D. I. Britton et al., Phys. Rev. Lett. 68, 3000 (1992).
- [426] A. Aguilar-Arevalo et al. (PIENU), Phys. Rev. Lett. 115, 071801 (2015), arXiv:1506.05845.
- [427] A. Aguilar-Arevalo et al. (PIENU), Phys. Rev. D 97, 072012 (2018), arXiv:1712.03275.
- [428] A. Aguilar-Arevalo et al. (PIENU), Phys. Lett. B 798, 134980 (2019), arXiv:1904.03269.
- [429] D. A. Bryman and R. Shrock, Phys. Rev. D 100, 053006 (2019), arXiv:1904.06787.

- [430] D. A. Bryman and R. Shrock, Phys. Rev. D 100, 073011 (2019), arXiv:1909.11198.
- [431] A. Aguilar-Arevalo et al. (PIENU), Phys. Rev. D 103, 052006 (2021), arXiv:2101.07381.
- [432] W. Altmannshofer, S. Gori, and D. J. Robinson, Phys. Rev. D 101, 075002 (2020), arXiv:1909.00005.
- [433] J. A. Dror, Phys. Rev. D 101, 095013 (2020), arXiv:2004.04750.
- [434] B. Batell, T. Han, D. McKeen, and B. Shams Es Haghi, Phys. Rev. D 97, 075016 (2018), arXiv:1709.07001.
- [435] C. J. Glaser et al. (PEN) (2018), arXiv:1812.00782.
- [436] D. Počanić, E. Frlež, and A. van der Schaaf, J. Phys. G 41, 114002 (2014), arXiv:1407.2865.
- [437] S. Gardner and G. Muralidhara, Phys. Lett. B 833, 137372 (2022), arXiv:2203.00033.
- [438] J. Wasem, Phys. Rev. C 85, 022501 (2012), arXiv:1108.1151.
- [439] W. C. Haxton and B. R. Holstein, Prog. Part. Nucl. Phys. 71, 185 (2013), arXiv:1303.4132.
- [440] M. R. Schindler and R. P. Springer, Prog. Part. Nucl. Phys. 72, 1 (2013), arXiv:1305.4190.
- [441] J. de Vries and U.-G. Meissner, Eur. Phys. J. A 49, 149 (2013).
- [442] X. Feng, F.-K. Guo, and C.-Y. Seng, Phys. Rev. Lett. 120, 181801 (2018).
- [443] A. Sen, M. Petschlies, N. Schlage, and C. Urbach, PoS LATTICE2021, 114 (2022), arXiv:2111.09025.
- [444] S.-L. Zhu, Phys. Rev. D 79, 116002 (2009).
- [445] S. Gardner and G. Muralidhara (2022), arXiv:2210.03567.
- [446] M. Viviani, A. Baroni, L. Girlanda, A. Kievsky, L. E. Marcucci, and R. Schiavilla, Phys. Rev. C 89, 064004 (2014).
- [447] C. H. Hyun, H.-C. Kim, and H.-J. Lee, Physics Letters B 768, 130 (2017), ISSN 0370-2693.
- [448] R. Lazauskas and Y.-H. Song, Phys. Rev. C 99, 054002 (2019).
- [449] I. B. Zel'dovich, Soviet Phys. JETP (1958).
- [450] V. V. Flambaum and I. B. Khriplovich, Sov. Phys. JETP 52, 835 (1980).
- [451] Y. Hao, P. Navrátil, E. B. Norrgard, M. Iliaš, E. Eliav, R. G. E. Timmermans, V. V. Flambaum, and A. Borschevsky, Phys. Rev. A 102, 052828 (2020), arXiv:2007.00922.
- [452] Y. Hao, M. Iliaš, E. Eliav, P. Schwerdtfeger, V. V. Flambaum, and A. Borschevsky, Phys. Rev. A 98, 032510 (2018).
- [453] A. Derevianko and S. G. Porsev, in Proceedings of The 3rd Workshop From Parity Violation to Hadronic Structure and more... (Springer, 2007), pp. 157–163.
- [454] D. DeMille, S. B. Cahn, D. Murphree, D. A. Rahmlow, and M. G. Kozlov, Phys. Rev. Lett. 100, 023003 (2008).
- [455] E. Altuntaş, J. Ammon, S. B. Cahn, and D. DeMille, Phys. Rev. Lett. 120, 142501 (2018).
- [456] V. Flambaum and I. Khriplovich, Physics Letters A 110, 121 (1985), ISSN 0375-9601.
- [457] Soldner, Torsten, Abele, Hartmut, Konrad, Gertrud, Märkisch, Bastian, Piegsa, Florian M., Schmidt, Ulrich, Theroine, Camille, and Sánchez, Pablo Torres, EPJ Web Conf. **219**, 10003 (2019).
- [458] Y.-H. Song, R. Lazauskas, and V. Gudkov, Phys. Rev. C 86, 045502 (2012).
- [459] C. R. Howell et al., J. Phys. G 49, 010502 (2022), arXiv:2012.10843.
- [460] E. B. Norrgard, D. S. Barker, S. Eckel, J. A. Fedchak, N. N. Klimov, and J. Scherschligt, Nat. Comm. Phys. 2, 77 (2019).
- [461] N. R. Hutzler, Quantum Science and Technology 5, 044011 (2020).
- [462] S.-M. Udrescu, I. Belosevic, D. DeMille, J. Dilling, R. Garcia Ruiz, N. Hutzler, J. Karthein, S. Moroch, and R. Ringle, Bulletin of the American Physical Society Fall 2022 Meeting of the APS Division of Nuclear Physics, JL.00001 (2022).
- [463] E. S. Shuman, J. F. Barry, and D. DeMille, Nature 467, 820 (2010).
- [464] N. B. Vilas, C. Hallas, L. Anderegg, P. Robichaud, A. Winnicki, D. Mitra, and J. M. Doyle, Nature 606, 70 (2022).
- [465] K. Tsigutkin, D. Dounas-Frazer, A. Family, J. E. Stalnaker, V. V. Yashchuk, and D. Budker, Phys. Rev. Lett. 103, 071601 (2009), 0906.3039.
- [466] G. Gwinner and L. Orozco, Quantum Science and Technology 7, 024001 (2022).
- [467] V. P. Gudkov, Phys. Lett. B 243, 319 (1990).
- [468] V. Gudkov and Y.-H. Song, Hyperfine Interact. 214, 105 (2013).
- [469] G. E. Mitchell, J. D. Bowman, and H. A. Weidenmuller, Rev. Mod. Phys. 71, 445 (1999).
- [470] A. L. Barabanov, Sov. J. Nucl. Phys. 44, 775 (1986).
- [471] V. E. Bunakov, Phys. Rev. Lett. 60, 2250 (1988).
- [472] V. P. Gudkov, Nucl.Phys. A524, 668 (1991).
- [473] P. R. Huffman, N. R. Roberson, W. S. Wilburn, C. R. Gould, D. G. Haase, C. D. Keith, B. W. Raichle, M. L. Seely, and J. R. Walston, Phys. Rev. C55, 2684 (1997), nucl-ex/9605005.

- [474] S. Tomsovic, M. B. Johnson, A. C. Hayes, and J. D. Bowman, Phys. Rev. C 62, 054607 (2000).
- [475] H. Yan and W. M. Snow, Phys. Rev. Lett. 110, 082003 (2013).
- [476] P. S. B. Dev et al. (2022), arXiv:2203.08771.
- [477] R. Alarcon et al., https://indico.phy.ornl.gov/event/209/attachments/851/2444/darklight. pdf.
- [478] K. S. Babu et al. (2020), arXiv:2010.02299.
- [479] J. L. Barrow et al. (2022), arXiv:2203.07059.
- [480] M. Baldo-Ceolin et al., Z. Phys. C 63, 409 (1994).
- [481] K. Abe et al. (Super-Kamiokande), Phys. Rev. D 103, 012008 (2021), arXiv:2012.02607.
- [482] B. Abi et al. (DUNE) (2020), arXiv:2002.03005.
- [483] J. L. Barrow, Ph.D. thesis, U. Tennessee, Knoxville (2021).
- [484] K. Andersen et al., https://europeanspallationsource.se/instruments/ capability-gap-analysis (2018).
- [485] H. Abele et al. (2022), arXiv:2211.10396.
- [486] F. Backman et al., JINST 17, P10046 (2022), arXiv:2209.09011.
- [487] B. O. Kerbikov, Phys. Lett. B 795, 362 (2019), arXiv:1810.02153.
- [488] V. V. Nesvizhevsky, V. Gudkov, K. V. Protasov, W. M. Snow, and A. Y. Voronin, Phys. Rev. Lett. 122, 221802 (2019), arXiv:1810.04988.
- [489] Z. Berezhiani and L. Bento, Phys. Rev. Lett. 96, 081801 (2006), hep-ph/0507031.
- [490] A. P. Serebrov et al., Nucl. Instrum. Meth. A **611**, 137 (2009), 0809.4902.
- [491] I. Altarev et al., Phys. Rev. D 80, 032003 (2009), 0905.4208.
- [492] C. Abel et al. (nEDM), Phys. Lett. B 812, 135993 (2021), arXiv:2009.11046.
- [493] P. Mohanmurthy, A. R. Young, J. A. Winger, and G. Zsigmond, Symmetry 14, 487 (2022), arXiv:2201.04191.
- [494] Z. Berezhiani and F. Nesti, Eur. Phys. J. C 72, 1974 (2012), arXiv:1203.1035.
- [495] Z. Berezhiani, R. Biondi, P. Geltenbort, I. Krasnoshchekova, V. Varlamov, A. Vassiljev, and O. Zherebtsov, Eur. Phys. J. C 78, 717 (2018), arXiv:1712.05761.
- [496] H. Almazán et al., Phys. Rev. Lett. 128, 061801 (2022), arXiv:2111.01519.
- [497] C. Stasser, G. Terwagne, J. Lamblin, O. Méplan, G. Pignol, B. Coupé, S. Kalcheva, S. Van Dyck, and M. Sarrazin, Eur. Phys. J. C 81, 17 (2021), arXiv:2007.11335.
- [498] Z. Berezhiani, M. Frost, Y. Kamyshkov, B. Rybolt, and L. Varriano, Phys. Rev. D 96, 035039 (2017), arXiv:1703.06735.
- [499] L. J. Broussard, K. M. Bailey, W. B. Bailey, J. Barrow, B. Chance, C. B. Crawford, L. Crow, L. Debeer-Schmitt, N. Fomin, M. Frost, et al., in *Proceedings of the 2017 Meeting of the APS Division of Particles and Fields*, *DPF 2017* (2017), arXiv:1710.00767.
- [500] L. Broussard, K. Bailey, W. Bailey, J. Barrow, K. Berry, A. Blose, C. Crawford, L. Debeer-Schmitt, M. Frost, A. Galindo-Uribarri, et al., EPJ Web of Conferences 219, 07002 (2019).
- [501] Z. G. Berezhiani, The European Physical Journal C 81, 33 (2021), ISSN 1434-6044, arXiv:2002.05609.
- [502] Y. Fukuda et al. (Super-Kamiokande), Phys. Rev. Lett. 81, 1562 (1998), hep-ex/9807003.
- [503] Q. R. Ahmad et al. (SNO), Phys. Rev. Lett. 87, 071301 (2001), nucl-ex/0106015.
- [504] Q. R. Ahmad et al. (SNO), Phys. Rev. Lett. **89**, 011301 (2002), nucl-ex/0204008.
- [505] K. Eguchi et al. (KamLAND), Phys. Rev. Lett. **90**, 021802 (2003), hep-ex/0212021.
- [506] B. Aharmim et al. (SNO), Phys. Rev. Lett. **101**, 111301 (2008), 0806.0989.
- [507] K. Abe et al. (T2K), Phys. Rev. Lett. **107**, 041801 (2011), arXiv:1106.2822.
- [508] F. P. An et al. (Daya Bay), Phys. Rev. Lett. 108, 171803 (2012), arXiv:1203.1669.
- [509] J. K. Ahn et al. (RENO), Phys. Rev. Lett. **108**, 191802 (2012), arXiv:1204.0626.
- [510] J. A. Formaggio, A. L. C. de Gouvêa, and R. G. H. Robertson, Phys. Rept. 914, 1 (2021), arXiv:2102.00594.
- [511] T. M. C. Abbott et al. (DES), Phys. Rev. D 105, 023520 (2022), arXiv:2105.13549.
- [512] R. X. Adhikari et al. (2022), arXiv:2209.11726.
- [513] P. A. Zyla et al. (Particle Data Group), PTEP 2020, 083C01 (2020).
- [514] F. Mantegazzini et al., Nucl. Instrum. Meth. A 1030, 166406 (2022), arXiv:2111.09945.
- [515] B. Alpert et al., Eur. Phys. J. C 75, 112 (2015), arXiv:1412.5060.
- [516] B. Monreal and J. A. Formaggio, Phys. Rev. D 80, 051301 (2009), 0904.2860.
- [517] D. M. Asner et al. (Project 8), Phys. Rev. Lett. 114, 162501 (2015), arXiv:1408.5362.
- [518] J. Kopp and A. Merle, Phys. Rev. C 81, 045501 (2010), 0911.3329.
- [519] N. D. Gamage, R. Bhandari, M. Horana Gamage, R. Sandler, and M. Redshaw, Hyperfine Interact. 240, 43

(2019).

- [520] M. Aker et al. (KATRIN), J. Phys. G 49, 100501 (2022), arXiv:2203.08059.
- [521] M. Brodeur et al. (2023), arXiv:2301.03975.
- [522] M. Aker et al. (KATRIN), Phys. Rev. Lett. 129, 011806 (2022), arXiv:2202.04587.
- [523] M. Aker et al. (KATRIN) (2022), arXiv:2207.06326.
- [524] L. Alvarez-Ruso et al. (NuSTEC), Prog. Part. Nucl. Phys. 100, 1 (2018), arXiv:1706.03621.
- [525] L. A. Ruso et al. (2022), arXiv:2203.09030.
- [526] J. A. Formaggio and G. P. Zeller, Rev. Mod. Phys. 84, 1307 (2012), arXiv:1305.7513.
- [527] J. M. Campbell et al., in 2022 Snowmass Summer Study (2022), arXiv:2203.11110.
- [528] A. M. Ankowski et al. (2022), arXiv:2203.06853.
- [529] H. Dai et al., Phys. Rev. C 99, 054608 (2019), arXiv:1810.10575.
- [530] H. Dai et al. (Jefferson Lab Hall A), Phys. Rev. C 98, 014617 (2018), arXiv:1803.01910.
- [531] J. Alcorn et al., Nucl. Instrum. Meth. A 522, 294 (2004).
- [532] A. M. Ankowski, A. Friedland, S. W. Li, O. Moreno, P. Schuster, N. Toro, and N. Tran, Phys. Rev. D 101, 053004 (2020), arXiv:1912.06140.
- [533] A. Mirizzi, I. Tamborra, H.-T. Janka, N. Saviano, K. Scholberg, R. Bollig, L. Hudepohl, and S. Chakraborty, Riv. Nuovo Cim. 39, 1 (2016), arXiv:1508.00785.
- [534] K. Scholberg, Ann. Rev. Nucl. Part. Sci. 62, 81 (2012), arXiv:1205.6003.
- [535] D. Akimov et al., in 2022 Snowmass Summer Study (2022), arXiv:2204.04575.
- [536] R. G. Van de Water et al., in 2022 Snowmass Summer Study (2022), arXiv:2204.01860.
- [537] P. An et al. (COHERENT) (2022), arXiv:2212.11295.
- [538] S. C. Hedges, Ph.D. thesis, Duke U. (2021).
- [539] V. Cirigliano et al. (2022), arXiv:2203.12169.
- [540] D. Akimov et al. (COHERENT), Phys. Rev. Lett. 129, 081801 (2022), arXiv:2110.07730.
- [541] M. Abdullah et al. (2022), arXiv:2203.07361.
- [542] O. Tomalak, P. Machado, V. Pandey, and R. Plestid, JHEP 02, 097 (2021), arXiv:2011.05960.
- [543] L. M. Sehgal, Phys. Lett. B 162, 370 (1985).
- [544] F. J. Botella, C. S. Lim, and W. J. Marciano, Phys. Rev. D 35, 896 (1987).
- [545] D. Akimov et al. (COHERENT), Phys. Rev. Lett. 130, 051803 (2023), arXiv:2110.11453.
- [546] A. A. Aguilar-Arevalo et al. (CCM) (2021), arXiv:2112.09979.
- [547] J. Asaadi et al., in 2022 Snowmass Summer Study (2022), arXiv:2209.02883.
- [548] P. S. Barbeau, Y. Efremenko, and K. Scholberg (2021), arXiv:2111.07033.
- [549] A. de Gouvêa et al. (2022), arXiv:2209.07983.
- [550] A. B. Balantekin et al. (2022), arXiv:2209.06872.
- [551] P. Huber et al., in 2022 Snowmass Summer Study (2022), arXiv:2211.08641.
- [552] N. Craig et al. (2022), arXiv:2211.05772.
- [553] S. Davidson, C. Pena-Garay, N. Rius, and A. Santamaria, JHEP 03, 011 (2003), hep-ph/0302093.
- [554] B. Abi et al. (DUNE), Eur. Phys. J. C 81, 322 (2021), arXiv:2008.12769.
- [555] P. Coloma, L. W. Koerner, I. M. Shoemaker, and J. Yu (2022), arXiv:2209.10362.
- [556] C. A. J. O'Hare, Phys. Rev. Lett. **127**, 251802 (2021), arXiv:2109.03116.
- [557] G. D. O. Gann, K. Zuber, D. Bemmerer, and A. Serenelli, Ann. Rev. Nucl. Part. Sci. 71, 491 (2021), arXiv:2107.08613.
- [558] C. Dvorkin et al. (2019), arXiv:1903.03689.
- [559] M. G. Betti et al. (PTOLEMY), JCAP 07, 047 (2019), arXiv:1902.05508.
- [560] Y. Koshio, G. D. Orebi Gann, E. O'Sullivan, and I. Tamborra (2022), arXiv:2209.04298.
- [561] F. Halzen and A. Kheirandish, IceCube and High-Energy Cosmic Neutrinos (2022), arXiv:2202.00694.
- [562] N. Kurahashi, K. Murase, and M. Santander, Ann. Rev. Nucl. Part. Sci. 72, 365 (2022), arXiv:2203.11936.
- [563] C. A. Argüelles et al., in 2022 Snowmass Summer Study (2022), arXiv:2203.10811.
- [564] S. Gariazzo, P. F. de Salas, and S. Pastor, JCAP 07, 014 (2019), arXiv:1905.11290.
- [565] Dark Matter in Compact Objects, Stars, and in Low Energy Experiments, INT Program INT-22-2b, https: //www.int.washington.edu/index.php/programs-and-workshops/22-2b.
- [566] V. Cirigliano et al., J. Phys. G: Nucl. Part. Phys. (2022), arXiv:2207.01085.
- [567] J. Engel and J. Menéndez, Rep. Prog. Phys. 80, 046301 (2017).
- [568] V. Cirigliano, W. Dekens, E. Mereghetti, and A. Walker-Loud, Phys. Rev. C 97, 065501 (2018), [Erratum: Phys.Rev.C 100, 019903 (2019)], arXiv:1710.01729.

- [569] V. Cirigliano, W. Dekens, J. De Vries, M. Graesser, E. Mereghetti, S. Pastore, M. Piarulli, U. Van Kolck, and R. Wiringa, Phys. Rev. C 100, 055504 (2019), arXiv:1907.11254.
- [570] G. Prezeau, M. Ramsey-Musolf, and P. Vogel, Phys. Rev. D68, 034016 (2003), hep-ph/0303205.
- [571] V. Cirigliano et al., JHEP 12, 082 (2017), arXiv:1708.09390.
- [572] W. Dekens and othersi, JHEP 06, 097 (2020), arXiv:2002.07182.
- [573] X. Feng et al., Phys. Rev. D 103, 034508 (2021), arXiv:2005.01956.
- [574] Z. Davoudi and S. V. Kadam, Phys. Rev. Lett. 126, 152003 (2021), arXiv:2012.02083.
- [575] V. Cirigliano et al., Phys. Rev. Lett. **126**, 172002 (2021).
- [576] V. Cirigliano et al., Journal of High Energy Physics 2021, 289 (2021).
- [577] R. Wirth, J. M. Yao, and H. Hergert, Phys. Rev. Lett. 127, 242502 (2021).
- [578] W. Buchmuller and D. Wyler, Nucl. Phys. B 268, 621 (1986).
- [579] B. Grzadkowski, M. Iskrzynski, M. Misiak, and J. Rosiek, JHEP 10, 085 (2010), arXiv:1008.4884.
- [580] S. Bertolini, A. Maiezza, and F. Nesti, Phys. Rev. D 101, 035036 (2020), arXiv:1911.09472.
- [581] W. Dekens, L. Andreoli, J. de Vries, E. Mereghetti, and F. Oosterhof, JHEP 11, 127 (2021), arXiv:2107.10852.
- [582] M. J. Ramsey-Musolf and J. C. Vasquez, Phys. Lett. B 815, 136136 (2021), arXiv:2012.02799.
- [583] W. Dekens, J. de Vries, M. Jung, and K. K. Vos, JHEP 01, 069 (2019), arXiv:1809.09114.
- [584] K. Fuyuto, M. Ramsey-Musolf, and T. Shen, Phys. Lett. B 788, 52 (2019), arXiv:1804.01137.
- [585] J. de Vries, P. Draper, K. Fuyuto, J. Kozaczuk, and B. Lillard, Phys. Rev. D 104, 055039 (2021), arXiv:2107.04046.
- [586] W. Dekens, J. de Vries, and S. Shain, JHEP 07, 014 (2022), arXiv:2203.11230.
- [587] G. 't Hooft, Phys. Rev. Lett. 37, 8 (1976).
- [588] G. 't Hooft, Phys. Rev. D 14, 3432 (1976), [Erratum: Phys.Rev.D 18, 2199 (1978)].
- [589] J. de Vries, E. Mereghetti, R. G. E. Timmermans, and U. van Kolck, Annals Phys. 338, 50 (2013), arXiv:1212.0990.
- [590] E. E. Jenkins, A. V. Manohar, and P. Stoffer, JHEP 03, 016 (2018), arXiv:1709.04486.
- [591] W. Dekens and P. Stoffer, JHEP 10, 197 (2019), arXiv:1908.05295.
- [592] M. Constantinou, M. Costa, R. Frezzotti, V. Lubicz, G. Martinelli, D. Meloni, H. Panagopoulos, and S. Simula, Phys. Rev. D 92, 034505 (2015), arXiv:1506.00361.
- [593] T. Bhattacharya, V. Cirigliano, R. Gupta, E. Mereghetti, and B. Yoon, Phys. Rev. D 92, 114026 (2015), arXiv:1502.07325.
- [594] V. Cirigliano, E. Mereghetti, and P. Stoffer, JHEP 09, 094 (2020), arXiv:2004.03576.
- [595] M. D. Rizik, C. J. Monahan, and A. Shindler (SymLat), Phys. Rev. D 102, 034509 (2020), arXiv:2005.04199.
- [596] J. Kim, T. Luu, M. D. Rizik, and A. Shindler (SymLat), Phys. Rev. D 104, 074516 (2021), arXiv:2106.07633.
- [597] E. Mereghetti, C. J. Monahan, M. D. Rizik, A. Shindler, and P. Stoffer, JHEP 04, 050 (2022), arXiv:2111.11449.
- [598] R. Gupta, Y.-C. Jang, B. Yoon, H.-W. Lin, V. Cirigliano, and T. Bhattacharya, Phys. Rev. D 98, 034503 (2018), arXiv:1806.09006.
- [599] J. de Vries, E. Mereghetti, C.-Y. Seng, and A. Walker-Loud, Phys. Lett. B 766, 254 (2017), arXiv:1612.01567.
- [600] Y.-H. Song, R. Lazauskas, and V. Gudkov, Phys. Rev. C 87, 015501 (2013), arXiv:1211.3762.
- [601] J. de Vries, A. Gnech, and S. Shain, Phys. Rev. C 103, L012501 (2021), arXiv:2007.04927.
- [602] Z. Yang, E. Mereghetti, L. Platter, M. R. Schindler, and J. Vanasse, Phys. Rev. C 104, 024002 (2021), arXiv:2011.01885.
- [603] I. Stetcu, C. P. Liu, J. L. Friar, A. C. Hayes, and P. Navratil, Phys. Lett. B 665, 168 (2008), 0804.3815.
- [604] J. de Vries, R. Higa, C. P. Liu, E. Mereghetti, I. Stetcu, R. G. E. Timmermans, and U. van Kolck, Phys. Rev. C 84, 065501 (2011), arXiv:1109.3604.
- [605] J. Bsaisou, J. de Vries, C. Hanhart, S. Liebig, U.-G. Meissner, D. Minossi, A. Nogga, and A. Wirzba, JHEP 03, 104 (2015), [Erratum: JHEP 05, 083 (2015)], arXiv:1411.5804.
- [606] N. Yamanaka and E. Hiyama, Phys. Rev. C 91, 054005 (2015), arXiv:1503.04446.
- [607] A. Gnech and M. Viviani, Phys. Rev. C 101, 024004 (2020), arXiv:1906.09021.
- [608] P. Froese and P. Navratil, Phys. Rev. C 104, 025502 (2021), arXiv:2103.06365.
- [609] N. Yamanaka, T. Yamada, and Y. Funaki, Phys. Rev. C 100, 055501 (2019), arXiv:1907.08091.
- [610] V. Cirigliano, C. Lee, M. J. Ramsey-Musolf, and S. Tulin, Phys. Rev. D 81, 103503 (2010), 0912.3523.
- [611] V. Cirigliano, C. Lee, and S. Tulin, Phys. Rev. D 84, 056006 (2011), arXiv:1106.0747.
- [612] Y. Du, A. Freitas, H. H. Patel, and M. J. Ramsey-Musolf, Phys. Rev. Lett. 126, 131801 (2021), arXiv:1912.08220.

- [613] C.-Y. Seng, D. Galviz, M. Gorchtein, and U.-G. Meißner, JHEP 07, 071 (2022), arXiv:2203.05217.
- [614] X. Feng, M. Gorchtein, L.-C. Jin, P.-X. Ma, and C.-Y. Seng, Phys. Rev. Lett. 124, 192002 (2020), arXiv:2003.09798.
- [615] J.-S. Yoo, T. Bhattacharya, R. Gupta, S. Mondal, and B. Yoon (2022), arXiv:2212.12830.
- [616] C.-Y. Seng and U.-G. Meißner, Phys. Rev. Lett. 122, 211802 (2019), arXiv:1903.07969.
- [617] M. G. Endres, A. Shindler, B. C. Tiburzi, and A. Walker-Loud, Phys. Rev. Lett. 117, 072002 (2016), arXiv:1507.08916.
- [618] H. Hergert, Frontiers in Physics 8 (2020), ISSN 2296-424X.
- [619] A. Walker-Loud (2022), Electroweak Precision Physics from Beta Decays to the Z Pole Workshop, https://indico.mitp.uni-mainz.de/event/272/contributions/4110/attachments/3026/ 3613/Walker-Loud_MITP.pdf.
- [620] M. Gorchtein and C.-Y. Seng, JHEP 10, 053 (2021), arXiv:2106.09185.
- [621] O. Tomalak (2023), arXiv:2302.00642.
- [622] Topical Collaboration on Nuclear Theory for New Physics, https://a51.lbl.gov/~ntnp/TC/.
- [623] 2022 NSAC Long-Range Plan Town Hall Meeting on Hot and Cold QCD, https://indico.mit.edu/ event/538/.
- [624] 2022 NSAC Long-Range Plan Town Hall Meeting on Nuclear Structure, Reactions and Astrophysics, https://indico.phy.anl.gov/event/22/.
- [625] Network for Neutrinos, Nuclear Astrophysics, and Symmetries (N3AS), https://n3as.berkeley.edu/.
- [626] LRP FSNN: 2022 White Papers, https://indico.phy.ornl.gov/event/209/page/99-white-papers.
- [627] FRIB Theory Alliance, https://fribtheoryalliance.org/.
- [628] Neutrino Theory Network, https://ntn.fnal.gov/.
- [629] NsF ADVANCE Program, https://www.nsf.gov/crssprgm/advance/".
- [630] Reaching a New Energy Sciences Workforce (RENEW), https://science.osti.gov/Initiatives/ RENEW.
- [631] DNP Allies Program, https://engage.aps.org/dnp/programs/allies-program1.
- [632] C. Bonifazi, J. S. Bonilla, M. C. Chen, Y. H. Lin, K. A. Assamagan, E. V. Hansen, S. Meehan, and E. Smith (2022), arXiv:2209.12377.
- [633] Multimessenger Diversity Network, https://astromdn.github.io/.
- [634] H. Hergert, Frontiers in Physics 8, 379 (2020), ISSN 2296-424X.
- [635] A. Walker-Loud et al., PoS CD2018, 020 (2020), arXiv:1912.08321.
- [636] A. Boehnlein, M. Diefenthaler, N. Sato, M. Schram, V. Ziegler, C. Fanelli, M. Hjorth-Jensen, T. Horn, M. P. Kuchera, D. Lee, et al., Rev. Mod. Phys. 94, 031003 (2022).
- [637] P. Shanahan et al. (2022), arXiv:2209.07559.
- [638] S. J. Brice, Other thesis, Oxford U. (1996).
- [639] A. Li, Z. Fu, C. Grant, H. Ozaki, I. Shimizu, H. Song, A. Takeuchi, and L. A. Winslow, Phys. Rev. C 107, 014323 (2023).
- [640] M. Agostini et al., The European Physical Journal C 73, 2583 (2013).
- [641] G. Anton, I. Badhrees, P. Barbeau, D. Beck, V. Belov, T. Bhatta, M. Breidenbach, T. Brunner, G. Cao, W. Cen, et al., Physical review letters **123**, 161802 (2019).
- [642] I. J. Arnquist et al. (Majorana Collaboration), Phys. Rev. C 107, 014321 (2023).
- [643] M. Kekic et al., Journal of High Energy Physics 2021, 189 (2021).
- [644] G. Fantini et al., Journal of Low Temperature Physics 209, 1024 (2022).
- [645] A. A. Esfahani, S. Böser, N. Buzinsky, R. Cervantes, C. Claessens, L. de Viveiros, M. Fertl, J. A. Formaggio, L. Gladstone, M. Guigue, et al., New Journal of Physics 22, 033004 (2020).
- [646] J. K. Ng, K. S. Khaw, C. Chen, Y. Zeng, and T. Hu, in APS April Meeting Abstracts (2022), vol. 2022 of APS Meeting Abstracts, p. G08.007.
- [647] C. Karl, P. Eller, and S. Mertens, The European Physical Journal C 82, 439 (2022).
- [648] A. G. Baydin, K. Cranmer, P. de Castro Manzano, C. Delaere, D. Derkach, J. Donini, T. Dorigo, A. Giammanco, J. Kieseler, L. Layer, et al., Nuclear Physics News 31, 25 (2021), https://doi.org/10.1080/10619127.2021.1881364.
- [649] R. D. Vita (2019), 2019 Joint HSF/OSGWLCG Workshop (HOW 2019).
- [650] V. Cirigliano et al., JHEP 05, 289 (2021), arXiv:2102.03371.
- [651] D. Boyda et al., in 2022 Snowmass Summer Study (2022), arXiv:2202.05838.
- [652] Z. Davoudi et al., in 2022 Snowmass Summer Study (2022), arXiv:2209.10758.

- [653] M. Constantinou et al. (2022), arXiv:2202.07193.
- [654] A. F. Psaros, X. Meng, Z. Zou, L. Guo, and G. E. Karniadakis, Journal of Computational Physics p. 111902 (2023).
- [655] A. Bogatskiy et al., in 2022 Snowmass Summer Study (2022), arXiv:2203.06153.
- [656] E. Bonilla, P. Giuliani, K. Godbey, and D. Lee, Phys. Rev. C 106, 054322 (2022).
- [657] J. A. Melendez, C. Drischler, R. J. Furnstahl, A. J. Garcia, and X. Zhang, Journal of Physics G: Nuclear and Particle Physics **49**, 102001 (2022).
- [658] D. Beck et al. (2023), arXiv:2303.00113.
- [659] S. Agostinelli et al. (GEANT4), Nucl. Instrum. Meth. A 506, 250 (2003).
- [660] C. Ahdida et al., Front. in Phys. 9, 788253 (2022).
- [661] J. Tepel, Computer Physics Communications 33, 129 (1984), ISSN 0010-4655.
- [662] National Nuclear Data Center, https://www.nndc.bnl.gov/.
- [663] A. J. M. Plompen et al., Eur. Phys. J. A 56, 181 (2020).
- [664] M. B. Chadwick et al., Nucl. Data Sheets 112, 2887 (2011).
- [665] A. J. Koning, D. Rochman, J. C. Sublet, N. Dzysiuk, M. Fleming, and S. van der Marck, Nucl. Data Sheets 155, 1 (2019).
- [666] R. A. Arndt, W. J. Briscoe, I. I. Strakovsky, and R. L. Workman, Phys. Rev. C 76, 025209 (2007), 0706.2195.
- [667] N. Auerbach, V. V. Flambaum, and V. Spevak, Phys. Rev. Lett. 76, 4316 (1996).
- [668] J. Dobaczewski and J. Engel, Phys. Rev. Lett. 94, 232502 (2005).
- [669] S. M. Udrescu et al., Phys. Rev. Lett. 127, 033001 (2021).
- [670] P. Yu and N. R. Hutzler, Phys. Rev. Lett. 126, 023003 (2021).
- [671] S. Ban, J. Dobaczewski, J. Engel, and A. Shukla, Phys. Rev. C 82, 015501 (2010).
- [672] A. Avasthi et al., Phys. Rev. D 104, 112007 (2021).
- [673] K. Eguchi et al. (KamLAND Collaboration), Phys. Rev. Lett. 90, 021802 (2003).
- [674] K. Eguchi et al. (KamLAND Collaboration), Phys. Rev. Lett. 92, 071301 (2004).
- [675] T. Araki et al. (KamLAND Collaboration), Phys. Rev. Lett. 94, 081801 (2005).
- [676] F. P. An et al. (Daya Bay Collaboration), Phys. Rev. Lett. 116, 061801 (2016).
- [677] Y. Abe et al. (Double Chooz Collaboration), Phys. Rev. Lett. 108, 131801 (2012).
- [678] J. H. Choi et al. (RENO Collaboration), Phys. Rev. Lett. 116, 211801 (2016).
- [679] P. Huber, Phys. Rev. C 84, 024617 (2011).
- [680] T. A. Mueller, D. Lhuillier, M. Fallot, A. Letourneau, S. Cormon, M. Fechner, L. Giot, T. Lasserre, J. Martino, G. Mention, et al., Phys. Rev. C 83, 054615 (2011).
- [681] A. A. Sonzogni, M. Nino, and E. A. McCutchan, Phys. Rev. C 98, 014323 (2018).
- [682] M. Andriamirado et al. (PROSPECT Collaboration), Journal of Physics G: Nuclear and Particle Physics **49**, 070501 (2022).
- [683] H. Almazán et al., Journal of Physics G: Nuclear and Particle Physics 48, 075107 (2021).
- [684] T. Ito, https://indico.phy.ornl.gov/event/209/contributions/1124/attachments/930/2539/ FSNN_Facilities.pdf.
- [685] J. Heise, https://indico.phy.ornl.gov/event/209/attachments/851/2451/surf.pdf.
- [686] J. Formaggio, https://indico.phy.ornl.gov/event/209/contributions/1111/attachments/942/ 2567/NSAC_Town_Hall_FS_Quantum_Formaggio.pdf.
- [687] K. Kumar and others (The MOLLER and SoLID Collaborations), https://indico.phy.ornl.gov/event/ 209/attachments/851/2465/jlab.pdf.
- [688] J. Singh, https://indico.phy.ornl.gov/event/209/contributions/1105/attachments/934/ 2545/2022-12-13-invited-EDM-FSNN-Town-Hall-JTS.pdf.
- [689] H. P. Mumm, https://indico.phy.ornl.gov/event/209/contributions/1125/attachments/937/ 2552/Small_Experiment_Needs_V3.pdf.
- [690] Association for Research at University Nuclear Accelerators, https://aruna.physics.fsu.edu/.
- [691] Z. Wang et al., https://indico.phy.ornl.gov/event/209/attachments/851/2447/ neutron-interferometry.pdf.